INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality $6^{\circ} \times 9^{\circ}$ black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.

ProQuest Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600

UMI®

ORGANIZATIONAL USE AND DIFFUSION OF INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY IN CHINA AND AN INTERNATIONAL COMPARATIVE ASSESSMENT

A Dissertation

Presented for the

Doctor of Philosophy

Degree

The University of Memphis

En Mao

August 2001

UMI Number: 3017964

Copyright 2001 by Mao, En

All rights reserved.

UMI®

UMI Microform 3017964

Copyright 2001 by Bell & Howell Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. This microform edition is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.

> Bell & Howell Information and Learning Company 300 North Zeeb Road P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346

Copyright © 2001 En Mao

All rights reserved

To the Graduate Council:

I am submitting herewith a dissertation written by En Mao entitled "Organizational Use and Diffusion of Information Technology in China and an International Comparative Assessment." I have examined the final copy of this dissertation for form and content and recommend that it be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy with a major in Business Administration and a concentration in Management Information Systems and Decision Sciences.

Mark Gillenson, Ph.D. Major Professor

We have read this dissertation and recommend its acceptance:

nes Lukawitz, Pl

(Lalia Frankt

Prashant C. Palvia, Ph.D.

ames Van Scotter, Ph.D. لوک

Accepted for the Council: Dianne D. Horgan, Ph.D.

Interim Dean of The Graduate School

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my gratitude for the immense guidance and assistance of Dr. Dan Sherrell and my dissertation committee.

Also, my colleagues, thank you for going out of your way to help me along this journey.

Last and most important, this is for my family. I have received more than just love from them. Acky, this is for all the support, understanding, and strength your have given me. My sister and brother-in-law, Qian and Bo, thank you for the hard work you have put into this. My brother, Dong, thank you for being there when I needed your help. My father and mother, thank you for your unconditional love and for having never doubted me. My father, I will always treasure the memories of those hot summer days when we worked together on this. I couldn't have done this without you. My mother, you made this happen!

For me, a new journey has begun.

ABSTRACT

Mao, En. Ph.D. The University of Memphis. August, 2001. Organizational Use and Diffusion of Information Technology in China and an International Comparative Assessment. Major Professor: Mark Gillenson, Ph.D.

The research on determinants of technology acceptance is important and provides practical insights into how organizations can manage information technology (IT) diffusion. However, great inconsistencies in the findings of the determinants of IT acceptance and use plaque the existing literature in this area. While the established innovation diffusion theory has always stated that different adopters exist in the innovation diffusion process and some recent studies have urged the researcher to distinguish between users and potential adopters, the majority of the studies in the IT area fail to make that distinction. We believe that one major cause of the inconsistencies in the literature is the failure to recognize different adopter groups. The primary purposes of this study are to demonstrate that there are different types of adopters and more importantly, that the variable relationships pertinent to technology acceptance are different across the adopter groups. Two research models and 21 hypotheses are developed based on the review of relevant literature to investigate the differences among three adopter groups: earlier, later, and potential adopters. We test the hypotheses and models with data collected in China, an increasingly important player in the global market and a significant trading partner of the United States. Fourteen hypotheses are supported. The results show that the adopters differ from each other along several dimensions: the behavioral beliefs that shape attitude, the effect of attitude and subjective norm on behavioral intention, and the degree of innovativeness. The comparisons of the findings of this study to others suggest that cultural factors, such as individualism are relevant in IT acceptance research. The theoretical and practical implications of the findings are discussed.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	xii
LIST OF FIGURES	xiv
	1
	8
Diffusion	9
Innovation Diffusion Theory	10
Innovativeness: Adopter Types	
Earlier adopter	13
Innovation Attributes	13
Compatibility	14
Relative Advantage	15
Complexity	15
Additional Variables	16
Theory of Reasoned Action (TRA)	19
Subjective Measures versus Objective Measures	20
Behavioral Beliefs versus Perceptions of Innovation	21
Technology Acceptance Model (TAM)	23
Theory of Planned Behavior	
Individual Innovation-Decision Process	
The Concept of Stage	
Global IT Diffusion Studies	39

Technological Status	40
Political Factors	41
Economic Factor	41
Culture	42
Power Distance	43
Uncertainty Avoidance	44
Individualism	44
Masculinity	
CONVERGING THE RESEARCH STREAMS - RESEARCH MODELS	46
Individual-Level Models (Models 1 and 2)	49
Behavioral Beliefs	50
Attitude Toward Behavior	51
Subjective Norm and Normative Beliefs	53
Behavioral Intention	53
Actual Behavior	54
Additional Variable: Individual Innovativeness	54
Additional Variable: Perceived Voluntariness	55
Organizational-Level Model (Model 3)	56
Location/Region	57
Ownership	58
Size	58
Industry	59
Research Questions	59

Model Questions	60
Descriptive Questions	60
Relationship Questions	62
Hypotheses	65
RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	
Scale Development	76
Operationalization of the Scales	76
Karahanna et al. 1999	77
Operationalization of the Independent Variables	
Perceived Usefulness/Relative Advantage (PU)	
Ease of Use/Complexity (EOU)	79
Compatibility (COM)	79
Trialability (TR)	79
Visibility	80
Result Demonstrability (RD)	80
Image	80
Normative Beliefs about Using IT (NB)	81
Individual Innovativeness (II)	81
Voluntariness (Vol)	
Operationalization of the Mediating/Dependent Variables	82
Attitude (A)	82
Subjective norm (SN)	82
Behavioral Intention (BI)	82

•

Operationalization of the Dependent Variable	
Instrument Translation	83
Pre-test	84
Pilot Test	85
Results	88
Field Study	
Companies Surveyed	
Sample Demographics	
Percentage	100
DATA ANALYSIS	101
Data Recording and Missing Values	101
Data Subsets	103
Outliers	105
Scale Reliability	107
Model Testing	114
Fit Criteria	115
Measurement Model Testing	116
Earlier Adopter	
Later Adopter	
Potential Adopter	
Equivalency Assessment	120
Structural Model Testing	121
Earlier Adopter	

Later Adopter	122
Potential Adopter	124
Hypotheses Testing	127
Descriptive Questions 1 and 2	150
Organizational-Level Model Assessment	151
Overall Diffusion	152
Analysis by Variables	153
Region/Location	153
Ownership	155
Size	157
Industry	158
Training/Support	159
DATA ANALYSIS RESULTS	161
DISCUSSIONS	166
Research Models	166
Usage	168
Hypotheses	171
Differences in the Determinants of Behavioral Intention	172
Differences in the Effects of Perceived Usefulness and Ease of Use	174
Differences in Innovativeness	176
Differences in the Effect of Perceived Voluntariness	177
Differences in the Determinants of Attitude	178
Organizational Model Discussions	182

External Vali	dity	183
Comparisons	s of Results to Existing Cross-Cultural IT Diffusion Studies	183
CONCLUSION		191
Key Findings	5	192
Implications	for Theory	195
Implications	for Practice	198
Future Rese	arch	199
REFERENCES	8	202
Appendix A	E-Mail User Questionnaire Items	213
Appendix B	Final Instrument in Chinese	216
Appendix C	List of Items in the Final Instrument - E-Mail User Section	228
Appendix D	List of Items and Abbreviations used in the Final Analysis	230
Appendix E	Phi Matrices	232
Appendix F	Factor Loadings by Adopter Group	234

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Innovation Diffusion Theory Adopter Distrbution	12
Table 2. Adopter Group Classification	13
Table 3. TAM Study Results	30
Table 4. TAM-Based Studies Conducted in other Countries	40
Table 5. Research Models	. 48
Table 6. Perceived Innovation Attributes (Behavioral Beliefs)	. 52
Table 7. Hypothesis Testing Methods and Data Sets	. 72
Table 8. Existing Scales and Their Reliability.	. 77
Table 9. Pilot Test Cronbach's Reliability Coefficients	. 87
Table 10. Field Survey Questionnaires	. 94
Table 11. Company Breakdown by Ownership and Number of Employees	. 99
Table 12. Sample Demographics	100
Table 13. Types of Respondent in the Sample	103
Table 14. Adopter Sample Classification	104
Table 15. Reliability Coefficients: Overall, Earlier, Later, and Potential Adopt	ters
	108
Table 16. Descriptive Statistics: Mean, Standard Deviation, and Correlations	110
Table 17. Model Fit Statistics	116
Table 18. Summary of Measurement Model Fit Statistics	120
Table 19. Summary of Structural Model Fit Statistics	126
Table 20. Summary of Path Coefficients	127
Table 21. Multi-Group Analysis for Hypothesis 1	131

•

Table 22.	Multi-Group Analysis for Hypothesis 2	133
Table 23.	Multi-Group Analysis for Hypothesis 3	134
Table 24.	Multi-Group Analysis for Hypothesis 4	135
Table 25.	Multi-Group Analysis for Hypothesis 5	136
Table 26.	Multi-Group Analysis for Hypothesis 6	138
Table 27.	Multi-Group Analysis for Hypothesis 7	139
Table 28.	Multi-Group Analysis for Hypothesis 8	140
Table 29.	Multi-Group Analysis for Hypothesis 9	142
Table 30.	Multi-Group Analysis for Hypothesis 10	143
Table 31.	Multi-Group Analysis for Hypothesis 11	144
Table 32.	Multi-Group Analysis for Hypothesis 12	146
Table 33.	Number of Companies Surveyed and the Rate of Diffusion	155
Table 34.	Summary of Hypothesis Testing Results	163
Table 35.	Predictive Power (R ²)	168
Table 36.	Significant Behavioral Beliefs	178
Table 37.	Culture Dimensions and Their Values of Selected Countries	185
Table 38.	Summary of Results in Cross-Cultural IT Adoption Studies	189

xiii

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Adopter Categorization (Rogers 1983, p. 247)11
Figure 2. Diffusion Curves
Figure 3. Theory of Reasoned Action 20
Figure 4. Technology Acceptance Model24
Figure 5. Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) (Ajzen 1991)
Figure 6. A Decomposed Theory of Planned Behavior Model
Figure 7. Model 1 - Potential IT Adopter Research Model 48
Figure 8. Model 2 - IT User Research Model 49
Figure 9. Organizational IT Diffusion Research Model 57
Figure 10. Questions Asked to Determine Type of Questionnaire to Use
Figure 11. Standardized Path Coefficients for the Earlier Adopters 123
Figure 12. Standardized Path Coefficients for the Later Adopters
Figure 13. Standardized Path Coefficients for the Potential Adopters 126
Figure 14. Diffusion Curve - All Users
Figure 15. Diffusion Curves by Region
Figure 16. Diffusion Curves by Ownership156
Figure 17. Diffusion Curves: Solely-Owned vs. Diversified Public Companies 157
Figure 18. Diffusion Curves: Small/Medium (SME) and Large Enterprises (LE
Figure 19. Diffusion Curves by Industry

INTRODUCTION

Organizations in the information age no longer question the value of information technology (IT). Companies invest millions of dollars in information technology to ensure industry leadership, maintain competitiveness, or simply comply with industry standards. The question that many IT researchers attempt to answer is how the systems and technologies being implemented contribute to firms' overall performances. While it is difficult to directly measure the IT contribution because of its hidden and intangible benefits, researchers have developed the concept of system success. Information systems success is a complex and multifaceted construct comprised of six related dimensions: system and information quality, user satisfaction, individual and organizational impacts, and system use (DeLone and McLean 1992). The outcome measures range from subjective attitudinal measures (e.g., user satisfaction) to objective behavioral measures (e.g., system use) (Agarwal and Prasad 1997). Among the measures, usage is the most important one (Agarwal and Prasad 1997). It is a prerequisite to realizing any end-user systems' benefit. IT usage can be studied as a phase of IT diffusion, defined as "the process by which an innovation is communicated through certain channels over time among the members of a social system" (Rogers 1995, p. 5). IT adoption, preceding IT usage, is another phase of IT diffusion; adoption occurs when an individual decides to use an IT.

Now a more fundamental question is to what extent employees use the technological innovations deemed so beneficial. If a well-developed system with

high quality is not used, it is ineffective. Naturally, the question anyone can ask is why some employees use technology more than others. From a researcher's point of view, we translate this last question into what variables determine and explain IT adoption and usage.

An understanding of the determinants of IT innovation adoption and usage is important. First, systems development efforts can be focused on issues that affect usage. Second, with such knowledge, IT managers can predict usage of software or systems by evaluating known determinants on a trial basis that would minimize underutilization risks. Third, and most important, management can use such knowledge to promote usage.

In the past three decades, IS usage, diffusion, implementation, and adoption issues have been extensively studied. In contrast to earlier studies, which lack theoretical foundation, more recent studies focus on developing theory-based models which are tested, validated, and compared. Among the models proposed and studied, the technology acceptance model (TAM, Davis 1986, 1989), a model based on the Theory of Reasoned Action, is a widely accepted IT usage model. In the TAM model, "perceived usefulness" and "perceived ease of use" are hypothesized as key determinants of usage through two mediating variables, user attitude and intention. The model's parsimony is well received. The TAM model has been replicated and tested extensively (e.g., Adams et al. 1992; Chau 1996; Chin and Todd 1995; Davis and Venkatesh 1995; Segars and Grover

1993; Taylor and Todd 1995b) and the main constructs of the model are found to be reliable and valid. In addition, many studies proposed extensions and modifications (e.g., adding constructs and variables) to TAM based on the theory of reasoned action (TRA, Ajzen and Fishbein 1980; Fishbein and Ajzen 1975), the theory of planned action (TPA, Ajzen and Madden 1986), innovation diffusion theory (Rogers 1995), learning theory (Bandura 1977), stage theory (Cooper and Zmud 1990), and empirical results. Such studies have produced a set of equivocal results on some variable relationships. For example, perceived ease of use was found to be insignificant in some studies (e.g., Adams et al. 1992; Bagozzi et al. 1992; Igbaria et al. 1995); the effect of social norm variables on behavioral intention, which are tested in Davis' original study and many recent studies (e.g., Bagozzi 1992; Davis et al. 1989; Venkatesh and Davis 2000), was inconsistent in the literature.

One critical aspect that is often ignored in the IT adoption and acceptance literature is the distinction of the type of adopters. Innovation diffusion theory has long asserted the importance of dividing the adopters into appropriate groups (Rogers 1995). "Innovativeness," which refers to the likeliness that a person "is relatively earlier in adopting" an innovation (Rogers, 1983) has been used in innovation diffusion studies. Adopters, depending on how early they adopt an innovation, differ in characteristics and attitude (Rogers 1995). Yet, few IT studies took adopter types into account (Brancheau and Wetherbe 1990; Karahanna et al. 1999). In studies where adopter types are considered, there is strong evidence to show that adopters differ in characteristics (Brancheau and Wetherbe 1990) and determinants of attitude and behavioral intention (Karahanna et al. 1999). Currently, the study of attitudinal variable differences is limited to those between users and potential adopters and we are not aware of studies that distinguish between different types of users.

In addition, most of the existing studies were conducted in North America (the United States and Canada). When TAM is tested in other countries, for example, Switzerland, (Straub et al. 1997), Japan (Straub 1994; Straub et al. 1997), Arabic countries (Rose and Straub 1998), and Hong Kong (Hu et al. 1999), the results vary on TAM's predictive power. Culture is suggested to play an important role in explaining different patterns in IT usage (Straub 1994; Straub et al. 1997). However, existing studies have not established clear relationships between cultural variables and IT adoption and usage determinants.

There is a great motivation to study IT diffusion, usage, and adoption in different countries. In responding to globalization initiatives, companies in the United States are penetrating foreign countries and regions, such as large emerging economies (e.g., China, India, and Brazil). Information technology, considered a standard infrastructure in most American companies is not readily accepted in many countries. Also, in general, there is a lack of understanding concerning the management of information technology. IS research is mainly applied and

conceptual in Europe and Asia (Evaristo et al. 2000) and the amount of empirical research performed there is very small when compared with the United States.

In this study, we conduct a cross-sectional study of IT Diffusion in China, one of the largest trading partners of the United States. There are advantages of conducting studies in China. First, IT diffusion in China is a recent and rapid event. In 1996, China became the second largest personal computer market in Asia (Arnold 1997) and about two years after that it became the largest emerging PC market in the world (Einhorn 1990). Major development and use of information technology started in 1993 and China is yet to approach IT maturity, unlike the western realm where companies are mature adopters of IT.

Few existing studies make distinctions between IT adoption and usage (Karahanna et al. 1999), which are two different stages along the diffusion process. Thus, by making the critical distinction between users and adopters, a study of IT adoption and usage in China has the potential to contribute to our understanding of IT diffusion in a different culture as well as provide additional knowledge about IT adoption and usage. Further, the distinction between various types of users will give us a better and more accurate understanding of the determinants of adoption attitude and behavioral intention.

Moreover, findings from such study can be valuable not only to Chinese IT managers but also foreign corporations investing in China, a market that has

attracted investment from large U.S. telecommunications and software corporations such as Sprint, Microsoft, and MCI. Currently, many U.S. and other multinational companies are increasingly hiring local employees who are required to use information technology. As they expand their operations in China, the multinationals are facing the challenge of managing and training local employees to use the IT they developed in their home countries. With skilled labor resources scarce, companies need to be knowledgeable about how to effectively diffuse the technology at the individual level specifically, because some of the known western IT management practices may be ineffective when applied in a distinctively different culture such as China. On the other hand, the Chinese managers can benefit even more from this study. Management practices, in particular IT training and support, are greatly under appreciated by Chinese organizations. This study can potentially provide guidance in reducing the skepticism in the value of IT management by pointing out specific areas that affect IT diffusion. In addition, findings from this study may also benefit IT managers in other countries, such as Brazil, who are in the similar developmental environments.

Overall, this study has several goals. We intend to demonstrate that various types of adopters differ in the determinants of attitude and intention. While the present study may not provide conclusive results of the determinants of attitude and intention, it is a step closer to reaching the understanding of the differences between different types of IT adopters. Next, we plan to develop and test IT

adoption and use models in a different culture, China. In addition, through comparing the results of this research with existing studies conducted in other cultures, we aim to learn more about the differences of IT adoption and usage across different groups of IT end-users as well as across cultures.

We review relevant theories and significant prior studies. Based on the literature review, three research models are proposed for this research. The first two models are designed to study information technology adoption and usage among individual employees. The purpose of using two models is to distinguish two types of diffusion behaviors: adoption and use. One model is designed to study potential IT adopters and the other one IT users. Current research has reliable instruments to measure IT usage and its determinants; however, stages of diffusion or implementation are not explicitly treated in the majority of the studies. With separate models, we are able to fulfill the objective of advancing and contributing to the learning of how potential information technology adopters and users differ in the IT diffusion process. The third model, an organizational level model, is developed to investigate the factors that affect IT diffusion at a higher level. Following the discussion of the models, research questions and hypotheses are introduced. Then the research methodology is presented. We test the hypotheses and models with data collected from 30 Chinese companies. Finally, the results of the analyses are presented and discussed.

LITERATURE REVIEW

IT diffusion is a branch of innovation diffusion research. There is a significant amount of work in this area resulting in strong concepts and paradigms such as innovation attributes, individual innovativeness, opinion leadership, and rate of diffusion (Rogers 1995). The body of innovation diffusion research started to emerge in the early 20th century. Every behavioral science discipline is involved in innovation diffusion research in some form or another. Some of the major disciplines are anthropology, early sociology, rural sociology, education, public health and medical sociology, communication, marketing, geography, general sociology, and general economics.

Empirical innovation diffusion research was pioneered by Ryan and Cross (1943) in their study of diffusion of hybrid seed corn in Iowa in the area of rural sociology research. Prior to that, many conceptual studies had been conducted. According to Rogers (1995), there were approximately 4,000 published papers in the field of diffusion research by 1995. However, the study of information technology diffusion is more recent, beginning approximately two decades ago. The early studies in IT diffusion were limited in scope and lacked strong theoretical foundations. In addition, many ignored the foundations established in other diffusion traditions. Fragmented conceptual and empirical research plagued the IT diffusion area.

However, the recent trend is more encouraging. It is marked by the development of the technology acceptance model (TAM) (Davis 1989). An increasing number of researchers are drawn to this area. Many are moving beyond the initial conceptual and commentary research and searching for valid and reliable measures based on stronger theoretical grounds. In the next several sections, we review some of the key theoretical elements and foundations of IT diffusion First, diffusion is defined. Then several theories and research research. traditions (theory of reasoned action (TRA), technology acceptance model (TAM), theory of planned behavior (TPB), and stage theory) are reviewed and critiqued.

Diffusion

Diffusion is a complex research subject. In order to understand diffusion, we need to understand its elements. An earlier definition of IT diffusion by Sullivan states that it is "the degree to which technology has been disseminated or scattered throughout the company" (1985, p. 6). While this definition is practical, it ignores some key elements of diffusion. A more vigorous and comprehensive definition given by Rogers describes diffusion as "the process by which an innovation is communicated through certain channels over time among the members of a social system" (1995, p. 5). Four elements can be identified from this definition of diffusion: innovation, communication channels, time, and the social system. Innovation is defined as "an idea, practice, or object that is perceived as new by an individual or another unit of adoption" (Rogers 1983,

p.11). In this study, information technology is treated as an innovation (Karahanna et al. 1999). Therefore, relevant innovation diffusion theories can be extended to IT diffusion. Communication channels, the vehicle of diffusion, play "different roles at various stages in the innovation-decision process" (Rogers 1995, p. XVII). Diffusion research has found that interpersonal word-of-mouth channels have significant impact on an initial adoption decision. Time is a crucial dimension of a diffusion study. When it is plotted against the number of adopters at a given time, an S-shaped curve is constructed. At an aggregate level (e.g., organizational level), a diffusion curve can indicate the diffusion rate, defined as how fast an innovation is diffused. A social system may be defined as "a set of interrelated units that are engaged in joint problem-solving to accomplish a common goal" (Rogers 1995, p. 23). In this study, the social system is the organization, which consists of individual employees that are users or potential adopters of information technology, the innovation.

Innovation Diffusion Theory

In this section, relevant theories and concepts from innovation diffusion literature are reviewed. Two major areas of established concepts and paradigms developed in innovation diffusion research are discussed below: innovativeness and innovation attributes.

Innovativeness: Adopter Types

Innovation diffusion theory presents a framework used to divide the adopters based on innovativeness which by definition refers to the likelihood that a person "is relatively earlier in adopting" an innovation (Rogers, 1983). The framework, widely applied in innovation diffusion research, is based on the notion that the adopter distributions "follow a bell-shaped curve over time and approach normality" (see Figure 1, Rogers 1983, p. 245). This evidence is supported in numerous disciplines and by a large number of studies since late 1940s (Rogers 1983). The logistic function of diffusion is also evidenced in the IT adoption studies (e.g., Brancheau and Wetherbe 1990). The framework shows that the adopters can be divided into five classifications based on when the users adopt an innovation: innovator, early adopter, early majority, late majority, and laggards. Table 1 shows the corresponding percentage of each adopter category.



Table 1. Innovation Diffusion	
Theory Adopter Distrbution	
%	
2.5%	
13.5%	
34.0%	
34.0%	
16.0%	

* Scope of this study

The innovators are the first group of people (2.5%) who adopt an innovation. They are generally characterized as venturesome and cosmopolitan (Rogers 1983). Early adopters are those who are more connected to the rest of the adopters. They lead the adoption process within an organization. The early majority and late majority are the two largest groups, accounting for nearly 70% of the adopters. The early majority adopt the innovation just before the average member of the organization (Rogers 1983, p. 249) and the late majority adopt just after the average member. The late majority usually adopt when they are pressured by the rorms of an organization. The laggards are the last within the organization to adopt the innovation. They are frequently those who are isolated from the majority and disconnected from the organizational network (Rogers 1983). In summary, the innovators and the early adopters are the leaders of the diffusion process, while the early majority, late majority, and the laggards are the followers.

One of the primary purposes of the IT adoption and acceptance studies is to determine relevant variables that affect adoption and acceptance so that IT

-

managers can design intervention programs based on such knowledge in managing IT adoption and diffusion. The later three groups, early majority, late majority, and the laggards, compared to the innovators and early adopters who are self-motivators, are much more susceptible to influences of others in making their adoption decision. When there is a lack of influences or the influences are negative, the later groups would delay or resist adoption and therefore hinder the diffusion process. On the other hand, proper management of the influences, such as the intervention programs, may persuade the later groups to adopt sooner and therefore shorten the diffusion process. Because the later groups are the most challenging groups of end users in managing IT diffusion, they are the best candidates of study for that purpose. In our study, we focus on these three groups, which are renamed for practical purpose. The groups are hereafter classified as earlier adopters, later adopters, and potential adopters, respectively (also see Table 2).

Table 2. Adopter Group Classification (Selected for this study)		
Type This study		
Early Majority *	Earlier adopter	
Late Majority *	Later Adopter	
Laggards *	Potential adopter	

Innovation Attributes

Among the research concepts and paradigms developed in innovation diffusion research, rate of adoption is one of the research areas identified (Rogers 1995).

A major finding of this type of research is that innovations possessing certain attributes are adopted more rapidly. Relative advantage, compatibility, complexity, observability, and trialability are five perceived attributes of innovation identified by Rogers (1995), who stated that these attributes are extensively studied and tested in many innovation diffusion studies.

In their meta-analysis of innovation diffusion literature, Tornatzky and Klein (1982) reviewed 75 articles and discovered more than 30 innovation characteristics. They investigated ten major innovation characteristics: compatibility, relative advantage, complexity, cost, communicability, divisibility, profitability, social approval, trialability, and observability. The results show that compatibility, relative advantage, and complexity are the most robust measures of innovation attributes that affect innovation diffusion. The study also revealed that results based on studies of other attributes are inconclusive or nonsignificant. The dependent variable in the majority of the innovation diffusion research examined in Tornatzky and Klein's study is adoption, which is measured dichotomously (i.e., yes/no). User behavior following adoption was reported only in a few studies. We discuss some of the major attributes of innovation and their relationships with adoption next.

Compatibility

Compatibility is the most widely cited innovation attribute according to Tornatzky and Klein's meta analysis (1982). Compatibility is defined as "the degree to

which an innovation is perceived as being consistent with the existing values, past experiences, and needs of the receivers" (Tornatzky and Klein 1982, p. 33). Many studies distinguish cognitive compatibility from operational compatibility. Cognitive compatibility refers to the compatibility with what people think or feel about an innovation. Operational compatibility refers to the degree of compatibility with tasks people perform (Tornatzky and Klein 1982). Both definitions are used in the studies they analyzed. The relationship between compatibility and adoption is positive and significant when aggregated (p = .046; number of studies with statistics = 20).

Relative Advantage

Relative advantage is defined as "the degree to which an innovation is perceived as being better than the idea it supersedes (Tornatzky and Klein 1982, p. 34)." In general, in innovation diffusion studies, relative advantage of an innovation is a broad term. The measurement of it, therefore, becomes problematic. It could be measured in terms of social benefits, time saved, profitability, or productivity (Tornatzky and Klein 1982). It is found that relative advantage has a significant (p = .031; number of studies with statistics = 11) positive correlation with adoption.

Complexity

Complexity is "the degree to which an innovation is perceived as relatively difficult to understand and use" (Tornatzky and Klein 1982, p. 35). The

relationship between complexity and adoption is negative and nonsignificant (p = .062; number of studies with statistics = 13). Therefore, it is a weak relationship.

Additional Variables

Other variables investigated in Tornatzky and Klein's study are cost, communicability, divisibility, profitability, and trialability. Cost has been studied by many, but contradictory results are reported and the relationship between cost and adoption is found to be nonsignificant (p = .5). Communicability is "the degree to which aspects of an innovation may be conveyed to others" (Tornatzky and Klein 1982, p. 36). For example, assuming that it is easier to talk about a new digital camera than it is to talk about new computer software, then the communicability of the new digital camera would be higher than that of the computer software. This attribute is generally inferred and rarely tested. Divisibility refers to "the extent to which an innovation can be tried on a small scale prior to adoption" (Tornatzky and Klein 1982, p. 37). Expert judges generally determine the degree of divisibility. Contradictory results were found on this attribute. Its relationship with diffusion is not clear at this point. Profitability refers to "the level of profit to be gained from adoption of the innovation" (Tornatzky and Klein 1982, p. 37). This characteristic does not apply to all innovation studies (e.g., consumer product adoption). Theoretically. profitability should correlate positively with diffusion; however, some studies found a negative relationship between profitability and diffusion, resulting in a nonsignificant relationship. The negative relationship could have been caused by ineffective use or under-utilization of the innovation. When an innovation is being diffused, the cost of diffusion (e.g., acquisition cost) increases; however, if the cost is not justified by performance gains through using innovation, profitability will decrease. Trialability refers to the degree to which an innovation may be experimented with on a restricted basis. The directionality of the trialability-diffusion relationship cannot be determined from their study (Tornatzky and Klein 1982).

In addition to innovation attributes, there are other factors that affect the rate of diffusion: individual innovativeness, norms, and role of opinion leaders (Rogers 1995). Individual innovativeness is the most researched diffusion area as discussed earlier (Rogers 1995). Norms include cultural and religious norms. Norms can operate at various levels: a nation, a community, an organization, or a local system like a village (Rogers 1995). Opinion leaders are those who have the most links and communication with other members of a system. The role of opinion leadership often is a major determinant of the success or failure of diffusion programs. The characteristics of the leaders, when compared to the followers, are more formal education, a higher level of literacy, greater innovativeness, higher socioeconomics status, and more mass media exposure (Rogers 1995).

Classical diffusion research also posits that the diffusion process when plotted in a two-dimensional plane (time on the x-axis; number of adopters at a given time

on the y-axis) resembles an S-shaped curve (Rogers 1995). The rate of diffusion is measured by the length of time required for a desirable percentage of the members of a system to adopt an innovation. The variations of the curve provide insight into the rate of diffusion. If the curve is steep, the diffusion rate is fast; if the curve is gradual, the rate is slower. Figure 2 depicts a steep curve which indicates faster diffusion and a gradual curve which indicates slower diffusion. The unit of analysis of the rate of diffusion is an innovation in a system, not individual members of a system (Rogers 1995).


Theory of Reasoned Action (TRA)

We now examine another theoretical foundation, Theory of Reasoned Action. Innovation diffusion research provides strong empirical evidence in many areas, yet it lacks the vigor and theoretical foundation required to explain human behavior. The Theory of Reasoned Action (TRA) model proposed by Fishbein and Ajzen (1975) (also see, Ajzen and Fishbein 1980; Fishbein and Ajzen 1979) has been incorporated into recent social science literature. The theory focuses on predicting behavioral intention and actual behavior based on behavioral beliefs and subjective norms. This theory is depicted in Figure 3. According to TRA, "a behavioral intention measure will predict the performance of any voluntary act, unless the intention measure does not correspond to the behavioral criterion in terms of action, target, context, time-frame and/or specificity" (Sheppard et al. 1988, p. 325). Its strong predictive power of human behavior has drawn attention from multiple disciplines, such as psychology. sociology, marketing, and MIS (Sheppard et al. 1988). In the MIS area, it serves as a theoretical foundation for technology acceptance and usage models and theories. However, TRA and traditional innovation diffusion research differ in two ways. First, TRA relies mainly on subjective measures and innovation diffusion research relies on objective measures. Second, TRA is based on behavioral beliefs toward an innovation unlike innovation diffusion research that examines the perception of the innovation. Each point is discussed below.



Subjective Measures versus Objective Measures

The adoption decision, similar to other types of decisions, is based on subjective rather than objective measures (Abelson and Levi 1985; Adelbratt and Montgomery 1980; Ajzen and Fishbein 1980; Sutton 1998; Wright 1975 in Davis 1989). In traditional innovation diffusion research, when studying the relationship between innovation attributes and diffusion rate, researchers refer to objective attribute measures, also called primary attributes. Cost, for example, is one such measure. It can be expressed in an objective measure, such as the dollar amount. However, cost can also become subjective. An innovation that seems costly for one organization may be less costly for another simply because of the differences between their available resources or size. Similarly, the perception of relative advantage of an innovation can vary significantly among individual adopters. In addition, innovation attributes are rated by one single expert judge or a small group of them in innovation diffusion research; whereas, innovation

attributes are measured by individual adopter perceptions in TRA. The advantage of using subjective measures of an individual is that researchers are able to predict an individual's behavior, such as IT usage and adoption. In fact, the validity of comparison may become questionable if objective measures were used (Tornatzky and Klein 1982). This study, consistent with behavioral research, is based on individual perceptions.

Behavioral Beliefs versus Perceptions of Innovation

Perception of an innovation is different from behavioral beliefs such as beliefs toward using an innovation (Karahanna et al. 1999). A person may have a favorable perception about an innovation in terms of its usefulness in general; however, he/she may not perceive the innovation being useful at work. In other words, the behavioral context of perceptions is important. To better understand this concept, we introduce some fundamental concepts under TRA: attitude, belief, object, attribute, behavioral intention, and behavior.

Attitude is "a person's favorable or unfavorable evaluations of an object" (Fishbein and Ajzen 1975, p. 11). A person holds certain beliefs or information about the object. An object is associated with some attributes. An object of a belief may be a person, an organization, a behavior, or an event, and the associated attribute may be any object, outcome, characteristics, property, or event. The link between object and attribute is belief; the stronger the link between them, the stronger the belief (Fishbein and Ajzen 1975). For example,

in the context of IT diffusion, an object may be using E-mail at work (a behavior) and an attribute associated with the object may be improve job performance (an outcome). Belief can then be measured by a person's assessment of the subjective probability of using E-mail at work improves job performance.

In a general sense, the theory of reasoned action postulates that a person's actual behavior can be predicted from behavioral intention, which is a function of two factors: attitude toward the behavior and the person's subjective norm. A person's attitude toward a behavior is related to his/her beliefs that performing the behavior will lead to certain consequences or outcomes. In other words, if a person holds positive beliefs about a behavior, it is likely that he/she holds favorable attitude toward it. The person's subjective norm is formed based on his/her normative beliefs defined as beliefs that certain referents think the person should or should not perform the behavior in question.

TRA is heavily applied and studied in behavioral sciences. In a recent metaanalysis, Sutton (1998) investigated the predictive and explanatory power of TRA. Percent of variance explained is the most commonly used measure of effect size. While prior studies reported that between 63 to 71 percent of variance was explained in behavioral intention, only 18 to 38 percent of variance was explained in behavioral intention. Sutton demonstrated that the use of percent of variance explained is a pessimistic measure of effect size and might not be sufficient in some studies. He proposed nine reasons that the model fails to predict well. One significant mistake is using an unequal number of response categories for intention and behavior. For example, intention often is measured on a 5 or 7-point scale, but behavior is measured in binary categories (e.g., yes or no). In this case, even when the relationship between intention and behavior is substantial, the percent of variance explained in behavior can be very low. Sutton recommended using other effect size measures, for example, the power effect size index (f^2) (Cohen 1992, 1998). Another common mistake is that intentions may be provisional in some studies. This is a problem suggested in some IT usage studies in which student samples were used (Adams et al. 1992; Davis 1989). When subjects sampled are not engaged in making real decisions, the intention-behavior relationship may not be accurately estimated (Hu et al. 1999; Sutton 1998).

Technology Acceptance Model (TAM)

It is every IT manager's dream to deploy a technology that will be used by all intended employees. Determinants of usage of information systems and technology are of great interest to MIS researchers. In the 70's and 80's, numerous scales and measures were developed pertaining to systems and technology use; however, many of them failed to correlate with the usage construct because of a lack of theoretical foundation and poor measurement. In a search for quality measures for key constructs predicting information technology use, Davis (1986, 1989) suggested and validated two key determinants of technology use: perceived usefulness (PU) defined as "the

degree to which a person believes that using a particular system would enhance his or her job performance" (p. 320), and perceived ease of use (EOU) as "the degree to which a person believes that using a particular system would be free of effort" (p. 320). Simply put, the more useful and easier to use the technology is, the more likely the user will use it. These two constructs, supported by extensive theories (e.g., TRA, innovation diffusion theory, and cost-benefit paradigm, Davis 1989) constitute the major determinants of user attitude, which mediates the relationship between the two beliefs and user intention. The two constructs echo some of the major innovation attributes proposed in innovation diffusion research. In fact, perceived usefulness parallels with relative advantage and perceived ease of use parallels with complexity (Davis et al. 1989; Karahanna et al. 1999). The resulting model was named Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) (Davis 1989) (see Figure 4).



Note that in TAM, by adding a direct link between usefulness and behavioral intention, the model deviates from TRA, which asserts that attitude wholly mediates the relationship between beliefs and intention (Taylor and Todd 1995b). The rationale behind this link is that organizational employees may have a negative overall attitude toward the technology, however, positive beliefs of usefulness can lead to positive intention with the consideration of job consequences (Taylor and Todd 1995b). In addition, perceived ease of use influences attitude indirectly through its effect on perceived usefulness, meaning that the easier the system, the more likely it will be perceived as useful, resulting in a favorable attitude toward using or accepting it.

The TAM model's parsimoniousness has attracted a lot of researchers and it has become a well-known model to study technology acceptance and usage. However, researchers should not overlook the mixed results when TAM is applied in various situations and environments yet it is being extended and modified in some recent technology acceptance and usage studies (Briggs et al. 1999; Chau 1996; Chau and Tam 1997; Jackson et al. 1997; Lucas and Spitler 1999; Szajna 1996).

Two types of TAM related research have proliferated: one defends and the other extends and modifies. The first set of research replicated, tested, retested, and validated TAM and its construct's measurement and validity. In the early 1990's, a series of debates published in *MIS Quarterly* raised the interest in TAM to a

25

new level. Adams, Nelson, and Todd's (1992) replication of Davis's study concluded that while the two main constructs of TAM, perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use, possess high convergent and discriminant validity, the TAM model fit is questionable which is demonstrated by the results from structural equation modeling. In a subsequent study, Segars and Grover (1993) reexamined TAM's two original constructs using data from Adams et al. (1992) and found this construct validity to be insufficient. They examined the modification indices and standardized residuals produced from structural equation modeling and claimed that by adding another construct called effectiveness (made up by two items from the usefulness construct) followed by the elimination of two items achieved a better model fit. Clearly, the modifications to the scales were data-driven. Chin and Todd (1995) countered the Segars and Grover study with a note of caution to researchers. They demonstrated that Segars and Grover's suggestion of the third construct is theoretically unfounded. To further examine the validity and reliability of the two constructs, they conducted a new study (N = 259, 40% response rate) and demonstrated that the addition of the third construct is purely speculative. Further, they urged researchers to make modifications to constructs only when substantially justified.

The questions remain. Is TAM valid? Are measures of TAM reliable? Motivated by inconsistent and equivocal results from numerous studies, Doll, Hendrickson, and Deng (1998) examined the measurement aspect of TAM. Using a large sample (N = 902), the study confirmed that the items ease of use and usefulness had good construct validity. In addition, they conducted a multigroup invariance analysis using confirmatory factor analysis and concluded that the ease of use instrument is tau-equivalent, used to describe measures with invariant item-factor loadings across different samples (Doll et al. 1998), across different types of applications investigated (word processing, graphics, database, and spreadsheet applications) as well as level of computing experience of the users. The usefulness instrument is tau-equivalent across applications (except word processing software), between gender, and between recent and early adopters. The authors further stated that the instrument, given it works well for both recent adopter and experienced computer users, has the potential to serve as an easy to use instrument for software evaluation. Further, TAM, originally tested for E-Mail and graphics software usage (Davis 1989), has been applied to spreadsheet software (Mathieson 1991), voice mail and word processing software (Adams et al. 1992), DBMS (Szajna 1994), and GSS (Chin 1995). There is a general agreement that perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use correlate with usage significantly (Gefen and Straub 1997).

Some researchers are skeptical of the simplicity of TAM. Compared to innovation diffusion theory in which a larger set of innovation attributes are proposed, TAM only accounts for two behavioral beliefs, PU and EOU. In addition, there is concern about the subjective norm construct. In early TAM studies, subjective norm, the combination of the "beliefs that certain referents"

think the person should or should not perform the behavior in question" (Fishbein and Ajzen 1975, p. 16), was investigated and found to have no impact on behavioral intention. Instead of questioning the results, many studies simply excluded the subjective norm construct.

The skeptics argue that in studies (e.g., Davis et al. 1989; Mathieson 1991) that found subjective norm had no significant influence on intention, the research settings were different from organizational environment. Many of those studies were set in a laboratory environment and participants were students; therefore, there were no real consequences associated with behaviors (Taylor and Todd 1995b). The absence of consequences resulted in insignificant subjective norm effect. This general thought led to studies attempting to augment the TAM model. Inconsistent results from their study prompted Adams et al. (1992) to speculate that user experience or other user characteristics may also play a part in technology acceptance. This idea is not speculative at all. In fact, TRA addresses some of these concerns. There may be other important factors that need to be considered. Subjective norm is found to be a significant determinant of usage in field surveys (e.g., Karahanna et al. 1999; Lucas and Spitler 1999; Robertson 1989). Agarwal and Prasad (1999), in answering whether individual differences are germane to technology acceptance, found that with regard to technology, level of education and prior knowledge have significant impacts on beliefs about usefulness of an IT. Also, training influences beliefs about the ease of use of an IT (Nelson and Cheney 1987). Individual innovativeness in relation to IT innovation, defined as "the willingness of an individual to try out any new information technology" (Agarwal and Prasad 1998, p.26) is also found to be a driver of innovation adoption. On the dimension of behavioral belief, some recent studies include a fuller set of perceived beliefs about using an innovation (e.g., Agarwal and Prasad 1997; Karahanna et al. 1999; Moore and Benbasat 1991). The results show the importance of other behavioral beliefs.

Further investigation of the TAM literature reveals that certain inconsistencies exist but they are rarely dealt with and not clearly answered. Table 3 includes findings from some widely-cited studies. In the table, the results suggest that perceived usefulness (PU) is consistently found to be a significant determinant of attitude or usage. On the contrary, the findings on perceived ease of use (EOU) is mixed. Only three studies in Table 3 found EOU to be a significant factor in determining attitude or usage. Regardless of statistical significance, the relationship between PU and attitude/usage is consistently stronger than the relationship between EOU and attitude/usage.

Table 3. TAM Study Results								
Studies	Reported Findings and Other Information							
	IT	N	Subject	Field (Y/N)	PU→A/ PU→U	EOU→A/ EOU→U	A→BI	BI/U R ²
(Davis et al. 1989)	E-Mail	109	IBM employees in Canada 6-month experience	Y	.56 S	.32 S		
(Adams	E-Mail	116	10 firms 21 month experience	Y	.36 S	.05 NS		U .16
et al. 1992)	Vmail	68	10 firms	Y	.31 S	.13 NS		U .17
,	WP	73	Students	N	.21 S	03 NS		U .04
(Bagoz zi et al. 1992)	WP	96	MBA students No Experience 14 weeks later	N	.25 S .58 S	02 NS .74 S		BI .46 BI .54
(Hendri ckson et al. 1993)		51	Students Experience varied	N	S	S		
(Igbaria et al. 1995)	PC	236	PT MBA (Avg. Age = 29)	N	.10 S	.09 NS		
(Jackso n et al. 1997)		111	Accounting firms	Y	.23 NS	.159 S	.74 S	.38
(Hu et al. 1999)	Telem edicine	421	Physicians in Hong Kong	Ŷ	.45 S	.08 NS	.25 S	BI 37%

Abbreviations: PU – Perceived Usefulness; EOU – Perceived Ease of Use; A – Attitude; BI – Behavioral Intention; WP – WordPerfect; S – Significant; NS – Not Significant.

In summary, TAM is valuable and many times applicable. More importantly, it is parsimonious. TAM-based research has attracted the recent modifications and extensions of the model by IT diffusion researchers. Such studies have appeared in *MIS Quarterly, Decision Sciences, Management Science*, and *Journal of MIS*. However, TAM's scope is often limited and highly focused. Also, other variables

are studied in determining IT usage. In a later section, we will discuss some TAM related studies conducted in other cultures.

Theory of Planned Behavior

The Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) (Ajzen 1985, 1991) (see Figure 5), as an extension of the Theory of Reasoned Action, accounts for social influences, namely subjective norm and perceived behavior control factors. TRA is limited to predicting human behavior when people have complete discretion to perform. When the volitional control is incomplete, TPB claims that behavior intention is the composite effect of behavioral beliefs, subjective norm, and perceived behavioral control.



The additional dimension, perceived behavioral control (PBC) is a reflection of perceived internal and external constraints on behavior. PBC accounts for the effect of self-efficacy raised in some research (e.g., Bandura 1977, 1982; Venkatesh and Davis 1996)). Self-efficacy is "concerned with judgments of how well one can execute courses of action required to deal with prospective situations" (Bandura 1977, p. 122) and is suggested to strongly correlate with future performances (Bandura 1977; Gist 1987). PBC is also determined by availability of resources and opportunities (Dillon and Morris 1996). Another addition to the theory is that behavior is now a function of both behavioral intention and PBC. While the new dimension, PBC, is added with some new proposed structural relationships, the dimensions of behavioral belief and normative belief are eliminated as the precedents of the attitude and subjective norm dimensions, respectively.

TPB seems to predict behavior such as voting, shoplifting, lying, and playing video games very well. The total variance (R^2) explained by both intention and PBC reaches above .50 and even .80 in half of the studies examined in Ajzen's research (1991). Therefore, it is important that we consider using TPB to predict end user behavior if it is applicable to IT. Mathieson (1991) compared TAM with TPB. The results reveal that there is no difference in the variance explained in intention between the two models and TAM explains attitude much better than TPB, even when TPB contains considerably more variables than TAM. While

TAM is believed to have greater generality, TPB provides some specific guidelines for systems development with more constructs (Mathieson 1991).

In another study of competing IT usage models, Taylor and Todd (1995b) compared three models: TAM, TPB, and a decomposed TPB. The decomposed TPB included a set of antecedents to each of the three independent constructs in TPB. Three behavioral beliefs (PU, EOU, and compatibility) determine attitude. Subjective norm is a composite effect of both peer and supervisor influences. PBC is the function of self-efficacy, resource facilitating conditions, and technology facilitating conditions (see Figure 6). The study found that subjective norm, a component omitted in TAM, was a significant predictor of intention in TPB. Between TPB and the decomposed TPB, the decomposed model demonstrated more accuracy and predictive power. However, when comparing TPB to TAM, the authors are reluctant to recommend either model. The predictive power of the decomposed model only increased 2% over TAM with seven more variables.

In summary, the two studies provide similar results. TAM and TPB are comparable in their predictive strengths; however, TAM is parsimonious and easy to apply while TPB provides more insight into usage and behavioral intention (Mathieson 1991; Taylor and Todd 1995b). One possible reason that TPB does not perform significantly better over TAM could be that some of the effects of PBC have been taken into consideration in the behavioral belief construct. For example, the effect of self-efficacy is embedded in perceived ease of use (Davis 1989). Therefore, to keep the research models simple, in this study we do not include the PBC construct.



Individual Innovation-Decision Process

Despite being a process of several stages, IT diffusion is often treated as binary, adoption versus non-adoption. Innovation diffusion studies have identified five innovation-decision stages from an adopter's point of view: knowledge, persuasion, decision, implementation, and confirmation (Rogers 1995). Innovation decision starts with the knowledge stage in which a potential adopter is exposed to an innovation and gains some understanding of how it works. The persuasion stage occurs when the potential adopter forms "a favorable or unfavorable attitude toward the innovation" (Rogers 1995, p. 167-168). The decision stage refers to the time when the potential adopter decides to either adopt or reject the innovation. Implementation stage occurs when the potential adopter starts using the innovation. Once this happens, the person can be classified as a user. At the confirmation stage, users seek to "avoid dissonance or to reduce it if it occurs" (Rogers 1995, p. 181). As suggested by TRA, attitude formation occurs while making the adoption decision. Rogers (1995) also notes that different communication channels play different roles in different diffusion stages. For example, interpersonal communication is more important at the adoption decision stage.

The Concept of Stage

Due to the difficulty of examining and segmenting the end users according to the stages, IT adoption researchers often avoid articulating the differences in IT

acceptance determinants and their impact on user acceptance and behaviors along the diffusion process (Beal and Rogers 1957; Rogers 1995). Nevertheless, the importance of stages or processes of diffusion is distinctively and extensively documented in many diffusion studies (e.g., Cooper and Zmud 1990; Rogers 1995; Tornatzky and Klein 1982). The fact that studies found contradictory results of the relationships between innovation attributes and IT diffusion or usage may have been caused by the lack of distinction between two major diffusion processes: adoption and implementation or usage. The key point is that different factors play different roles and have different or sometimes the opposite impact on diffusion at different stages. For example, all things being equal, an organization is more likely to adopt a less expensive innovation than a more expensive one. However, once it is adopted, the more expensive it is, the more likely it will be used (Tornatzky and Klein 1982) because companies tend to pay more attention to diffusing costly innovations.

One aspect of the diffusion process is to provide information that helps adopters to overcome uncertainties. The importance of subjective norm is outlined in innovation diffusion studies. It is believed that at the earliest stage of an innovation, when innovators adopt, subjective norm may not be available, therefore, the attitude of the innovators depends on the assessment and perceptions of the innovation. As early adopters join the adoption, they have the innovators' established perceptions which would contribute to overcoming the uncertainties of the early adopters. The attitudes of the early adopters may be influenced by the their perceptions as well as the norms. As the innovation continuously diffuses through an organization, the effect of norms on attitude will intensify for the early majority, late majority, and laggards, in that order.

In the IS area, Nolan's stage model (1979) is the best known and most widely cited model of computing evolution in organizations (King and Kraemer 1983). It is a prescriptive diagram that uses an S-shaped curve of data processing expenditures as a surrogate for the growth phenomena of organizational use of computers. Based on the change in computer budget, the model identifies six stages of evolution by the following characteristics: initiation, contagion, control, integration, data administration, and maturity (Nolan 1979). The drawback of this framework is that it presents an aggregated view of IT diffusion at the organizational level and does not address end-user computing issues and certainly not determinants of technology acceptance. Further, the model lacks theory and empirical evidence (Benbasat et al. 1984).

Recognizing the importance of addressing the differences between adopters and users, in a recent IT adoption study, Karahanna et al. (1999) explicitly distinguish potential IT adopters from users. They examine the issue of whether the beliefs and intentions of adopters and users differ. There are some major findings: subjective norm dominates prediction of behavioral intention for adopters; attitudinal measures dominate prediction of behavioral intention for users; the relationship between attitude and behavioral intention is nonsignificant for adopters; the relationship between subjective norm and behavioral intention is nonsignificant for users; for adopters, perceived usefulness, visibility, result demonstrability, ease of use, and trialability are significant behavioral beliefs determining attitude; for users, perceived usefulness and image are the only two significant behavioral beliefs underlying attitude; normative beliefs are different for both adopters and users. The results of the study suggest that behavioral intention and attitude are determined by different combinations of behavioral beliefs for potential adopters and users and the behavioral beliefs have different strengths in predicting attitude and intention between potential adapters and users.

In another study that claims to be a study of a group of adopters and nonadopters (Taylor and Todd 1995b), it was found that subjective norm is an important determinant of intention. While perceived usefulness significantly influenced attitude, ease of use does not; however, the results should be interpreted carefully. The subjects in the study are a combination of different groups of adopters (based on given information).

The implication of the above discussions is significant: There are different issues that management should focus toward different groups of adopters. However, such studies have not been widely conducted and the results are not confirmed. Therefore, further studies are required to validate the findings. In summary, behavioral belief measures, attitude, and subjective norms operate differently across adopters and users. However, studies rarely articulate the distinction between earlier adopters and later adopters, which are found to be different in diffusion studies, specifically in relation to how normative beliefs operate. The Karahanna et al. (1999) study treats the users uniformly. Therefore, in our study, in addition to further investigating the differences between potential adopters and users, we attempt to separate users into earlier adopters and later adopters. The sampling procedures are discussed in the methodology section.

Global IT Diffusion Studies

Diffusion research also has made its way into the international arena. However, the percentage remains small and is mostly in anthropology, rural sociology, and public health. Moreover, the international diffusion studies in the IS area focus on high-level and national issues. Little empirical research focuses on organizational and individual issues. TAM in particular is found less applicable or predictive in other countries than in the U.S. (Phillips et al. 1994; Rose and Straub 1998; Straub 1994; Straub et al. 1997). Table 4 summarizes the model predictive statistics (R^2) reported in selected studies.

In Table 4, TAM is found to be less predictive when applied in Japan. While TAM is supported in the cases of Switzerland and Arab countries, the strength of the model is weaker in other countries than those reported in the United States

studies based on the R^2 statistic. In Switzerland and Japan, the effect of perceived ease of use is found to be insignificant. These studies find that culture may be a potentially meaningful explanation of the differences. However, no factors in the TAM model are linked to culture factors with well-grounded rationale.

Table 4. TAM-Based Studies Conducted in other Countries					
	Studies				
	Straub et al. 1997		Rose and Straub 1998		
Country/Region	Switzerland	Japan	Arabic World (Lebanon, Palestine, Saudi Arabia, Sudan)		
Fit	Yes	No	Yes		
N	152	142	96		
R ²	.10	.01	.40		

The recent global IT studies proposed and asserted that IT diffusion is affected by many high level factors: technological, political, economic, and cultural factors in international studies (Deans et al. 1991; Dekeleva and Zupancic 1993; Dologite et al. 1997; Palvia and Palvia 1996). In the following section, those factors are briefly discussed with more emphasis on cultural factors.

Technological Status

Information technology is largely dependent on other types of technologies, such as telecommunication infrastructures (Deans et al. 1991). Electronic switching and advanced telecommunications are the backbones of emerging information technology. In other words, IT diffusion is strongly dependent on the capacity of IT infrastructure (Antonelli 1997).

Political Factors

Technology transfer, as well as diffusion, requires government leadership. Foreign countries bring modern management techniques along with technology that can contribute to a country's growth. Policy makers can ensure faster diffusion by providing funding, tax preference, campaigning, and other types of assistance to technology investors. On the other hand, from a safeguarding point of view, the policy makers can help screen out improper technology (Ohkawa and Otsuka 1994). However, when strict restrictions are imposed, IT diffusion could be hindered.

Economic Factor

Ohkawa and Otsuka (1994) strongly suggest that technological diffusion is only realized with the residual from economic and social capacity growth because technology requires capital investment. In fact, economic theories found positive correlations between technology advancement and capital accumulation (Ohkawa and Otsuka 1994). In addition, external economies have had a great impact on technology advancement with foreign investment (Ohkawa and Otsuka 1994). Foreign exposure, foreign investment, and international trade can help less-developed countries adopt advanced technologies. There is also the constraint of labor. One main objective of IT is to enhance end-user

performance; however, technology will not contribute to firm or national growth if there is a severe lack of qualified and skillful people (Ohkawa and Otsuka 1994).

Culture

Several studies assert that culture plays a significant role in IT diffusion (Burn 1995; Ein-Dor et al. 1993; Kedia and Bhagat 1988). Hofstede's (1980, 1991, 1994) studies are well-known but the original data were collected in the 1970s. In a more recent study (Trompenaars 1994) that is receiving increasing attention, 15,000 managers from 28 countries were surveyed. In this 10-year study, Trompenaars proposed five constructs, some of which are similar to those of Hofstede's. While each country has its unique set of culture dimension values, researchers have found some countries to be similar based on certain groupings, producing cultural clusters which are useful in making generalizations (Hofstede 1991; Ronen and Kraut 1977; Ronen and Shenkar 1985).

Culture is a concept that has been deemed important in IT diffusion as well as in global research. Many studies have called for more empirical study of culture in business (e.g., Hodgetts and Luthans 1997). Its importance has been evidenced in various diffusion disciplines, anthropology in particular (Rogers 1995). In failing to account for the value of culture, diffusion programs could be ineffective and even result in adverse consequences. To better understand culture, Hofstede developed a framework recognizing the dimensions of culture which are commonly known as power distance, uncertainty avoidance, individualism

versus collectivism, and masculinity versus femininity (1994). The major motivation behind this classification framework is that it is able to establish "the degree to which cultural environment systematically influences employees' attitude and behavior" (Paik et al. 1996, p. 20). Even though this framework has been widely cited and acknowledged in the literature, the effects of cultural dimensions are not clearly addressed. In our study we attempt to connect specific dimensions of culture to the determinants of IT adoption.

Power Distance: Power distance refers to the degree of power inequality among people, and more specifically, between supervisors and subordinates (Shore and Venkatachalam 1995). In a culture with great power distance, organizations tend to be more hierarchical in nature because of the high degree of power distance. There is a significant implication on the design of information systems, whose structure is generally believed to parallel that of organizational structure. If a firm were to implement a decentralized system, the firm would have to make major adjustments to its organizational structure to benefit from such a system. The power structure and distance would then be greatly altered. We have to prepare the top management and the end-users for such cultural transitions. More importantly, in cultures with a large power distance, the effect of upper level management on individual employee IT adoption or usage may not be as powerful as in cultures with flatter power structures.

Uncertainty Avoidance: Uncertainty avoidance refers to the extent to which people feel threatened by uncertain circumstances and avoid such situations by providing job security and establishing rigid rules (Shore and Venkatachalam 1995). In some cultures, employees are guaranteed life-time employment. This is particularly critical when firms are in the process of automating their business activities and processes, which may introduce job insecurity. Firms must proceed with computerization with great caution and avoid creating the perception of job insecurity. IT managers need to be aware of the effect of such uncertainties created during the IT diffusion process.

Individualism: Individualism refers to the degree to which people focus on themselves as individuals rather than act as members of groups. The opposite is collectivism. In collective cultures, individuals usually find groups they can relate to for a long time. Usually, the groups are formed in work settings. Collectivism can work for the implementation of IT when members of the groups exchange positive feedback of the technology, thus encouraging and reinforcing IT usage. The effect of norms on IT adoption and usage is expected to be significant in a collective culture, such as China.

Masculinity: Masculinity and femininity refer to values like assertiveness, performance, success and competition. Opposite of masculinity is femininity. Traditionally, the male is the dominating role. However, this dimension is moving

44

to a more neutral status. The effect of this dimension on IT adoption is yet to be determined (Shore and Venkatachalam 1995).

Overall, studies have indicated that culture is important and found differences in IT adoption across cultures, however, the specific effects of culture have not been clearly identified in the literature. Generally, in existing cross-cultural research, cultural dimensions are not directly measured (Straub et al. 1997). Most studies utilize Hofstede's existing values to compare variables across countries. For example, Straub et al. (1997) created a Computer-based Media Support Index (CMSI), which is a mathematical expression of the simultaneous effect of the four Hofstede dimensions of culture (uncertainty avoidance, power distance, individualism, and assertiveness/masculinity). In their study, the United States, Switzerland, and Japan are indexed at 157, 204, and 287, respectively. Based on this index, they proposed and the results supported that the TAM model does fit the Japanese data sample. In addition, they found that the overall technology acceptance models of all three countries are significantly different. The use of such an index is theoretically unfounded and fails to isolate the dimensional effect of culture.

In our study, the inclusion of subjective norm, a function of normative beliefs may be potentially meaningful in explaining the effects of culture on technology acceptance. Specifically, the individualism dimension can help explain the effect of normative beliefs, which refer to what an individual feels and what his salient

referents expect him to do. The salient referents make up the groundwork of the interpersonal network channels through which information technologies are communicated and diffused. It is expected that in an individualistic culture, the effect of norms may not be as influential as it is in a collectivism culture. For example, the U.S. culture is highly individualist (Cullen 1999); therefore, the effect of norms may not be strong. On the other hand, in our study, which is conducted in China, we expect the effect of norm would be significant for IT adopters because China is a highly collective culture.

CONVERGING THE RESEARCH STREAMS - RESEARCH MODELS

After reviewing relevant theories and studies, some objectives are established: 1) to examine the differences in factors determining adoption and use of IT; 2) to test IT diffusion models in a culture other than the United States; and 3) to learn more about the role of culture in determining IT adoption and usage by comparing the proposed models with existing studies conducted in other cultures. To achieve these objectives, we develop three research models (see Table 5 for a comparison of the models) that are analyzed at different levels. Each model encompasses different research variables. Models 1 and 2 are examined at the individual level and Model 3 at the organization level.

In order to achieve the first objective, we examine the differences of IT adopters and users in the context of the two models (Model 1 and Model 2; in Figure 7 and Figure 8, respectively). A potential IT adopter is defined as a person who is not currently using an IT but does have sufficient knowledge of the IT. An IT user is an individual who is using an IT. Models 1 and 2 are structurally similar; an additional outcome variable has been added to Model 2. This variable is IT usage behavior. Adoption intention of IT is the dependent variable in Model 1. To find differences between the two models, we can compare variables and construct relationships across the models.

To achieve the second objective of this study, we introduce Model 3 (Figure 9), which allows examination of IT diffusion at the organizational level. This model investigates how IT diffusion differs among organizations. The final analysis is to test the models in a culture other than the United States and which will satisfy objective three of our study. Results from these analyses provide insight into the diffusion of IT in a different culture.

These models were developed from a review of literature related to innovation diffusion theory, the Theory of Reasoned Action (TRA), and the technology acceptance model (TAM). Innovation diffusion research and IT diffusion studies both contribute to the development of models for this study.

Understanding the stages of IT diffusion is critical and should be taken into consideration when designing diffusion research. This is the reason that potential adopters are distinguished from users of IT. This research approach

may lead to the reassessment of the theories used in predicting IT usage. It also enables us to answer questions pertaining to the applications of existing theories and models (e.g., TRA, TAM, TPB) to various diffusion stages.

Table 5. Research	Models			
	Research Models			
	Model 1 (Figure 7)	Model 2 (Figure 8)	Model 3 (Figure 9)	
Level of analysis (Individual/ Organizational)	Individual	Individual	Organizational	
Subject	Potential IT Adopters	IT Users	IT directors, Managers, or CIOs	
Methodology	Field Survey	Field Survey	Interviews	





Individual-Level Models (Models 1 and 2)

Information technology's benefits range from mere automation to strategic competitiveness. The adoption of information technology by employees in organizations is a critical research area. While the benefits of IT are well known, individual employees may not perceive the technology favorably or adopt it. In this research, we investigate potential adopters of IT as well as users of IT. We compare potential adopters and users on the dimension of time, a critical element studied in diffusion research that parallels the stages of diffusion (Cooper and Zmud 1990). The potential adopters are at the early stages of diffusion, knowledge or persuasion; in contrast, users are at a later stage, implementation.

As the literature suggests, to truly understand IT diffusion, various stages of diffusion must be taken into consideration. Therefore, two models are derived based on this notion: one is for potential IT adopters (Model 1, shown in Figure 7) and one for IT users (Model 2, shown in Figure 8). The structure and variables in both models are very similar. Each model combines TAM's intention, attitude, and actual usage construct and Karahanna et al. 's (1999) normative belief and subjective norm constructs that are based on the Theory of Reasoned Action. Consistent with innovation diffusion theory, IT diffusion studies suggest that innovation's perceived attributes, the individual's attitude and beliefs, and social communications are the key constructs of the innovation decision process (Karahanna et al. 1999; Rogers 1995). Consequently, those constructs are adopted in Models 1 and 2. In addition, individual innovativeness, deemed important in innovation diffusion theory, is incorporated in the models. In the following sections, the variables and their linkages are discussed.

Behavioral Beliefs

The initial decision making and motives of innovation diffusion are studied from the perspective of behavioral beliefs for adopting/using the IT. Currently, studies and findings in this area are limited due to the difficulty of data collection pertaining to motives, which goes back to the perception of innovation. Note that the behavioral beliefs studied here are subjective measures. The dimensions of behavioral beliefs include usefulness (relative advantage), ease of use

(complexity), image, compatibility, trialability, visibility, and result demonstrability (e.g., Agarwal and Prasad 1997; Davis 1989; Davis et al. 1989; Karahanna et al. 1999; Rogers 1995). These dimensions, which are separate constructs, have seldom been tested simultaneously in studies. Most of the studies choose a subset of the dimensions. Table 6 contains the definitions and supporting references of the dimensions (adopted from Karahanna et. al. 1999).

Attitude Toward Behavior

Attitude is defined as "a learned, implicit anticipatory response" (Doob 1947, in Fishbein and Ajzen 1975, p. 24). Based on TRA and previous studies, behavioral beliefs about adopting/using the IT lead to attitudes toward IT. For example, a potential adopter with positive behavioral beliefs about adopting an IT would likely favor (attitude) adopting the IT. On the contrary, negative behavioral beliefs would lead to unfavorable attitude.

Table 6. Perceived Innovation Attributes (Behavioral Beliefs) (Adopted from Karabanna et al. 1999)				
Behavioral Beliefs about Adopting/Using an IT	Definition	References		
Perceived Usefulness	The subjective probability that using a specific application system will increase his or her job performance within an organizational context.	Davis et al. 1989; Karahanna et. al. 1999; Rogers 1995; Hoffer and Alexander 1992; Moore and Benbasat 1991		
Ease of Use	The degree to which using a particular system is free of effort.	Karahanna et al. 1999; Rogers 1995; Hoffer and Alexander 1992; Moore and Benbasat 1991		
Compatibility	The degree to which using the IT innovation is compatible with what people do.	Karahanna et al. 1999; Rogers 1995; Hoffer 1992; Moore and Benbasat 1991		
Trialability	The degree to which one can experiment with an innovation on a limited basis before making an adoption or rejection decision.	Karahanna et al. 1999; Rogers 1995; Moore and Benbasat 1991		
Visibility	The degree to which the innovation is visible in the organization.	Karahanna et al. 1999; Moore and Benbasat 1991		
Result Demonstrability	The degree to which the results of adopting/using the IT innovation are observable and communicable to others.	Karahanna et al. 1999; Moore and Benbasat 1991		
Image	The degree to which adoption/usage of the innovation is perceived to enhance one's image or status in one's social system.	Karahanna et al. 1999; Moore and Benbasat 1991		

Subjective Norm and Normative Beliefs

Normative beliefs of an individual refer to what he feels and what his/her salient referents expect him to do. There are many sources from which normative beliefs are formed. It can be from a friend, a parent, or a coworker, depending on the type of behavior under examination. A number of normative beliefs shape a person's subjective norm, which is the perception of social pressure to perform the behavior (Mathieson 1991). In the context of IT diffusion, the normative beliefs should be assessed and are pertinent to adoption and usage of IT. MIS literature indicates that normative beliefs are formed from the following sources: top management, friends and peers, IS department, and IS specialists (Karahanna et al. 1999).

Behavioral Intention

TRA theorizes that both attitude and subjective norm determine behavioral intention (Fishbein and Ajzen 1975). The user intention construct has been compared to other competing measures, such as realism of expectations, motivational force, value, user satisfaction and involvement, and user satisfaction in its predictability of user behavior (Venkatesh and Davis 1996). It indicates the amount of effort people are willing to put forth to perform the behavior. In Model 2, behavioral intention serves as an outcome (dependent variable) of attitude and subjective norm.

Actual Behavior

Behavioral intention subsequently influences one's behavior (Fishbein and Ajzen 1975). It is empirically supported that behavioral intention has good predictability toward both self-reported and actual usage (Agarwal and Prasad 1999; Jackson et al. 1997; Szajna 1996). Therefore, in Model 2, intention serves as an antecedent of behavior (IT usage behavior). Some studies (e.g., Szajna 1996 uses student subjects). In an actual field setting, the actual usage may not be more accurate than self-report. In addition, the use of objective measures, such as actual usage, would prevent us from making meaningful comparisons between the current study and existing studies (Tornatzky and Klein 1982). Therefore, consistent with IT acceptance literature, self-reported measures are used to measure actual behavior in the current study.

Additional Variable: Individual Innovativeness

Innovativeness of an individual is one area that has been heavily studied in the general innovation diffusion area. Individual innovativeness is defined as the degree to which an individual is likely to adopt new ideas compared to others. Education, age, gender, and social status are found to be influential factors of innovativeness in an individual (Agarwal and Prasad 1998; Rogers 1995). In addition, whether a person reads relevant publications (e.g., technical journals and books) and has outside contacts (e.g., colleagues) are good predictors of individual innovativeness (Hoffer and Alexander 1992; Rogers 1995).
Recently, the importance of individual innovativeness has been studied in the IT area (e.g., Agarwal and Prasad 1998). A domain specific construct of individual innovativeness has been developed and is suggested to be more useful in predicting acceptance of specific innovation. Agarwal and Prasad (1998) define individual innovativeness pertaining to IT adoption as "the willingness of an individual to try out any new information technology" (Agarwal and Prasad 1998, p. 206). It has been found that individual innovativeness and IT diffusion are positively linked. Individual innovativeness is treated as an determinant of behavioral intention (Agarwal and Prasad 1997). The scales developed are shown in the operationalization section.

Additional Variable: Perceived Voluntariness

Another variable influencing behavioral intention (in Model 1; it directly affects behavior in model 2) identified in the literature is voluntariness, which refers to the perceived degree of volitional control (Agarwal and Prasad 1997). Studies of individual characteristics often imply that individuals are to be blamed for delayed adoptions or slow adoptions. However, many times individual decisions cannot be made until a more collective decision is made (Rogers 1995). In innovation diffusion studies, a concept similar to voluntariness, decision type, is pointed out as a variable that affects diffusion rate. Four decision types are identified (Rogers 1995, p. 28-29) as follows:

- 1. Optional innovation-decisions: these are decisions completely dependent on the adopters. They are generally faster than collective decision.
- 2. Collective innovation-decisions: These require the consensus of a collective body.
- 3. Authority innovation-decisions: These types of decisions are made by top management and are generally faster than other types of decisions. They are common in formal organizations.
- 4. Contingent decisions: Such decisions are a sequential combination of two or more decisions listed above. For example, a collective decision follows an authority decision.

The first three types of decisions are on a continuum; however, it is difficult to measure a decision type on a continuous scale. Voluntariness may be a better measurement. The degree of voluntariness of adopters in making an adoption decision varies and could lead to varying usage. In fact, TRA is designed to predict voluntary behavior (Sheppard et al. 1988). The addition of voluntariness will improve explained variance in usage and is assessed using self-reported items (Agarwal and Prasad 1997).

Organizational-Level Model (Model 3)

The purpose of an organizational model (Model 3) is to study how IT diffusion differs based on a set of organizational variables. Differing from the individual-level models, the dependent variable in the organizational level model is IT diffusion (see Model 3 in Figure 9), which is measured by the percent of employees who are using the IT at a given time, and is commonly used in diffusion studies (Rogers 1995).

There are two other groups of variables, an independent variable and control variables. The independent variable is training and support, believed to enhance diffusion and usage of IT. The effects are evidenced in several studies (Nelson and Cheney 1987; Torkzadeh and Dwyer 1994). The control variables are a set of organizational characteristic variables suggested in the literature: location/region, and ownership, size, and industry.



The control variables, location/region, ownership, size, and industry are discussed in the following sections.

Location/Region

Generally, some regions are more technologically advanced than others. For example, in China, regional dynamics and policies differ significantly (Cui and Liu 2000). Special economic zones are given more privileges in technological development. Regional factors need to be taken into consideration. It is

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

expected that more economically advanced regions will tend to be more innovative.

Ownership

Economically and technologically speaking, in some countries a dualistic environment exists. Technologically advanced corporations operate in the same environment as traditional organizations (Detragiache 1998). Publicly-owned companies tend to be more traditional while private companies are more modern and innovative (Bretschneider and Wittmer 1993; Rovere 1996). Ownership was found to have a significant differential effect on adoption of PC technology (Bretschneider and Wittmer 1993). It could be hypothesized that public-owned companies tend to utilize less IT than private ones and their diffusion rate is lower.

Size

Larger firms are believed to have more advantages than smaller firms and tend to lead in innovation diffusion (Utterback and Suzrez 1993). A study of IT in Japan indicates significant differences in IT diffusion among small/medium enterprises (SMEs) and large enterprises (Les). SMEs are found to be much slower in IT diffusion when compared to LEs (Griffy-Brown et al. 1999). The findings in IT literature are consistent with innovation diffusion literature (Rogers 1995).

58

The size of an organization can be measured by the number of employees (Chengalur-Smith and Duchessi 1999). However, there is no general operational definition of SMEs or LEs (Thong 1999). Many studies define that a small enterprise is one with less than 100 employees (Igbaria et al. 1997; Yap et al. 1992). The size of an SME ranges between 20 and 250 in studies when reported (e.g., Soh et al. 1992; Yap et al. 1992). In this study we will use 250 as the cutoff for SMEs. It is expected that the larger companies are more innovative.

Industry

It is believed that some industries are more IT-intensive than others; therefore, IT diffusion is more widespread in some industries than others (Kagan et al. 1990; Mockler et al. 1999). For example, retailing was found to use more sophisticated technologies than than manufacturing (Kagan et al. 1990). We expect to see different rates of diffusion across industry sectors.

Research Questions

Based on the literature review and models constructed, three sets of research questions are developed: (1) questions pertaining to the research models, (2) descriptive questions that deal with specific variables, and (3) questions about relationships between variables. These questions focus on filling in the knowledge gaps in IT diffusion, acceptance, and usage research.

Model Questions

The following questions are related to the research models developed.

- 1. Do the models fit for potential IT adopters, IT users (both earlier and later adopters), and organizations in China?
- 2. Compared to existing studies, do the models differ from those applied in other cultures using the same measures?

Technology acceptance and diffusion studies conducted in other countries have produced differing results from the U.S. studies. The differences, when compared with existing studies in other cultures, could be explained by cultural factors. The models are tested using data collected from China; therefore, we can gain more insight into the variables that affect IT diffusion and acceptance in China. We investigate the fitness of the models. If we find a good model fit, we can further investigate the predictive powers of the models and construct relationships within the models. However, one of the objectives of this study is to determine whether certain relationships exist in any of the adopter groups (i.e., earlier adopters, later adopters, and potential adopters); therefore, it is suspected that some constructs in the models are misspecified. Consequently, we anticipate less than satisfactory fits of data to the models. The focus of the model testing is on gaining a broader perspective of the determinants of IT acceptance and usage and how variables operate for different adopters.

Descriptive Questions

Each of the following descriptive questions deals with behavioral belief constructs and innovativeness:

- 1. Do behavioral beliefs differ between potential adopters and users of IT?
- 2. Do behavioral beliefs differ between earlier and later adopters (two user groups) of IT?
- 3. Does innovativeness differ between potential adopters and users of IT?
- 4. Does innovativeness differ between earlier adopters and later adopters of IT?

The theme of the above questions is whether potential adopters and users differ along the dimensions of behavioral belief, normative belief, and innovativeness. There are few studies that examine the differences between potential adopters and users of IT. In addition, fewer studies distinguished among different types of IT users/adopters and no studies that we are aware of explore the differences between different types of IT users along the dimensions of behavioral belief, normative belief, and innovativeness (Brancheau and Wetherbe 1990; Karahanna et al. 1999).

However, knowing the behavioral belief differences among different adopter groups could be a key to finding the determinants of usage. Question 1 examines whether behavioral beliefs are different between potential adopters and users of IT. Question 2 investigates whether behavioral beliefs differ between earlier and later adopters of IT.

According to innovation diffusion theory, diffusion occurs in stages. Adoption and continued usage are the target behaviors of different stages in diffusion, pre-adoption stages (e.g., knowledge and persuasion) and post-adoption stages (e.g., use) (Karahanna et al. 1999; Rogers 1995). The target behaviors are

determined by different behavioral beliefs. Therefore, we propose that the set of behavioral beliefs underlying users attitude will be different from the set of potential adopters (Karahanna et al. 1999). To answer questions 1 and 2, the research models are examined and the significant paths leading from the behavioral beliefs to attitude are assessed (Karahanna et al. 1999).

Questions 3 and 4 bring up the possibility that potential IT adopters may be different from the users and the earlier adopters from later adopters along the innovativeness dimension. Questions 3 and 4 are further developed into hypotheses and discussed in the hypothesis section.

Relationship Questions

The following questions are concerned with variable relationships and how the

relationships differ for the potential adopters and users of IT.

- 1. Does the behavioral beliefs-attitude link differ in strength between potential adopters and users of IT?
- 2. Does the attitude-intention link differ in strength between potential adopters and users of IT?
- 3. Is the subjective norm-intention link significant for potential adopters and users of IT?
- 4. Does the subjective norm-intention link differ in strength between potential adopters and users of IT?
- 5. Is there any effect of individual innovativeness on intention for potential adopters of IT?
- 6. Is there any effect of individual innovativeness on behavior for users of IT?
- 7. Is there any effect of voluntariness on intention for potential adopters of IT?
- 8. Is there any effect of voluntariness on behavior for users of IT?
- 9. Does the effect of voluntariness on behavior differ between earlier and later adopters of IT?
- 10. Do organizations that differ in region/location, ownership, size, and industry have different rate of IT diffusion?

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

The literature provides strong evidence that researchers have reached a consensus on the following variable relationships in the IT acceptance and usage area, which are supported by TAM and TRA: intention is determined by attitude, which is formed by a set of behavioral beliefs, and normative beliefs shape subjective norm (e.g., Agarwal and Prasad 1997; Davis 1989; Karahanna et al. 1999; Mathieson 1991). However, these relationships have rarely been compared across potential adopters and different types of users of IT. Questions 1, 2, and 4 are designed to investigate such differences.

The effect of subjective norm on attitude is still inconclusive as revealed in the literature. Prior empirical studies present contradicting results. Subjective norm is found to be a significant factor determining attitude in some studies (e.g., Agarwal and Prasad 1999; Karahanna et al. 1999; Taylor and Todd 1995a) while it is not in others (e.g., Davis 1989; Davis et al. 1989). Question 3 intends to investigate this relationship. We expect to see differences in the effect of subjective norm on different types of adopters. Even though a single study such as ours may not be conclusive, the results of the study may lead the researchers toward a more rigorous approach in studying the IT adopters.

Individual innovativeness and voluntariness are two variables introduced in diffusion research; however, they are not systematically tested in IT diffusion research. A few existing studies deal with these two concepts in the IT area (e.g., innovativeness, Agarwal and Prasad 1998; voluntariness, Agarwal and

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Prasad 1997; Karahanna et al. 1999; Moore and Benbasat 1991). Questions 5, 6, 7, and 8 are designed to investigate the effect of these two variables on potential adopter intention and user behavior. Further, question 9 intends to answer whether the effect of voluntariness on usage is different for earlier and later adopters. It is suggested that voluntariness has significant effect on IT adopters' behavior (Agarwal and Prasad 1997; Moore and Benbasat 1991). Knowing the effect of voluntariness on different types of adopters, IT managers can deploy various levels of IT diffusion policies at different stages of the diffusion process.

Question 10 investigates the relationships between some organizational variables and the rate of diffusion. Studies have found that region/location (Rogers 1983), ownership (Bretschneider and Wittmer 1993; Detragiache 1998; Rovere 1996), size (Griffy-Brown et al. 1999; Igbaria et al. 1997; Rogers 1995; Utterback and Suarez 1993), and industry (Kagan et al. 1990; Mockler et al. 1999) affect the rate of diffusion. The knowledge of the effects of these variables can be potentially beneficial to policy makers at the regional or national levels. This question will be studied using descriptive data and diffusion curves.

Descriptive Questions 3 and 4 and Relationships Questions 1 through 9 are translated into hypotheses, which are discussed next.

64

Hypotheses

The research questions formulated lead to the following hypotheses. The hypotheses focus on testing the differences among earlier, later, and potential adopters. The testing method for each hypothesis is presented in Table 7 on page 72.

- H1: The effect of attitude (A) on behavioral intention (BI) will be stronger for earlier adopters than for later adopters.
- H2: The effect of attitude (A) on behavioral intention (BI) will be stronger for later adopters than for potential adopters.
- H3: The effect of attitude (A) on behavioral intention (BI) will be stronger for earlier adopters than for potential adopters.
- H4: The effect of subjective norm (SN) on behavioral intention (BI) will be weaker for earlier adopters than for later adopters.
- H5: The effect of subjective norm (SN) on behavioral intention (BI) will be weaker for later adopters than for potential adopters.
- H6: The effect of subjective norm (SN) on behavioral intention (BI) will be weaker for earlier adopters than for potential adopters.

Hypotheses 1 through 6 investigate the comparatives strength of the determinants of behavioral intention (i.e., attitude and subjective norm) across earlier, later, and potential adopters. Hypotheses 1, 2, and 3 compare the relationship between attitude (A) and behavioral intention (BI) across the three

adopter groups while Hypothesis 4, 5, and 6 compare the relationship between subjective norm (SN) and behavioral intention (BI) across the groups.

Both earlier and later adopters having direct experience with IT would rely more on attitude rather than subjective norm in determining behavioral intention (Karahanna et al. 1999), compared with potential adopters (H1 and H2). Earlier adopters, those who adopt before the average users, have more concrete knowledge of the innovation than later adopters; therefore, a stronger linkage between attitude and intention is expected in the earlier adopter group (H3).

Subjective norm has been found to be more important for the potential adopters than the users (Hartwick and Barki 1994; Karahanna et al. 1999; Taylor and Todd 1995a); therefore it is reasonable to assume that subjective norm will be more influential in shaping potential adopters' behavioral intention than earlier (H4) or later adopters' (H5). Later adopters, in contrast to earlier adopters, in order to confirm their behavior, will rely heavily on their subjective norm (Rogers 1995). Consequently, hypothesis 6 postulates that the strength of SN→BI will be stronger for later adopters than for earlier adopters.

- H7: Perceived usefulness (PU) will be a significantly stronger factor for earlier adopters than for later adopters of IT in determining attitude.
- H8: Perceived usefulness (PU) will be a significantly stronger factor for later adopters than for potential adopters of IT in determining attitude.

H9: Perceived usefulness (PU) will be a significantly stronger factor for earlier adopters than for potential adopters of IT in determining attitude.

The literature reports inconsistent results on the relationships between behavioral belief variables and attitude. While the majority of the studies make no distinctions between earlier and later adopters and potential adopters, we intend to demonstrate that these relationships are different among the three types of adopters. We selected two behavioral beliefs that have been extensively studied, perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use. Hypotheses 7, 8, and 9 investigate the perceived usefulness construct and hypotheses 10, 11, and 12 study the perceived ease of use construct.

Perceived usefulness is reported in some studies to be a significantly stronger factor for users in shaping their attitude than for potential adopters (Davis 1989; Szajna 1996); therefore, we hypothesize that the strength of PU \rightarrow A path will be significantly stronger for later adopters than for potential adopters (H8) and for the earlier adopters than for potential adopters (H9). For continuous users, their attitude relies on positive information, for example, the usefulness of an innovation (Karahanna et al. 1999). More specifically, as earlier adopters continue using IT, their attitude will become increasingly manipulated by their knowledge of IT (Karahanna et al. 1999). Perceived usefulness is directly related to IT functions; therefore, its effect on attitude is expected to be stronger for earlier adopters (H7).

- H10: Perceived ease of use (EOU) will be a significantly weaker factor for earlier adopters than for later adopters of IT in determining attitude.
- H11: Perceived ease of use (EOU) will be a significantly weaker factor for later adopters than for potential adopters of IT in determining attitude.
- H12: Perceived ease of use (EOU) will be a significantly weaker factor for earlier adopters than for potential adopters of IT in determining attitude.

On the contrary, perceived ease of use is believed to be more important at early stages of diffusion, consequently, it is more dominant in determining potential adopters' attitude (Adams et al. 1992). Therefore, the strength of EOU→Attitude path is hypothesized to be stronger for potential adopters than for users (H11 and H12). The effect of ease of use on attitude is less apparent as earlier adopters have more experience with IT; hence, we expect to see a weaker effect of perceived ease of use for earlier adopters than for later adopters (H10).

- H13: Individual innovativeness (II) will be positively correlated with IT usage for the earlier adopter group.
- H14: Individual innovativeness (II) will be positively correlated with IT usage for the later adopter group
- H15: Individual innovativeness (II) will be positively correlated with potential adopters' intention to adopt IT.

Hypotheses 13, 14, and 15 examine the relationship between individual innovativeness and behavioral intention. The more innovative a person is, the

more likely he/she will adopt or use an IT (Agarwal and Prasad 1997; Rogers 1995). We intend to test this relationship in each of the three adopter groups, earlier adopter (H13), later adopter (H14), and potential adopter (H15). The purpose of these hypotheses is to gain further insight into the utility of the individual innovativeness instrument, which could be a substitute for the time of adoption.

- H16: Earlier adopters will be more innovative than later adopters.
- H17: Later adopters will be more innovative than potential adopters
- H18: Earlier adopters will be more innovative than potential adopters.

Hypotheses 16, 17, and 18 are intended to test whether earlier, later, and potential adopters will be different along the individual innovativeness dimension. A person who is more innovative will be more likely to adopt an IT early (Rogers 1995); therefore, the mean of individual innovativeness will be higher for earlier adopters than for later adopters (H16). To test H16, we compare the latent means of individual innovativeness to see whether they are significantly different between later adopters and earlier adopters. Similarly, potential adopters may be less innovative than the users; consequently, we hypothesize that users will be more innovative than potential adopters (H17 and H18). To test these hypotheses, the latent means of individual innovativeness are compared between potential adopters and users. One purpose of these hypotheses is to

check to see whether we can use the innovativeness instrument to classify the adopters.

- H19: Perceived voluntariness will have a significant effect on usage for earlier adopters.
- H20: Perceived voluntariness will be negatively correlated with usage (U) for later adopters.
- H21: Perceived voluntariness (VOL) will be negatively correlated with behavioral intention (BI) for potential adopters.

The effect of voluntariness is explored in Hypotheses 19, 20, and 21. The knowledge of the effect of voluntariness would be highly practical for the IT managers in designing policies to facilitate IT diffusion. There is evidence that the effect of voluntariness differs among the users (Agarwal and Prasad 1997). Earlier adopters, being more innovative tend to rely mainly on their evaluations of the innovation in determining their behavior; therefore, we hypothesize that there will be a significant effect of voluntariness on earlier adopter usage (H19). Hypothesis 19 is stated in non-null form, thus we intent to reject this hyupothsis. However, later adopters are more reluctant even when they are presented with ample opportunities to adopt the innovation; the effect of voluntariness will be effective on later adopters. Thus, H20 hypothesizes that later adopters' actual behavior, which is IT usage, will be influenced by perceived voluntariness negatively. Similarly, potential adopters tend to be more eager to adopt if the use of an IT is perceived to be mandatory (low voluntariness; Rogers 1995),

therefore, H21 postulates that for potential adopters, there will be a significant negative relationship between voluntariness and behavioral intention).

Table 7 lists the hypotheses and their corresponding data samples and testing methods. Three types of analyses were used in hypothesis testing: 1) testing of the regression coefficient equivalence using multi-group analysis (H1, H2, H3, H4, H5, H6, H7, H8, H9, H10, H11, and H12), 2) examining the significance and direction of parameter estimates (H13, H14, H15, H19, H20, and H21), and 3) testing of the latent mean invariance using multi-group analysis (H16, H17, and H18).

Table 7. Hypothesis Testing Methods and Data Sets		
Hypothesis	Sample/Group	Test/Analysis
H1: The effect of attitude (A) on behavioral intention (BI) will be stronger for earlier adopters than for later adopters.	Earlier adopters Later adopters	Test the equivalence of the regression of Behavioral Intention on Attitude using multi-group analysis
H2: The effect of attitude (A) on behavioral intention (BI) will be stronger for later adopters than for potential adopters.	Later adopters Potential adopters	Test the equivalence of the regression of Behavioral Intention on Attitude using multi-group analysis
H3: The effect of attitude (A) on behavioral intention (BI) will be stronger for earlier adopters than for potential adopters.	Earlier adopters Potential adopters	Test the equivalence of the regression of Behavioral Intention on Attitude using multi-group analysis
H4: The effect of subjective norm (SN) on behavioral intention (BI) will be weaker for earlier adopters than for later adopters.	Earlier adopters Later adopters	Test the equivalence of the regression of Behavioral Intention on Subjective Norm using multi- group analysis
H5: The effect of subjective norm (SN) on behavioral intention (BI) will be weaker for later adopters than for potential adopters.	Later adopters Potential adopters	Test the equivalence of the regression of Behavioral Intention on Subjective Norm using multi- group analysis
H6: The effect of subjective norm (SN) on behavioral intention (BI) will be weaker for earlier adopters than for potential adopters.	Earlier adopters Potential adopters	Test the equivalence of the regression of Behavioral Intention on Subjective Norm using multi- group analysis
H7: Perceived usefulness (PU) will be a significantly stronger factor for earlier adopters than for later adopters of IT in determining attitude.	Earlier adopters Later adopters	Test the equivalence of the regression of Attitude on Perceived Usefulness using multi-group analysis

Table 7. Continued		
Hypothesis	Sample/Group	Test/Analysis
H8: Perceived usefulness (PU) will be a significantly stronger factor for later adopters than for potential adopters of IT in determining attitude.	Later adopters Potential adopters	Test the equivalence of the regression of Attitude on Perceived Usefulness using multi-group analysis
H9: Perceived usefulness (PU) will be a significantly stronger factor for earlier adopters than for potential adopters of IT in determining attitude.	Earlier adopters Potential adopters	Test the equivalence of the regression of Attitude on Perceived Usefulness using multi-group analysis
H10: Perceived ease of use (EOU) will be a significantly weaker factor for earlier adopters than for later adopters of IT in determining attitude.	Earlier adopters Later adopters	Test the equivalence of the regression of Attitude on Perceived Ease of Use using multi-group analysis
H11: Perceived ease of use (EOU) will be a significantly weaker factor for later adopters than for potential adopters of IT in determining attitude.	Later adopters Potential adopters	Test the equivalence of the regression of Attitude on Perceived Ease of Use using multi-group analysis
H12: Perceived ease of use (EOU) will be a significantly weaker factor for earlier adopters than for potential adopters of IT in determining attitude.	Earlier adopters Potential adopters	Test the equivalence of the regression of Attitude on Perceived Ease of Use using multi-group analysis
H13: Individual innovativeness (II) will be positively correlated with IT usage for the earlier adopter group.	Earlier adopters	Examine the significance and direction of the Individual Innovativeness->Usage path estimate

Table 7. Continued		
Hypothesis	Sample/Group	Test/Analysis
H14: Individual innovativeness (II) will be positively correlated with IT usage for the later adopter group.	Later adopters	Examine the significance and direction of the Individual Innovativeness→Usage path estimate
H15: Individual innovativeness (II) will be positively correlated with potential adopters' intention to adopt IT.	Potential adopters	Examine the significance and direction of the Individual Innovativeness→Behavioral Intention path estimate
H16: Earlier adopters will be more innovative than later adopters.	Earlier adopters Later adopters	Test latent mean (individual innovativeness) difference using multi-group analysis
H17: Later adopters will be more innovative than potential adopters.	Later adopters Potential adopters	Test latent mean (individual innovativeness) difference using multi-group analysis
H18: Earlier adopters will be more innovative than potential adopters.	Earlier adopters Potential adopters	Test latent mean (individual innovativeness) difference using multi-group analysis
H19: Perceived voluntariness will have a significant effect on usage for earlier adopters.	Earlier adopters	Examine the significance and direction of the Voluntariness→Usage path estimate
H20: Perceived voluntariness will be negatively correlated with usage (U) for later adopters.	Later adopters	Examine the significance and direction of the Voluntariness→Usage path estimate
H21: Perceived voluntariness (VOL) will be negatively correlated with behavioral intention (BI) for potential adopters.	Potential adopters	Examine the significance and direction of the voluntariness→Behavioral Intention path estimate

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

In this section, we discuss how the research is conducted. We choose to examine the diffusion and use of E-Mail and word processing software (WP). The rationale behind selecting these applications is that they have been studied in the United States and other countries (e.g., Agarwal and Prasad 1998; Straub et al. 1997); therefore, comparisons can be drawn across cultures. In addition, we conducted a preliminary examination of field study subjects regarding the type of software used at work. The finding was that E-Mail and WP are the most accessible computer software among the Chinese companies. Microsoft Office products, MS Outlook and MS Word are the dominant applications.

A combination of field survey and interviews were employed to collect data. The prototypical methodology for diffusion research, established in 1941, is one-shot survey interviews with the adopters of an innovation, who are asked to recall their adoption behavior and decisions (Rogers 1995). Because recall data may suffer from poor accuracy (Rogers 1995), we minimize the use of recall data. We only asked the current users to recall when they first adopted the computer software (E-Mail or WP).

The study is field survey-based at the individual level (to test Models 1 and 2). The survey was given to employees in selected Chinese companies. To test the organizational level model, we collected data through interviews with IS directors or managers and analyzed organizational documents and brochures.

75

Scale Development

The questionnaire items are based on concepts and scales developed and found in U.S. research; therefore we must be cautious when using the questionnaires in other cultures. Cross-cultural research stresses the importance of equivalence. In this study, the scales were developed to establish, at minimum, structural or construct equivalence. Construct equivalence is achieved when the same construct is measured even though it is operationalized differently across cultures (Vijver and Leung 1997). With construct equivalence, it is feasible to compare the results of this study with existing ones in the relationships of the constructs.

The scale development process was three-fold. First, the scales were operationalized by adopting and adapting items from the existing scales. Second, the scales were translated into Chinese and pretested (the English version of the questionnaire used in the pretest can be found in Appendix A) and pilot tested for reliability. Third, the resulting instrument from the pilot test was applied to the field survey.

Operationalization of the Scales

Table 8 shows the major studies from which the items were adopted. The reliability coefficients of the scales are presented. As shown in Table 8, the

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

scales demonstrate good reliability with the exception of selected constructs (shaded in Table 8).

Table 8. Existing Scales and Their Reliability.				
(Number of items in each scale is in the parentheses)				
Construct	Cronbach's Alpha			
	Karahanna et al. 1999		Moore and Benbasat 1991	Agarwal and Prasad 1997
	Users (N = 161)	Potential Adopters (N = 107)	Users and potential adopters (N = 270)	Users (N=73)
Sample	Organizational employees	Organizational employees	Organizational employees	Part-time MBA Students
Technology	Windows	Windows	Personal Computers	www
Perceived Usefulness	.88(4)	.90	.95 (9)	.90
Result Demonstrability	.82(3)	.76	.81(4)	.81
Image	.84(3)	.83	.79(5)	.85
Trialability	.95(3)	.92	.73(5)	.30
Compatibility	.88(3)	.93	.88(4)	.84
Ease of Use	.87(3)	.90	.81(8)	.80
Visibility	.90(2)	.98	.72(5)	.51
Attitude	.90(3)	.94		
Intention	.50(2)	.90		.81
Voluntariness	.71(2)	.74	.82(4)	
Usage				.92

When operationalizing the scales of the instrument, we first established content validity, "the degree to which the score or scale being used represents the concept about which generalizations are to be made" (Davis 1989, p. 91). Simply put, the instrument should contain the items that fit the content domains.

The primary method undertaken to establish content validity was to develop the survey instrument using prior literature. In previous studies, each scale contains three to four items; sometimes the same scale is operationalized differently in different studies; therefore, similar items from different studies were included for the preliminary instrument. The purpose was to ensure there were enough items for each construct entering the measurement refinement process; we anticipated that some of the items would be aggregated and deleted in translation, pretest, and pilot test.

Operationalization of the Independent Variables

The constructs were operationalized using scales tested in previous studies. The scales selected were used to test adoption of similar technologies. The majority of the items were adopted from Karahanna et al. (1999) and Moore and Benbasat (1991). Fully anchored 7-point Likert scales were used with end points being "strongly disagree" and "strongly agree".

The items shown below are worded for IT (E-Mail or word processing software) users. The items for potential adopters are reworded.

Perceived Usefulness/Relative Advantage (PU)

- 1. Using E-Mail/word processing software helps me to accomplish tasks more quickly (Karahanna et al. 1999).
- 2. Using E-Mail/word processing software improves the quality of my work. (Karahanna et al. 1999).

- 3. Using E-Mail/word processing software enhances my effectiveness on the job (Karahanna et al. 1999).
- 4. Using E-Mail/word processing software makes my job easier (Karahanna et al. 1999).
- 5. Using E-Mail/word processing software improves my job performance (Davis 1989).
- 6. Using E-Mail/word processing software gives me greater control over my job (Moore and Benbasat 1991).
- 7. Using E-Mail/word processing software in my job increases my productivity (Davis 1989).
- 8. I find E-Mail/word processing software useful in my job (Davis 1989).

Ease of Use/Complexity (EOU)

- 1. Learning to use E-Mail/word processing software was easy for me (Karahanna et al. 1999).
- 2. E-Mail/word processing software is easy to use (Karahanna et al. 1999).
- 3. It is easy to get E-Mail/word processing software to do what I want it to do (Moore and Benbasat 1991).
- 4. My interaction with E-Mail/word processing software is clear and understandable (Davis 1989).
- 5. I find E-Mail/word processing software to be flexible to interact with (Davis 1989).
- 6. It is easy for me to become skillful at using E-Mail/word processing software (Davis 1989).

Compatibility (COM)

- 1. Using E-Mail/word processing software is compatible with most aspects of my work (Karahanna et al. 1999).
- 2. Using E-Mail/word processing software fits my work style (Karahanna et al. 1999).
- 3. Using E-Mail/word processing software fits well with the way I like to work (Karahanna et al. 1999).
- 4. Using E-Mail/word processing software is very compatible with the way I like to work (Moore and Benbasat 1991).

Trialability (TR)

- 1. Before I started using E-Mail/word processing software, I was able to use it on a trial basis (Karahanna et al. 1999).
- 2. Before I started using E-Mail/word processing software, I was able to properly try it out (Karahanna et al. 1999).
- 3. I was permitted to use E-Mail/word processing software long enough to see what it can do (Karahanna et al. 1999).

- 4. I was able to experiment with E-Mail/word processing software as necessary (Moore and Benbasat 1991).
- 5. I had E-Mail/word processing software for a long enough period to try it out (Moore and Benbasat 1991).

Visibility

- 1. In my organization, one sees E-Mail/word processing software on many computers (Karahanna et al. 1999).
- 2. In my organization, I have seen many people with E-Mail/word processing software on their computers (Karahanna et al. 1999).
- 3. I have seen what other people do using E-Mail/word processing software (Moore and Benbasat 1991).
- 4. It is easy for me to observe others using E-Mail/word processing software in my company (Moore and Benbasat 1991).
- 5. I have had plenty of opportunity to see E-Mail/word processing software being used (Moore and Benbasat 1991).
- 6. I have not seen many others using E-Mail/word processing software in my department (Moore and Benbasat 1991).

Result Demonstrability (RD)

- 1. The results of using E-Mail/word processing software are apparent to me (Moore and Benbasat 1991).
- 2. I could communicate to others the pros and cons of using E-Mail/word processing software (Karahanna et al. 1999).
- 3. I have no difficulty telling others about the results of using E-Mail/ word processing software (Karahanna et al. 1999).
- 4. I would have difficulty explaining why using E-Mail/ word processing software may or may not be beneficial (Moore and Benbasat 1991).

Image

- 1. People who use E-Mail/word processing software have high status in the organization (Moore and Benbasat 1991).
- 2. People who use E-Mail/word processing software have more prestige than those who do not (Moore and Benbasat 1991).
- 3. Using E-Mail/word processing software is a status symbol (Moore and Benbasat 1991).
- 4. Using E-Mail/word processing software improves my image within the organization (Moore and Benbasat 1991).

(Item 1: Agarwal and Prasad, 1997 used "profile" and Karahanna et al. 1999 substituted it with "status".)

Normative Beliefs about Using IT (NB)

- 1. Top management thinks I should use E-Mail/word processing software (Karahanna et al. 1999).
- 2. My supervisor thinks I should use E-Mail/word processing software (Karahanna et al. 1999).
- 3. Peers think I should use E-Mail/word processing software (Karahanna et al. 1999).
- 4. Friends think I should use E-Mail/word processing software (Karahanna et al. 1999).
- 5. MIS department thinks I should use E-Mail/word processing software (Karahanna et al. 1999).
- 6. Computer Specialists in the company think I should use E-Mail/word processing software (Karahanna et al. 1999).

Individual Innovativeness (II)

Self reported measures were used to measure individual innovativeness

(Adopted from Agarwal and Prasad 1998): (II)

- 1. If I hear about a new information technology, I would look for a way to experiment with it.
- 2. Among my peers, I am usually the first to try out new information technologies.
- 3. In general, I am hesitant to try out new information technologies. (Reverse scale item)
- 4. I like to experiment with new technologies.

Voluntariness (Vol)

- 1. Although it might be helpful, using E-Mail/word processing software is certainly not compulsory in my company (Karahanna et al. 1999).
- 2. My supervisor does not require me to use E-Mail/word processing software (Karahanna et al. 1999).
- 3. My use of E-Mail/word processing software is voluntary. (Moore and Benbasat 1991)
- 4. My supervisor expects me to use E-Mail/word processing software. (Moore and Benbasat 1991) (Reverse scale)

Attitude (A)

The attitudinal items use fully anchored 7-point Likert scales.

Using E-Mail/word processing software on my job is

- 1. Extremely negative ... Extremely positive (Karahanna et al. 1999).
- 2. Extremely good ... Extremely bad (Karahanna et al. 1999).
- 3. Extremely harmful...Extremely beneficial (Karahanna et al. 1999).
- 4. Unpleasant ... Pleasant (Taylor and Todd 1995b).
- 5. Useless Useful (Barki and Hartwick 1994).
- 6. Worthless Valuable (Barki and Hartwick 1994).
- 7. Terrible....Terrific (Barki and Hartwick 1994).
- 8. I like using E-Mail/word processing software (Agarwal and Prasad 1999).
- 9. E-Mail/word processing software is fun to use (Agarwal and Prasad 1999).
- 10.1 dislike using E-Mail/word processing software (Agarwal and Prasad 1999).
- 11. E-Mail/word processing software provides an attractive working environment (Agarwal and Prasad 1999).

Subjective norm (SN)

- 1. Most people who are important to me think I should use E-Mail/word processing software (Karahanna et al. 1999).
- 2. Most people who influence my behavior think I should use E-Mail/word processing software (Taylor and Todd 1995b).

Behavioral Intention (BI)

- 1. I intend to continue using E-Mail/word processing software (Karahanna et al. 1999).
- 2. I intend to increase my use of E-Mail/word processing software (Karahanna et al. 1999).
- 3. Assuming I had access to E-Mail/word processing software, I intend to use it (Venkatesh and Davis 1996).
- 4. Given that I had access to E-Mail/word processing software, I predict that I would use it (Venkatesh and Davis 1996).

Operationalization of the Dependent Variable

Diffusion is measured by a cumulative frequency, which can be plotted on a twodimensional plane: time (x) and the cumulative percentage of individual adopting an innovation at a given time (y). Year is used to measure time. Therefore, individuals will be asked to recall when he/she adopted (started using) a particular IT innovation. In China, the major development and business use of information systems and technology started in 1993; therefore, recalling may not be too difficult. Other usage scales were adopted from the TAM model and related studies in which self-reported measures are widely used (Ajzen and Fishbein 1980; Davis 1989). The following scale was used in Davis, Bagozzi, and Warshaw's 1989 study.

The four questions used to assess usage (U) were adapted from Agarwal and Presed 1997:

Prasad 1997:

- 1. I use E-Mail/word processing software a lot to do my work.
- 2. I use E-Mail/word processing software whenever possible to do my work
- 3. I use E-Mail/word processing software frequently to do my work
- 4. I use E-Mail/word processing software whenever appropriate to do my work

Instrument Translation

Two independent translators translated the instrument into Chinese. Both translators are native Chinese speakers and have extensive computing and work

____Not at all; ____ less than once a week; ___about once a week; ___2 or 3 times a week; 4 to 6 times a week; ___about once a day; ___more than once a day.

experiences in China. They also possess a good command of English. First, the translators were instructed to use consistent sentence structures in their When both translations were completed, the translators were translations. brought together along with the author to compare their translations. The translators agreed on approximately 90% (73 out of 82 items) of the translation. Out of 82 items, only eight items were translated with moderate inconsistency between the two translators and one item (I could communicate to others the pros and cons of using E-Mail) was translated incorrectly by one translator who misinterpreted "communicate." The translator later accepted the other translation. The other eight items differed in keyword selection. When discussed, consensus was reached. The remaining items were equivalent in the two translations, with some items differing in minor word selections. All discrepancies were discussed and resolved. The subsequent instrument, approved by both translators and the author was used in the pretest.

Pre-test

The instrument possesses a reasonable level of face validity, which was gained through the translation process. The major purpose of the pretest was to refine the wording of instrument, thereby reinforcing face validity. Face validity is established when the items of a scale ask the questions we think they are or simply "look right" (Churchill 1979). Face validity can also be achieved through the use of experts.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

The translated instrument was pre-tested among a group of Chinese E-Mail users. The survey was posted on the web. The link was sent with a message explaining the intended purposes of the questionnaire to two LISTSERVs: University of Chicago Chinese students and New York University Chinese students. Individual messages were sent to personal contacts. Twenty-one usable responses (N = 21) were received.

The respondents were asked to provide feedback on the length of the questionnaire, the format of the scales, and the wording of the items. They were encouraged to also identify other relevant factors not included in the questionnaire. Because similar items were purposefully included, based on the suggestions from the respondents, the ambiguous items were refined by rewording with the help of four Chinese computer users, both experts and new users, at this stage. A set of items demonstrating face validity was retained for the pilot test.

Pilot Test

Before the field survey was conducted, a pilot test was carried out. The primary purpose of the pilot test is to check the reliability of the instrument. Also, the format of the instrument was evaluated. The pilot test was conducted in a large state-owned enterprise in Shanghai, China. A total of 50 employees were surveyed. All respondents were users of both E-Mail and word processing software.

85

There are approximately 769 employees in this company. We coached several individuals to distribute the questionnaires. Also, we visited some offices to distribute and collect questionnaires directly from the respondents. In a week, 50 forms were collected and used for the pilot analysis. Two forms were not usable due to incomplete responses.

Fourteen constructs containing 69 items were tested for reliability. Individual construct reliability was assessed and reported in Table 9. Based on item total correlation, items with low correlation were first considered for deletion. Because we purposefully included as many items as possible for each construct, item deletion is justified (Churchill 1979).

One significant problem discovered in the pilot test was that Chinese employees do not react very well to reverse scale items. A total of five items are reverse scale items. One suggestion was to reword the items. Also, many participants commented that the questionnaire was relatively long. As a result of the pilot, 14 items were suggested for deletion based on reliability assessment. Five suggested items were deleted based on strong evidence. The item deletion process is discussed in a later section. However, eight items were retained because the pilot sample size was relatively small. The suggestion for deletion based on a small sample may be unique to the data set. These items were first examined in the final analysis and their deletion was confirmed. The resulting

instrument is consistent with the recommended short scales in the existing studies (Moore and Benbasat 1991). In fact, the scales presented in the IT acceptance literature often consist of two or three items. There were 64 items remaining in addition to the demographic items in the final instrument. The reliability of the 14 constructs, with their reliability before and after their suggested deletion, is shown in Table 9.

Table 9. Pilot Test Cronbach's Reliability Coefficients			
Construct Description	Number of Items Before pilot	Number of Items After pilot	Cronbach's α
1. Perceived Usefulness (PU)	8	6	.90
2. Perceived Ease of Use (EOU)	6	5	.77
3. Compatibility (COM)	4	4	.83
4. Trialability (TR)	5	4	.80
5. Visibility (VI)	6	6	.86
6. Result Demonstrability (RD)	4	4	.74
7. Image (IM)	4	4	.91
8. Normative Beliefs (NB)	6	6	.94
9. Individual Innovativeness (II)	4	4	.68
10. Voluntariness (VOL)	4	4	.71
11. Attitude (A)	8	8	81
12. Subjective Norm (SN)	2	2	.92
13. Behavioral Intention (BI)	4	3	.83
14. Use (U)	4	4	.81
Overall	69	64	.91

The reliability coefficients of constructs 6, 9, and 10, are .74, .68, and .71, respectively, which are relatively low. However, studies reported Cronbach's alpha values as low as .30 to .70 (Agarwal and Prasad 1997; Karahanna et al. 1999; Moore and Benbasat 1991). Generally, it should be around .70 (Bagozzi

et al. 1992; Nunnally 1967). To improve the constructs, we examined the items and discovered that each of these constructs contained a reverse scale item, which may have caused the construct to be relatively unstable. Chinese employees are not familiar with surveys; therefore, reverse scale items may have added confusion. In the final instrument, the items were reworded.

Results

Organized by construct, the items retained are listed below. Please note, crossed-out items were deleted from the instrument. Correlation with corrected item total was assessed. Items with low correlation were first considered for deletion (Nunnally 1967). For the final instrument, please see Appendix B (in Chinese; 12 pages in total). The items used in the E-mail user section of the final instrument are listed in Appendix C (in English). The same questionnaire was given to the word processing software users with the software application reworded.

Perceived Usefulness/Relative advantage (PU)

- 1. Using E-Mail helps me to accomplish tasks more quickly.
- 2. Using E-Mail improves the quality of my work.
- 3. Using E-Mail enhances my effectiveness on the job.
- 4. Using E-Mail makes my job easier.
- 5. Using E-Mail improves my job performance.
- 6. Using E-Mail gives me greater control over my job.
- 7. Using E-Mail in my job increases my productivity.
- 8. I find E-Mail useful in my job.

With all items, $\alpha = .89$ With item 1, 2, 3, 4, 7, & 8, $\alpha = .90$ For the perceived usefulness construct, item 5 was pointed out at the pretest stage because it has very similar meaning to item 3 in the Chinese language. The computer users commented on the redundancy and suggested using only one of the two. Item 3 seems to be more stable based on the reliability analysis; therefore it was chosen to remain in the instrument. "Greater control, " an advantage from item 6, was thought to have a negative connotation in the Chinese language and it was not perceived as an advantage in some situations. Therefore, items 5 and 6 were eliminated from the perceived usefulness construct.

Ease of Use/Complexity (EOU)

- 1. Learning to use E-Mail was easy for me.
- 2. E-Mail is easy to use.
- 3. It is easy to get E-Mail to do what I want it to do.
- 4. My interaction with E-Mail is clear and understandable.
- 5. I find E-Mail to be flexible to interact with.
- 6. It is easy for me to become skillful at using E-Mail.

With all items, $\alpha = .74$ with items 1, 2, 3, 4, & 6, $\alpha = .77$

Item 5 was deleted from the perceived ease of use construct. Aside from the

statistical implication, "flexible" does not apply to use of computer software very

well in the Chinese language. Item 5 assumed little face validity and the scale

improves without it; therefore, item 5 was deleted.

Compatibility (COM)

- 1. Using E-Mail is compatible with most aspects of my work.
- 2. Using E-Mail fits my work style.
- 3. Using E-Mail fits well with the way I like to work.
- 4. Using E-Mail is very compatible with the way I like to work.

With all items, $\alpha = .83$ All items of compatibility were retained. Trialability (TR)

- 1. Before I started using E-Mail, I was able to use it on a trial basis.
- 2. Before I started using E-Mail, I was able to properly try it out.
- 3. I was permitted to use E-Mail long enough to see what it can do.
- 4.---- I was able to experiment with E-Mail as necessary.
- 5. I had E-Mail for a long enough period to try it out.

With all items, $\alpha = .78$ With items 1, 2, 3, & 5, $\alpha = .80$

For the trialability construct, item 4 was only used in one study (Moore and

Benbasat 1991), in which it was only recommended for extended scales. The

exclusion of this item improved the scale reliability; therefore, it was deleted.

<u>Visibility (VI)</u>

- 1. In my organization, one sees E-Mail on many computers.
- 2. In my organization, I have seen many people with E-Mail on their computers.
- 3. I have seen what other people do using E-Mail.
- 4. It is easy for me to observe others using E-Mail in my company.
- 5. I have had plenty of opportunity to see E-Mail being used.
- 6. I have not seen many others using E-Mail in my department. (Reverse scale item)

With all items, $\alpha = .77$ With items 1-5, $\alpha = .86$

Item 6 was suggested for deletion. Chinese employees do not respond to

reverse scale items very well. However, it was retained in the final survey for

confirmation because the sample size of the pilot test is relatively small.

Result Demonstrability (RD)

- 1. The results of using E-Mail are apparent to me.
- 2. I could communicate to others the pros and cons of using E-Mail.
- 3. I have no difficulty telling others about the results of using E-Mail.
- 4. I would have difficulty explaining why using E-Mail may or may not be beneficial. (Reverse scale item)

With all items, $\alpha = .53$ With items 1-3, $\alpha = .74$
Item 4 is a reverse scale item. Similarly, it was retained in the final instrument for

further investigation due to the small sample size.

Image (IM)

- 1. People who use E-Mail have high status in the organization.
- 2. People who use E-Mail have more prestige than those who do not.
- 3. Using E-Mail is a status symbol.
- 4. Using E-Mail improves my image within the organization.

With all items, $\alpha = .91$

All items were retained.

Normative Beliefs About Using the IT (NB)

- 1. Top management thinks I should use E-Mail.
- 2. My Supervisor thinks I should use E-Mail.
- 3. Peers think I should use E-Mail.
- 4. Friends think I should use E-Mail.
- 5. MIS department thinks I should use E-Mail.
- 6. Computer Specialists in the company think I should use E-Mail.

With all items, $\alpha = .94$

All items were retained.

Individual Innovativeness (II)

- 1. If I hear about a new information technology, I would look for a way to experiment with it.
- 2. Among my peers, I am usually the first to try out new information technologies.
- 3. In general, I am hesitant to try out new information technologies. (Reverse scale item)
- 4. I like to experiment with new technologies.

With all items, $\alpha = .60$ With items 1, 2, & 4, $\alpha = .68$

This construct also contains a reverse scale item (item 3), which was retained for

confirmation in the final analysis.

Voluntariness (VOL)

- 1. Although it might be helpful, using E-Mail is certainly not compulsory in my company.
- 2. My supervisor does not require me to use E-Mail.
- 3. My use of E-Mail is voluntary.

4. My supervisor expects me to use E-Mail. (Reverse scale item)

 α = .66 items 1, 2, 4 α = .71

Item 3 was retained for confirmation in the final analysis because the

improvement of the scale without it was marginal.

Attitude (A)

Using E-Mail on my job is

- 1. Extremely good ... extremely bad.
- 2. Extremely harmful...extremely beneficial.
- 3. Useless Useful.
- 4. Worthlessvaluable.
- 5. I like using E-Mail.
- 6. E-Mail is fun to use.
- 7. I dislike using E-Mail. (Reverse scale item)
- 8. E-Mail provides an attractive working environment.

With all items, $\alpha = .81$ With items 1-4, $\alpha = .88$

This shows that the first 4 items together are more reliable than all 8 items of

attitude. They were all retained for more investigation in the field survey.

Subjective norm (SN)

- 1. Most people who are important to me think I should use E-Mail.
- 2. Most people who influence my behavior think I should use E-Mail.

α = .92

Behavioral Intention (BI)

- 1. I intend to continue using E-Mail.
- 2. I intend to increase my use of E-Mail.
- 3. Assuming I had access to E-Mail, I intend to use it.
- 4. Given that I had access to E-Mail, I predict that I would use it.

α = .61

with items 1, 3, 4 α = .83

Users did not respond to "increase my use" very well and because it had a significant impact on the scale reliability, it was deleted from instrument.

Usage (U)

- 1. I use E-Mail a lot to do my work.
- 2. I use E-Mail whenever possible to do my work
- 3. I use E-Mail frequently to do my work
- 4. I use E-Mail whenever appropriate to do my work

α = .80

Overall, the items were deleted based on statistical implications, face validity, and recommendations by other studies. In addition, a number of reverse scale items were retained and reworded for the final instrument. In summary, 13 items were suggested for deletion, of which five were deleted and eight were retained for confirmation in the final analysis. The total number of indicators that remained is 64.

Field Study

The final survey was distributed in Chinese companies in three regions. A total of 828 (number of surveys returned) employees from 30 companies in three Chinese regions were surveyed during June 2000. These companies were conveniently selected based on personal connections. Most of the companies are well established and have a history of 20 or more years.

The questionnaires developed were worded for two different technologies and two categories of employees. The information technologies are E-Mail and word processing software, which were selected because they are commonly known and are among the leading technologies diffused. The large number of employees and companies makes random sampling possible in data collection. Three types of survey forms were used in the field study in order to collect data from the two types of employees, potential adopters and users. See Table 10 for the types of questionnaires and the targeted participants. Please note that each questionnaire is divided into two parts, one for each computer application.

Table 10. Field Survey Questionnaires										
Questionnaire	Part I	Part II								
1	E-mail User	Word processing user								
2	Word processing software user	Potential E-Mail adopter								
3	Potential E-mail adopter	Potential word processing software adopter								

Questionnaire 1 is designed to survey users of both E-mail and word processing applications. Questionnaire 2 is designed to survey current word processing software users and potential adopters of E-mail. Questionnaire 3 is targeted to potential adopters of both E-mail and word processing software.

The purpose of using three different questionnaire forms is, most importantly, to accurately word the questionnaire toward the desired respondent. This will

enable us to make the distinction between potential adopters and users. For example, the questionnaires were worded for the users to assess their perceptions toward *using* E-mail while for the potential adopters it was to assess their perceptions toward *adopting* E-mail. Knowing it is critical to use the correct form, we provided clear instructions to the participants and to those who helped distribute and collect the surveys. The questionnaires were administered with both oral and written instructions. Therefore, even though the survey distribution method varied from one organization to another, we did not expect any impact on the data collected.

The process followed to hand out the correct form to each participant is depicted in Figure 10. First, each participant is screened and classified as a potential adopter or user of E-mail and/or word processing software. The users are easily identified when the respondents state they currently use the applications. If the respondents state that they do not, they are asked if they have sufficient knowledge of the application. This is assessed in a single oral question. If they do, they are classified as a potential adopter of the software. Otherwise, they do not fill out the part of the questionnaire pertaining to that software. Therefore, in cases where individuals are not familiar with either of the applications, he or she will not be qualified to participate in the survey.

A revelation from the pilot survey was that all the E-mail users in the company we surveyed are also word processing software users. The reverse is not true. We

95

also confirmed this situation with other companies. Consequently, the scenario in which an E-Mail user is a potential adopter of word processing software is excluded from our study because of its nonexistence. In the final survey, we follow a series of questions to determine the type of the form to distribute. See Figure 10 for the depiction of the process.



In some companies, we were allowed to interact with and distribute questionnaires to employees directly. In these situations, we started the survey with a brief explanation of the questionnaire followed by an oral instruction to the participants on how to complete the questionnaire. Then we assessed the type of questionnaire to distribute to each employee. The same instructions, also printed at the beginning of the questionnaire, were pointed out to the participants to again ensure the employee had received the correct form. In companies where we were not allowed to interact directly with the employees, an employee from the organization was asked to serve as a contact person. The contact, who distributed and collected the survey, was from the company and was usually a manager or executive. In most of the cases, we held a separate interview session with the contact, during which we gathered information about the organization and explained the purpose and nature of the survey. In order to make the process clear and easy for the contact to follow, we provided a one-page instruction on how to distribute the questionnaire forms. We also emphasized the importance of appropriate distribution, authenticity, and completeness. All contacts performed well in general except one who ignored the instructions. After a discussion with the contact, that set of questionnaires were evaluated and discarded.

In the questionnaire, the participants are asked to rate the extent to which they agree with each statement by circling a description from seven answers arranged horizontally, which are "Strongly Disagree," "Disagree," "Slightly Disagree," "Neutral," "Slight Agree", "Agree," and "Strongly Agree."

Upon collection of the survey, we requested the participant to complete unanswered questions if the respondent returned the survey in person. The contacts were also asked to screen the survey for unanswered items immediately. However, because the surveys are anonymous, when incomplete

97

surveys were undetected upon collection, it was impossible to ask the participants for further information.

It is worthwhile to mention that the format of the final survey was changed during the early stage. Many respondents expressed unwillingness toward filling out the survey because of the length. Originally, printed on A4-size (Dimension: 8.27"x11.69") paper, questionnaire 1 was five pages. Both questionnaire 2 and 3 were four pages. A suggestion was made to print the questionnaires on larger paper (dimension: approximately 11"x17") two-sided and then fold the questionnaire. The questionnaires were reformatted and fitted into one page. The revised final one-page folded survey was much better received.

Companies Surveyed

The field survey was conducted in three cities located in three distinctive regions of China: Shanghai, located in Eastern China; Jinan, located in Northern China; and Hefei, located in Central China. A total of 30 companies were surveyed. These companies were selected based on personal connections. Most of these companies are well known and established either nationally or locally. In Shanghai, a self-regulated city, 16 companies were surveyed, from which 816 cases, including pilot cases, were collected. In Jinan, the capital of Shangdong Province, three companies were surveyed and 85 cases were collected. In Hefei, the capital of Anhui province, 11 companies were surveyed and 701 cases

Table 11. Company Breakdown by Ownership and Number of Employees											
		Ownership	1	Size (Number of Employees)							
Region	State	Private	Joint- Venture	Small/Medium <250	Large >500						
Eastern	8	2	6	12	4						
Northern	3	0	0	0	3						
Central	11	0	0	6	5						
Total	22	2	6	18	12						

were collected. The break down of the companies by region, ownership, and size is in Table 11.

The majority of the companies surveyed were state-owned; two were private, and six were joint-ventures. In regard to size, 18 companies were small/medium (SME) and 12 were large (LE). The size of an SME ranged between 20 and 250 (e.g., Soh et al. 1992; Yap et al. 1992). The large companies in this study had over 500 employees. In each company, the minimum number of employees surveyed was 20.

Sample Demographics

Profiles of the respondents are provided in Table 12. For each variable, the percentage of missing values is placed under a not reported category. Approximately 40% of the respondents were between 23 and 28, which is representative of the young work force in China. Approximately 60% of the respondents were male and 30% female. The largest group, based on the

highest degree obtained, was college graduates. The survey covered every level of organization.

Table 12. Sample Demographics									
Variables	Sample	Percentage							
	Composition								
Age	18-22	40.1 %							
	23-28	23.1 %							
	29-34	17.3 %							
	35-44	8.6 %							
	45-55	1.7 %							
	55+	7.1 %							
	Not reported	2.1%							
Gender	Men	60.8 %							
	Women	30.5 %							
	Not reported	8.7%							
Hisbast Educational Laura		4.2.9/							
Attained	Junior nign	1.3 %							
Attained									
	Associate degree								
	College degree								
	Masters	11.8 %							
	Doctorate	0.1%							
	Not reported	10.0%							
Organizational level	Executive	2.2%							
represented	Management	23.9%							
-	Professional	34.5%							
	Technical/clerk	25.6%							
	Student	12.8%							
L	Not reported	1.0%							

DATA ANALYSIS

In this section, we discuss the data analysis process as follows:

- (1) data recording and missing values;
- (2) outlier detection;
- (3) data subsets;
- (4) scale reliability assessment;
- (5) two-step model testing: measurement model testing followed by structural model (performed for both user and potential adopter models);
- (6) hypothesis testing (21 hypotheses); and
- (7) organizational level model assessment.

Data Recording and Missing Values

Before data entry, the questionnaires were coded and screened. Each questionnaire collected, regardless of its usability, was given a unique number, which is used as an integrity check. Data collected from the field survey were first entered into several spreadsheet files.

A preliminary data screening was performed manually prior to entering data. Some questionnaires were incomplete when received from the contacts. Because participants were anonymous, incomplete surveys were not returnable to original respondents. Data were entered with missing values, which were treated using listwise deletion in data analysis. Eleven questionnaires that were filled with uniform answers (e.g., 7 for all items on a page) were discarded. It was noted that the uniform answers were evidenced in the second part of the questionnaire. We speculate that it was due to the length of the questionnaire; therefore, the first part of the questionnaires was retained while the other part was discarded. In cases where wrong questionnaires were selected, the questionnaires were discarded. However, the number of such cases was small; therefore, the reliability of the survey should have not been affected. For example, if the usage questions in a form were left blank while the other parts were attempted, we were confident that the respondent chose the wrong form; the form was discarded. In addition, a set of approximately 30 questionnaires from one company were discarded because the respondents chose the wrong questionnaires. This case was an exception because the contact person (admittedly) did not follow the procedures outlined.

After the initial screening, several items were coded on the questionnaire to facilitate data entry. The items include measures of attitude, frequency of usage, length of usage, age, and education. Four data entry persons were used. Data from separate spreadsheet files were combined into one SPSS file. The frequency and range of each variable was assessed. Outliers resulting from data entry (e.g., 77 for a perceived usefulness item) were resolved by revisiting the original questionnaires using the unique number assigned to the questionnaire. The total number of data points (cases), including cases with missing values was 1714. The number of data points by type of respondents is presented in Table 13:

Table 13. Types of Respondent in the Sample								
		Frequency	Percent					
User	Email User	650	37.9					
	WP* User	701	40.9					
Potential A	Adopter Email Adopter	245	14.3					
	WP Adopter	118	6.9					
	Tota	1714	100.0					
(4) 4 (5)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·							

(*WP: word processing software)

Cases with missing values were evaluated for elimination. In any particular construct, if there was more than one missing value, the case was deleted. Unanswered demographic information, including age, gender, education, and position, were not considered as missing values. The resulting sample size was 1,635. Data were separated into two subsets: the user group (N = 1,296) and the potential adopter group (N = 339). Next, the approach took to divide the user group into earlier and later adopter subsets is discussed.

Data Subsets

In order to test the hypotheses that investigate the differences between earlier and later adopters, the user sample was divided further into earlier adopters and later adopters based on time of adoption reported by each subject. The innovation diffusion classification framework is used to divide the user sample (see Table 1 and Figure 1, Rogers 1983) (and also Brancheau and Wetherbe 1990). The overall usable sample size for testing hypothesis pertaining to users was 1,097 (N), the number of respondents who reported the time of adoption. The following descriptions outline the data sample division approach. According to innovation diffusion theory, users account for 84% of the IT diffusion in general (Rogers 1983). The relative percentage (within the 84% adopters) was used to calculate the sample size for each adopter category. As indicated previously, the two groups, early majority and late majority, which account for almost 70% of all adopters were the focus of this study. These two categories are referred to as earlier and later adopter in the study. The relative percentage for the earlier and late adopters was approximately 40% each. Table 14 shows the approximate sample sizes of the adopter groups based on the overall user sample size 1,097: 444 each for the earlier and later adopters.

Next, the raw data was sorted by the time of adoption. The approximate sample size was used to guide the division of the user sample. The resulting data subsets were earlier adopter (N = 442), later adopter (N = 442), and potential adopter (N = 339). The time of adoption ranged from early 1995 to the end of 1997 for the earlier adopters and from early 1998 to mid 2000 for the later adopters.

Table 14. Adopter Sample Classification										
Туре	%	Relative %	N	Adoption ranges (mm/yy)						
Innovator	2.5%	3.0%	33	4/84-6/90						
Early Adopter	13.5%	16.0%	176	7/90-2/95						
Early Majority*	34.0%	40.5%	444	3/95-12/97						
Late Majority**	34.0%	40.5%	444	1/98-6/00						
Total	84.0%	100.0%	1097							

Note: * Referred to as "earlier adopter" in the analysis and discussions ** Referred to as "later adopter" in the analysis and discussions

Outliers

In this section, the detection of outliers is discussed. Outliers in multivariate analysis can significantly affect the results of structural equation modeling and such extreme case can be deleted (West et al. 1995). Outliers were detected in the overall sample (all adopter sample points combined, N = 1635) first using univariate and then multivariate techniques. The univariate technique refers to selecting cases with standardized variable values exceeding ± 3 (Hair et al. 1998). For each of the 56 variables, such cases were detected. The cases with the highest frequencies were first examined. A total of 48 cases that were suggested for four or more times were deleted using univariate technique. Then, the multivariate technique, which is model-dependent, is applied because some outliers are only detectable using the multivariate technique (West et al. 1995). The variables were grouped by the 14 constructs. Each variable was regressed against the other variables within the same construct. The outliers were detected using SPSS. A total of 124 cases that were detected for four or more times were suggested under the multivariate method. Twenty-one cases were suggested by both methods. Therefore, the total number of unique cases deleted was 151.

The resulting data sample sizes were 400, 382, and 317 for the earlier, later, and potential adopter groups, respectively. In order to ensure the validity of the adopter subsets, we compared the demographics (e.g., age, education, and job level) within each adopter category with prior findings. The chi-square test of independence was used to assess the relationship between each demographic

variable and adopter type, which are ordinal variables. The Spearman's rank correlation coefficient was used to assess the relationships. Adopter type is coded as 1 for earlier adopter, 2 for later adopter, and 3 for potential adopter. All the demographic variables are rank ordered from the lowest to the highest. Age is coded as 1 for 18-22, 2 for 23-28, 3 for 29-34, 4 for 35-44, 5 for 45-55, and 6 for (55+). Education is coded as 1 for Junior High, 2 for High School, 3 for Associate Degree, 4 for College Degree, 5 for Master's degree, and 6 for Doctorate. Job level is coded as 1 for Student, 2 for Technical/Clerk, 3 for Professional, 4 for Management, and 5 for Executive.

Age. In the literature, there are inconsistent findings on the relationship between age and innovativeness (earliness of adoption), which by definition is equivalent to adopter type: among 228 studies examined by Rogers (1983), 50% found no relationship, 19% negative, and 33% positive. Age can be analyzed in two ways: age reported currently and age at the time of adoption (Rogers 1983). In the IS field, research has found that earlier adopters were younger than later adopters and later adopters were younger than potential adopters (e.g., Brancheau and Wetherbe 1990). In our study, both age reported currently as well as age at the time of adoption type ($r_s = .26$, p = .00; $r_s = .29$, p = .00). This result was consistent with prior IS findings.

Education. One generalization that innovation diffusion studies drew is that earlier adopters have more years of education than later adopters (Rogers 1983).

IS research has found that earlier adopters have more education than later adopters (e.g., Brancheau and Wetherbe 1990). In this study, education was found to correlate significantly with innovativeness ($r_s = -.46$, p = .00), which means that later adopters tended to have less education. The result was consistent with prior findings.

Job Level. Job level is found to have a positive relationship with innovativeness in 2/3 of the innovation studies (Rogers 1983). In the current study, we found a positive, yet a nonsignificant relationship ($r_s = .03$, p = .45). The result does not contradict prior findings.

Overall, the adopter types demonstrate consistent characteristics and provide appropriate foundation for further analysis. Next, the reliability of the scales is assessed for the overall sample followed by the assessment of the adopter subsets.

Scale Reliability

Scale reliability was assessed based on available values. It was evaluated using Cronbach's alpha. In Table 15, the overall sample and earlier, later, and potential adopter subset reliability coefficients are presented.

Some items were suggested for deletion by the pilot test results. Those items were kept in the final instrument because we were not confident due to the small sample size in the pilot study. The suggested deletions were confirmed at this

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

stage. It should also be noted that the items deleted were not included in the short scales suggested in some studies (e.g., Moore and Benbasat 1991). The refined instrument used in analysis contained 56 indicators. All constructs, except subjective norm had three or more items. Table 15 shows the reliability coefficient α of each construct for the overall, earlier adopter, later adopter, and potential adopter data sample, respectively.

Adopters											
	Cronbach's α										
Construct (# of Items)	Overail	Earlier Adopter	Later Adopter	Potential Adopter							
Perceived Usefulness (6)	.93	.92	.89	.94							
Perceived Ease of Use (5)	.87	.86	.83	.91							
Compatibility (4)	.87	.86	.81	.89							
Trialability (4)	.86	.88	.83	.89							
Visibility (5)	.91	.90	.86	.91							
Result Demonstrability (3)	.82	.74	.80	.84							
Image (4)	.95	.93	.93	.95							
Normative Believes (6)	.94	.95	.92	.92							
Innovativeness (3)	.71	.66	.70	.76							
Voluntariness (3)	.87	.86	.83	.91							
Attitude (4)	.88	.89	.87	.80							
Subjective Norm (2)	.94	.94	.93	.91							
Behavioral Intention (3)	.82	.86	.83	.70							
Usage (4)	.86	.84	.84	-							

Table 15 Reliability Coefficients: Overall Farlier Later and Potential

Overall, the scales were reliable in this study. The reliability coefficients ranged from .66 to .95. Generally, the values should be above .70 (Nunnally 1967). Only one scale was below that value: II (individual innovativeness) for the earlier adopter subset (.66). Further tests were used to refine the construct.

Table 16 gives a summary table of the means, standard deviations, and correlations for all research variables based on the overall sample.

The construct validity of the measurement was assessed. Construct validity relates "to the question of what the instrument is in fact measuring" (Churchill 1979, p. 70). It is indicated through convergent and discriminant validity, which are associated with multitrait-multimethod approach. The models of this study were tested using data collected with one method; therefore, validity was assessed in a limited scope. "Discriminant validity is determined by demonstrating that a measure does not correlate very highly with another measure from which it should differ" (Peter 1981, p. 136-137). Convergent validity is evidenced when the measures from the same construct correlate highly.

Examination of the correlation matrix indicated that the instrument demonstrated adequate convergent and discriminant validity. The correlation coefficients within the same construct (mean absolute value = .64) were generally higher than the correlations across constructs (mean absolute value = .24). All variables within the same construct correlated highly with Pearson's coefficients above .50 with the exception of EOU3 and II2. The majority of the correlation coefficients between variables across constructs were below .50. Closer examination revealed that RD1 correlated highly with two constructs: perceived usefulness and compatibility.

Tab	le 16. C	Descrip	otive S	Statis	tics:	Mea	n, Sta	indar	d De	viatio	on, ar	nd Co	orrela	itions	5															
Cor	nstruct	Mean	SD	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	_15	<u>16</u>	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27
	Perceiv	ved Us	efuine	SS																										
1	PU1	5.8 0	1.03	1																										
2	PU2	5.74	. 99	.74	1																									
3	PU3	5.72	1.00	.73	.74	1																								
4	PU4	5.67	1.01	.65	.68	.71	1																							
5	PU7	5.74	.96	.64	.62	.67	.68	1																						
6	PU8	5.91	.85	.58	.59	.59	.60	.65	1																					
	Ease o	of Use ((EOU)																											
7	EOU1	5.73	.96	.41	.36	.35	.35	.38	.44	1																				
8	EOU2	5.72	.96	.41	.37	.35	.36	.39	.45	.82	1																			
9	EOU3	5.37	1.11	.37	.40	.41	.48	.45	.39	.46	.48	1																		
10	EOU4	5.62	.93	.40	.39	.39	.43	.42	.44	.66	.67	.54	1																	
11	EOU6	5.73	.96	.35	.34	.33	.36	.36	.42	.63	.62	.48	.64	1																
	Compa	atibility(COM))																										
12	COM1	5,33	1.16	.43	.45	.46	.50	.49	.46	.32	.33	.48	.39	.39	1															
13	COM2	5.25	1.10	.39	.43	.47	.49	.47	.42	.32	.33	.49	.42	.39	.70	1														
14	COM3	5.64	.88	.44	.44	.47	.44	.48	.48	.42	.42	.36	.44	.42	.51	.60	1													
15	COM4	5.38	1.05	.41	.44	.47	.47	.48	.44	.33	.35	.43	.41	.38	.61	.77	.66	1												
	Trialab	ility (TF	२)																											
16	TR1	5.03	1.41	.19	.17	.16	.19	.19	.20	.24	.21	.24	.21	.25	.23	.23	.21	.23	1											
17	TR2	4.73	1.49	.11	.13	.15	.14	.15	.11	.17	.16	.25	.21	.23	.24	.27	.17	.24	.67	1										
18	TR3	4.74	1.44	.14	.15	.16	.15	.17	.16	.19	.17	.24	.23	.23	.23	.25	.19	.23	.52	.70	1									
19	TR5	4.40	1.58	.11	.12	.16	.17	.14	.09	.15	.13	.28	.20	.19	.25	.29	.16	.22	.52	.66	.69	1								
1	Visibilit	y (VI)																												
20	VI1	5.70	1.19	.32	.31	.32	.31	.30	.38	.32	.32	.27	.31	.33	.31	.25	.30	.24	.18	.15	.15	.10	1							
21	VI2	5.75	1.13	.32	.30	.31	.31	.30	.39	.32	.31	.28	.30	.33	.32	.25	.30	.26	.19	.15	.14	.12	.86	1						
22	VI3	5.87	1.05	.30	.29	.28	.25	.27	.37	.29	.29	.24	.26	.29	.22	.19	.29	.20	.21	.15	.15	.07	.61	.66	1					
23	VI4	5.76	1.12	.32	.34	.30	.35	.31	.39	.32	.34	.30	.30	.34	.33	.27	.31	.28	.21	.15	.14	.11	.66	.70	.70	1				
24	VI5	5.77	1.06	.34	.35	.33	.33	.33	.40	.37	.37	.31	.35	.38	.33	.29	.33	.29	.22	.19	.19	.12	.65	.68	.67	.79	1			
	Result	Demo	nstrab	ility (F	RD)																					~-				
25	RD1	5.56	1.00	.49	. 50	.53	.50	.52	.50	.35	.39	.44	.39	.37	.48	.52	.46	.49	.19	.17	.20	.19	.32	.33	.27	.38	.42	1	<i>.</i>	
26	RD2	5.34	1.09	.33	.33	.34	.35	.36	.34	.32	.31	.38	.34	.36	.38	.42	.33	.39	.21	.26	.28	.25	.26	.28	.24	.33	.36	.57	1	
27	RD3	5.31	1.13	.31	.30	.32	.36	.33	.34	.36	.34	.37	.36	.40	.37	.39	.34	.40	.18	.22	.23	.21	.29	.30	.23	.33	.37	.54	.76	1

110

autrici Mem 5 7 8 0 1 1 6 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 3 1 1 1 1 2 2 2 3 1 1 1 2 2 2 2 3 1 1 1 2 <th2< th=""> 2 2 <th2< th=""></th2<></th2<>
Wear S0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 10 11 16 17 26 22 23 24 25 16 17 16 17 26 22 23 16 17 16 17 26 22 23 <th23< th=""> <th23< th=""> <th23< th=""></th23<></th23<></th23<>
S0 1 2 4 6 7 8 10 11 16 17 16 17 26 22 22 23 18 17 26 22 22 22 23 16 17 16 17 16 27 19 16 17 26 22 22 22 23 18 17 26 22 22 22 22 23
1 2 3 4 6 7 8 9 10 11 26 11 26 27 28 10 11 16 16 17 28 22 23 24 25 26 <th26< th=""> <th26< th=""> <th26< th=""></th26<></th26<></th26<>
2 3 4 5 7 8 10 11 16 16 17 16 16 17 26 27 28 23 24 23 24 10 14 16 16 17 16 16 23
3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 16 16 17 28 22 23 24 25 18 17 28 22 23
4 6 7 8 9 10 11 13 14 16 17 26 -22 -23 -18 -21 -03 16 1 -03 -04 -17 -10 -01 -10 -11 -10 10 11 -10
5 6 7 8 9 10 11 15 16 16 26 -22 -23 -18 -21 -03 16 16 26 -23 -18 -21 -03 16 16 26 -23 -18 -21 -03 10 11 16 16 26 -23 -18 -21 -03 10 10 11 16 16 26 -23 -23 -23 24 24 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10
6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 16 17 16 17 16 16 27 29 20 11 16 16 26 -22 -23 24 25 26 26 27 -19 20 10 11 16 11 16 17 16 17 17 10 10 10 10 11 16 16 26 -22 -23 24 25 16 17 10 11 16 16 17 10 11 16 16 17 10 11 11 13 26 17 10 10 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 10 10 11 11 10 10 11 11 10 11 10 11 10 11 10 10 11 10 10
7 8 9 10 11 12 13 16 16 17 18 16 16 17 26 22 23 23 28 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 11 11 16 16 16 16 16 17 10 11 26 27 19 21 23 23 26
8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 17 26 -23 -22 -23 23
9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 17 26 -22 -23 -18 -71 -03 05 1 06 -10 -12 03 10 -08 07 13 18 17 26 -22 -25 -18 -20 -06 0
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 2 10 -08 07 11 16 16 26 -22 -22 -23 -18 -21 -03 05 1 10 -08 06 11 19 17 26 -22 -22 -22 -23 -18 -21 -03 05 05 0 05 0 05 0 05 0 05 0 05 0 05 <t< td=""></t<>
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 2 11 1.16 1.1 26 22 22 23 13 18 17 26 22 22 23 25 25 14 0.0 07 0.0
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
19 20 21 22 <t< td=""></t<>
9 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 2 26 -22 -22 -23 -18 -21 -03 05 0 26 -23 -26 -18 -21 -04 05 0 26 -23 -25 -16 -17 -17 00 07 0 27 -19 -16 -17 -17 23 23 29 25 2 25 26 2 26 0 05 0 07 03 03 06 <
0 21 22 23 24 25 26 2 22 -22 -23 -18 -21 -03 05 0 23 -22 -25 -18 -21 -04 05 0 22 -22 -25 -18 -21 -04 05 0 22 -21 -25 -18 -21 -05 05 0 22 -21 -25 -18 -21 -04 05 0 22 -25 -18 -21 23 23 29 26 2 20 20 16 -17 -17 20 05 0 <td< td=""></td<>
1 22 23 24 25 26 2 22 -23 -18 -21 -03 05 0 22 -25 -18 -21 -04 05 0 22 -25 -18 -21 -04 05 0 21 -25 -18 -21 -04 05 0 22 -25 -18 -21 -04 05 0 22 -17 -17 00 07 0 07 0 23 18 -16 -15 18 -28 28 26 2 16 -17 -17 -23 23 30 26 2 2 16 -16 -17 21 28 25 2 37 39 28 2 37 39 28 2 37 39 38 37 39 38 38 37 39 38 38 37 39 38 38 37 39 38 37
2 23 24 25 26 2 25 -18 -21 -03 05 0 25 -18 -21 -03 05 0 26 -18 -21 -03 05 0 26 -17 -17 00 07 0 05 0 26 -18 -23 23 29 25 2
3 24 25 26 2 17 17 10 05 10 18 -21 -03 05 10 18 -21 -03 05 10 18 -21 -03 05 10 18 -21 -03 05 10 18 -20 -05 05 10 18 -20 -10 05 10 18 -10 05 05 10 18 13 23 29 25 2 17 10 12 26 25 26 2 17 10 23 23 29 26 105 18 19 26 15 26 25 2 26 2 18 19 28 26 26 25 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 <
4 25 26 2 21 -03 05 - 21 -03 05 - 21 -03 05 - 21 -03 05 - 22 23 29 25 2 23 29 25 2 33 36 23 29 25 2 33 39 25 2 24 28 35 26 23 33 26 2 2 26 29 26 26 23 33 26 25 2 26 26 26 26 23 33 26 2 2 26 26 26 26 23 33 36 26 2 26 26 26 26 26 33 33 33 33 33 36 26 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 3
- -
α δδδΣ δδδδδδδ μα του 460 460 6000 ο4 640 64. Η πηπη μαιαμάτια τατά 1017 ατάτα το του του του του του του του του του

56 55 63 -54 66 70 53 64 74 53 52 -17 21 31 **18 31 32 33** 51 60 50 1 62 55 27 33 33 40 49 -31 29 22 22 24 28 48 30 27 19 24 23 23 91 47 16 42 43 41 34 22 46 46 46 46 43 56 31 45 34 39 45 44 45 46 44 46 48 46 48 46 32 43 32 37 87 57 4 1 80 53 32 40 44 40 39 40 26 26 -.25 -.29 -.17 -.18 -.16 -.19 -.18 -21 -.15 43 -.14 -.17 -.16 -.25 - - 18 - 19 -.13 -.16 -.17 - 14 42 <u>6</u> 8 18 -.15 -.16 -.16 -.26 -.12 -.18 -.15 -.19 -.12 .15 4 2.2 -10 -12 24 24 24 24 6 13 30 26 25 21 26 25 27 23 13 19 13 40 39 33 09 06 14 39 63 <u>5</u>.5 28 23 26 27 20 19 30 30 30 31 28 31 30 30 31 38 -.09 -.15 12 12 25 25 25 25 52 23 23 23 21 20 37 -.10 15 13 21 25 25 25 20 20 20 20 20 36 2222 9 51 50 .13 .39 15 1 28 22 25 27 19 33 56 56 31 33 25 24 25 --13 1 85 76 75 20 15 28 28 28 19 2 5 26 24 23 23 23 8 -.16 -.24 -.49 - 82 73 73 71 16 26 31 30 30 33 50 2222 23 24 23 -12 -20 112 1 .89 .67 .67 .67 .67 26 30 17 50 32 222 22 25 25 .31 -.13 -.06 34 25 25 25 25 25 25 9 5 5 5 0 28 0 29 6 6 6 6 3 44 .09 .09 - 04 - 05 - 05 - 05 -.20 -.13 1.78 24 19 13 13 14 13 30 212 .45 .39 .08 -.02 -.03 -.19 -.21 -.14 92 24 26 13 13 18 18 21 29 Individual Innovativeness (I) 11 5.45 1.03 -.02 -.0 112 4.13 1.45 .32 .3 114 5.28 1.13 .00 .0 Voluntariness (VOL) .93 .88 .73 (NB)

 SN1
 4.90
 1.33
 21

 SN2
 4.95
 1.31
 19

 SN2
 4.95
 1.31
 19

 SN2
 4.95
 1.31
 19

 Behavioral Intention (BI)
 81
 5.81
 86
 -20

 B13
 5.84
 83
 -12

 B13
 5.84
 83
 -12

 B14
 5.62
 1.16
 -13

 U1
 5.23
 1.30
 06

 U2
 5.65
 99
 -10

 U3
 5.51
 1.14
 00

 U4
 5.74
 94
 08

 .93 -.02 .88 -.03 .88 -.03 1.13 -.19 22 18 44. - 09. - 09 15 14 17 17 28 Attitude (A) Attitude (A) A1 5.59 .93 -.02 A2 5.54 .88 -.03 A3 5.52 .88 -.03 A4 5.44 1.13 -.19 A4 5.44 1.13 -.19 Subjective norm (SN) 3.66 1.80 3.78 1.73 3.00 1.32 1.66 1.64 1.67 1.76 5.06 1.33 5.16 1.30 5.13 1.34 5.11 1.34 Ŝ 1.47 1.41 tive Beliefs Continued Construct Mean 3.15 3.07 3.03 3.48 4.82 4.92 Ē IM1 IM2 IM3 IM4 NB1 NB2 NB3 NB3 NB3 NB3 NB3 NB3 mage VOL1 VOL2 VOL4 Lable 16 330 330 330 44 45 46 47 32 33 35 35 37 37 39 39 40 4244 4949 53 54 55 56 50 51 52

In order to improve the unidimensionality of the construct, the three items detected in the convergent and discriminant validity analysis were reviewed for deletion. EOU3 and RD1 were not included or recommended in several studies (e.g., Karahanna et al. 1999; Segars and Grover 1993; Subramanian 1994), and therefore deleted. II2 of the innovativeness construct was adopted from Agarwal and Prasad (1998), which is the only study known to the present author that operationalizes innovativeness in the context of IT. Due to the exploratory nature of this scale, we decide to shorten the innovativeness construct.

In addition, the risk of multicollinearity was assessed. Each indicator was regressed against all other indicators within the same construct. All variance inflation factors (VIF) were less than 10 except the one for IM2 (Image Item 2; approximate VIF = 13, varied slightly in different runs). Item IM2 (People who use E-Mail have more prestige than those who do not) was examined. It was determined that it was similar to IM1 (people who use E-Mail have high status in the organization), and therefore deleted. Once IM2 was omitted from the regression, all the VIFs were below 10 indicating that multicollinearity was not significant (Black 1997).

Once the validity and reliability of the scales were established, the measurement models were assessed first in modeling testing.

Model Testing

As the area under study is supported by strong theoretical foundations, it is only appropriate to evaluate the associations of the constructs with structural equation modeling (SEM), a technique for discovering potential latent structures (Jöreskog and Sörbom 1993). Research models were tested using structural equation modeling techniques performed using LISREL 8.30. The syntax was written in SIMPLIS command language. PRELIS 2.30 was used to produce data subsets and matrices.

The estimation procedure used was maximum likelihood (ML). Even though ML estimator performs relatively well under various conditions (Hoyle and Panter 1995), it assumes normality of the data. Univariate normality for each variable was tested. The kurtosis and skewness of the variable distribution were assessed. The examination of the histograms indicated that most of the indicators were slightly negatively skewed. The mean skewness and kurtosis values were -0.71 and 0.59 respectively. These values indicated that the variables in this study approximate a normal distribution and were acceptable for LISREL analysis (Bollen 1989; Byrne 1998; West et al. 1995). Several Monte Carlo studies have shown the ML estimator to be robust under nonnormal conditions (for examples, see Bollen 1989; Byrne 1998).

Fit Criteria

Since no uniform recommended measures of model fit are available, multiple measures were used. The use of multiple fit indices was suggested by Hu and Bentler (1999). In assessing the model fit, the following statistics were reported: χ^2 (df), comparative fit index (CFI), and root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA). The cutoff values for these fit indices are inconsistent in the literature. Many researchers have adopted the .90 as the critical value for the normed fit indexes (Hoyle and Panter 1995). Recently, Hu and Bentler (1999) compared the effectiveness of the fit indices extensively using a variety of sample sizes and models and recommended the cutoff values of .95 for CFI and .06 for RMSEA to be used for model fit assessment. The fit statistics are discussed below.

For each research model, we examined the χ^2 goodness-of-fit statistic, which assesses the degree of departure of the sample covariance matrix from the fitted covariance matrix (Hu and Bentler 1999). A nonsignificant and small chi-square is desirable. However, when sample size is large and models contain a large number of indicators, the chi-square statistic easily can become significant because it is a direct product of sample size (Byrne 1998). This problem with the χ^2 statistic has long been recognized (Chou and Bentler 1995), therefore, we also reported the fit indices, which indicate the degree of model fit along a continuum (Hu and Bentler 1999). CFI is an incremental fit index that "measures the proportionate improvement in fit by comparing a target model with a more restricted, nested baseline model" (Hu and Bentler 1999, p. 2). CFI is selected

because it is less sensitive to sample size. In addition, it is suggested as the best approximation of the population value for a single model (Medsker et al. 1994). The Root Mean Square Error of Approximation (RMSEA) is a type of absolute fit indexes, which assess "how well an a priori model reproduces the sample data" (Hu and Bentler 1999, p. 2). This index is recommended along with the CFI index in evaluating model fit. The multiple measures used and their recommended values are presented in Table 17 (Hu and Bentler 1999).

Table 17. Model Fit Statistics	
Fit statistics	Recommended Values
χ^2 (Chi-Square)	<i>p</i> -value ≥ .05
Root Mean Square Error of Approximation	about .06
Comparative Fit Index	≥ .95

In the next sections, the tests of the research models are presented. The models were evaluated following the two-step approach (Anderson and Gerbing 1988): first, the measurement models were evaluated and refined based on modification indices and standard errors to reach a satisfactory fit; then, the structural aspect of the models was examined.

Measurement Model Testing

Because it is common to have specification errors in measurement models (Anderson and Gerbing 1982), it was respecified to achieve satisfactory fit. However, excessive modifications would reduce the generalizability and validity

of the findings (MacCallum 1986). Therefore, the specification search was minimized and limited to item elimination.

In addition, it is difficult to fit data to large and complex models and it is more likely to capitalize on chances when researchers make modifications to such models (MacCallum 1986), therefore, the overall measurement model was divided into two sub-models, each containing a subset of constructs. The behavioral belief and attitude constructs were grouped into one submodel (noted as SUB1 in the following analyses) and the rest were grouped into another submodel (noted as SUB2). SUB1 contained the following constructs and their measurement items: PU, EOU, COM, TR, VI, RD, IM, and A. SUB2 contained the following constructs and their measurement items: A, NB, SN, BI, and U.

First, SUB1 was fitted to the overall data sample (N = 1484). The initial fit statistics were χ^2 (376 *df*, N = 1484) = 2175.71, p < .001, RMSEA = .052, and CFI = .95. Even though the fit statistics suggested adequate fit, the examination of residuals and modification indices revealed some misspecifications. Item VI2 (visibility 2: In my organization, I have seen many people with E-Mail on their computers) was suggested to be deleted. Because this item is similar to VI1 (In my organization, one sees E-Mail on many computers), we decided to delete VI2 from the scale. An additional two items were evaluated and deleted in the subsequent model fitting process. These items were COM3, and TR1. Item COM3 (compatibility 3: using E-Mail fits well with the way I like to work) was

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

deleted because it is similar to COM4 (using E-Mail is very compatible with the way I like to work). Item TR1 (trialability 1: before I started using E-Mail, I was able to use it on a trial basis) was deleted because it is similar to TR2 (before I started using E-Mail, I was able to properly try it out). The final model fit statistics indicated good fit of the model to data: χ^2 (295 df, N = 1484) = 1025.03, p < .001, RMSEA = .041, and CFI = .98. Individual item loadings were all above .70.

Then, SUB2 was fitted to the overall data. The initial fit statistics were χ^2 (92 df, N = 1484) = 442.61, p < .001, RMSEA = .051, and CFI = .98. Even though the fit statistics suggested adequate fit, the examination of residuals and modification indices revealed some misspecifications. A4 (Attitude 4: Using E-Mail on my job is worthless....valuable) was suggested for evaluation. This item was compared to A3 (Using E-Mail on my job is useless....useful). The meanings of "useless" and "worthless" are almost redundant in Chinese. Also, in some studies, one of the two was used. Therefore, A4 was deleted. The final model fit statistics indicated good fit of the model to data: χ^2 (78 df, N = 1484) = 353.34, p < .001, RMSEA = .049, and CFI = .99. Individual item loadings were all above .70.

Next, the fitted measurement models were assessed for each of the data subsets: the earlier, later, and potential adopters. Table 18 (page 120) gives a summary of the measurement model fit statistics at the end of the measurement model assessment.

Earlier Adopter

All four item deletions were incorporated in the measurement models fitted for the earlier adopter data set. The fit statistics for SUB1 were χ^2 (295 df, N = 400) = 628.47, p < .001, RMSEA = .053, and CFI = .97. The fit statistics for SUB2 were χ^2 (78 df, N = 400) = 191.54, p < .001, RMSEA = .060, and CFI = .98. All statistics demonstrated good fit of the models to the earlier adopter data.

Later Adopter

All item deletions were incorporated in the measurement models fitted for the later adopter data set. The fit statistics for SUB1 were χ^2 (295 df, N = 382) = 486.19, p < .001, RMSEA =, and CFI = .97. The fit statistics for SUB2 were χ^2 (78 df, N = 382) = 207.51, p < .001, RMSEA = .066, and CFI = .97. All statistics demonstrated good fit of the models to the later adopter data.

Potential Adopter

All item deletions were incorporated in the measurement models fitted for the potential adopter data set. The fit statistics for SUB1 were χ^2 (295 df, N = 317) = 586.49, p < .001, RMSEA = .056, and CFI = .95. The fit statistics for SUB2 were χ^2 (78 df, N = 317) = 175.67, p < .001, RMSEA = .063, and CFI = .97. All statistics demonstrated good fit of the models to the potential adopter data.

Table 18. Summary	of Measu	rement N	Model Fit Stat	tistics
Data Set	χ²	N	RMSEA	CFI
		SUB1	(<i>df</i> = 295)	
Overall Data	1025.03	1484	.041	.98
Earlier Adopter	628.47	400	.053	.97
Later Adopter	486.19	382	.041	.97
Potential Adopter	586.49	317	.056	.95
		SUB	2 (df = 78)	
Overall Data	353.34	1484	.049	.99
Earlier Adopter	191.54	400	.060	.98
Later Adopter	207.51	382	.066	.97
Potential Adopter	175.67	317	.063	.97

Equivalency Assessment

Even though the measurement models demonstrated similar model fit, stacked models were used to assess their statistical equivalency. The purpose of assessing the equivalency of the measurement models across the groups was to enable group comparisons of structural equations in hypothesis testing. As Table 18 shows, the measurement models across adopter groups demonstrate similar fit statistics. The root mean square error of approximation statistics for all three groups of adopter samples are within acceptable range. The comparative fit indices are similar and above the accepted .95 cutoff. Across adopter groups, there are discrepancies among the composite reliability coefficients of the constructs presented in Table 15. Some measures appear to behave similarly across adopter groups, while others do not. The largest difference in the coefficients for each construct ranges between 0 and .10. Further, we examine across adopter groups the phi matrices (see Appendix E) and factor loadings (see Appendix F). There are also notable differences across groups.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

The stacked model statistics revealed that the overall measurement model equivalency at the factor loading and error variance level could not be established. However, it has been found that even when invariance tests fail, tests for the invariance of specific parameters hold (Byrne 1998). Muthén (1988 in Byrne 1998) states that specific hypotheses pertaining to invariance can be tested even when the omnibus test fails. In the hypothesis testing, we focused on testing the equivalency of model forms and specific regression coefficients. The details of the tests are given in the hypothesis testing section starting on page 127.

Structural Model Testing

Given a satisfactory measurement model fit, the structural model was assessed for each of the adopter groups. Thirteen structural paths were added to each structural equation model (12 for the potential adopter group). No modification was applied to the structural model. The fit indices indicate good fit of all three adopter models. Overall, six out of thirteen structural paths were significant in all three groups: perceived usefulness→attitude, attitude→behavioral intention, normative belief→subjective norm, subjective norm->behavioral intention, behavioral intention->usage (only in the earlier and later adopter group), and individual innovativeness->usage/behavioral intention. Table 19 gives a summary of the structual model fit statistics at the end of the structural model assessment on page 126. Table 20 gives a summary of the standardized path coefficients estimated in the structural model on page 127.

121

Earlier Adopter

The structural model was assessed for the earlier adopters. The model fit statistics were χ^2 (928 *df*, N = 400) = 2065.66, p < .001, RMSEA = .055, and CFI = .92. Overall, the statistics demonstrated a marginal fit of the model to the earlier adopter data.

Figure 11 shows the estimated standardized path coefficients and their *t*-values in the structural model for the earlier adopters and the variance explained for each of the constructs. The model explained approximately 32% of the variance in behavioral intention and 29% of the variance in usage. Significant paths (p <.05) are indicated in Figure 11. Four out of seven behavioral belief->attitude paths were significant. They are perceived usefulness->attitude, compatibility->attitude, visibility->attitude, and result demonstrability->attitude. Overall, nine out of 13 paths were significant. All scales had reliabilities above .70.

Later Adopter

The structural model was assessed for the later adopters. The model fit statistics were χ^2 (928 *df*, N = 382) = 1901.80, p < .001, RMSEA = .053, and CFI = .92. Overall, the statistics demonstrated a marginal fit of the model to the later adopter data.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Figure 12 shows the estimated standardized path coefficients and their *t*-values in the structural model for the later adopters and the variance explained for each of the constructs. The model explained approximately 13% of the variance in behavioral intention and 39% of the variance in usage. Significant paths (p < .05) are indicated in Figure 12. Two out of seven behavioral belief->attitude paths were significant. They are perceived usefulness->attitude and result demonstrability→attitude. Overall, eight out of 13 paths were significant. All scales had reliabilities above .70.



Potential Adopter

The structural model was assessed for the potential adopters. The model fit statistics were χ^2 (759 *df*, N = 382) = 1619.66, p < .001, RMSEA = .060, and CFI

= .92. Overall, the statistics demonstrated a marginal fit of the model to the potential adopter data.

Figure 13 shows the estimated standardized path coefficients and their *t*-values in the structural model for the potential adopters and the variance explained for each of the constructs. The model explained approximately 52% of the variance in behavioral intention. Significant paths (p < .05) are indicated in Figure 13. Three out of seven behavioral belief \rightarrow attitude paths were significant. They are perceived usefulness \rightarrow attitude, trialability \rightarrow attitude, and visibility \rightarrow attitude. Overall, seven out of 12 paths were significant. All scales had reliabilities above .70.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Table 19. Summary of Structural Model Fit Statistics										
Data Set	χ ²	df	RMSEA	CFI						
Earlier Adopter	2065.66	928	.055	.92						
Later Adopter	1901.80	928	.053	.92						
Potential Adopter	1619.66	769	.060	.92						
Table 20. Summary of Path Coefficients										
--	---------	---------	-----------							
Structural Path	Earlier	Later	Potential							
	Adopter	Adopter	Adopter							
Perceived Usefulness→Attitude	.17*	.39*	.25*							
Ease of Use→Attitude	08	.03	09							
Compatibility→Attitude	.30*	.13	.06							
Trialability Attitude	01	08	.27*							
Visibility→Attitude	.26*	.07	.12*							
Result Demonstrability→Attitude	.26*	.22*	.10							
Image→Attitude	.01	.01	.05							
Normative Belief→Subjective Norm	.67*	.60*	.74*							
Attitude→Behavioral Intention	.45*	.31*	.16*							
Subjective Norm→Behavioral Intention	.28*	.14*	.49*							
Innovativeness→Behavioral	.39*	.55*	.41*							
Intention/Usage										
Voluntariness→Behavioral	06	28*	12							
Intention/Usage										
Behavioral Intention→Usage	.28*	.15*	-							

Note: * *p* < .05

Hypotheses Testing

In the following sections, the testing procedures of the 21 hypotheses and the analyses of these hypotheses are presented. The relevant path coefficients presented in Figure 11, Figure 12, and Figure 13 are discussed. Three types of analyses were used: 1) testing of the regression coefficient equality using multi-group analysis (H1, H2, H3, H4, H5, H6, H7, H8, H9, H10, H11, and H12) (Jöreskog and Sörborn 1993), 2) examining the significance and direction of parameter estimates (H13, H14, H15, H19, H20, and H21) using t-values (Jöreskog and Sörborn 1989), and 3) testing of the latent mean invariance using multi-group analysis (H16, H17, and H18). The summary of the tests used is shown in Table 7. All analyses were done using LISREL 8.30. The syntax of the

programs was written in SIMPLIS. The covariance matrices used in the analyses were produced using PRELIS 2.0 programs. Limited by the number of variables allowed in the version of the LISREL software, we tested the hypotheses using a smaller set of variables.

In the first group of analyses (H1, H2, H3, H4, H5, H6, H7, H8, H9, H10, H11, and H12), we test the equality of regression coefficients (ys) in regression models with latent variables using multi-group analysis (Jöreskog and Sörbom 1993). Model form and similarity in parameter values are the two types of comparability in models (Bollen 1989). Even though in most research equal form is assumed (Bollen 1989), we assess whether the form of two models was the same for each hypothesis test. To begin a multi-group analysis, the researcher first establishes a baseline model, which is used to compare with subsequent models for chi-square differences (Jöreskog and Sörbom 1993). There is no standard in selecting the baseline model; some suggest using a fully constrained model, in which all nonfixed parameters are restricted to have the same value across groups (e.g., Jöreskog and Sörbom 1993) whereas others suggest a fully free model (e.g., Bollen 1989).

The parameters differences can be tested in a hierarchy and depend on the interests of the researcher, who needs to decide which tests and the order of the tests based on the research elements in interest (Bollen 1989). The χ^2 difference

test is used to compare the models. Nonsignificant *p*-values indicate the hypothesis of equal parameter is not rejected (Byrne 1998).

In this study, the key interest of the first group of hypotheses is the equality of the regression coefficients across groups, therefore, the analyses were designed to investigate the χ^2 difference by comparing the baseline model to the model in which all parameters are reestimated except the regression coefficients (Jöreskog and Sörbom 1993).

The default multi-group analysis programs written in SIMPLIS syntax using LISREL assume identical models over groups unless the parameters are specified in the second group (Jöreskog and Sörborn 1993). Based on Bollen's (1989) recommendation, we specified the baseline model as the least restrictive model: all nonfixed parameters were allowed to be estimated in both groups. The baseline model, which is specified as Model 1 in the following analyses also serves as a check for the form equality across groups (Bollen 1989). The parameters reestimated in group 2 include the regression coefficients, intercepts, error variances of the indicators and dependent variable, and variances of the independent variables (Jöreskog and Sörborn 1993). The second model (Model 2) restricts the regression coefficients in interest to be the same across groups while still allowing the remaining coefficient to be reestimated in the second group; therefore, the χ^2 difference between the models can be attributed to the difference between the coefficients (Bollen 1989). The significance of the χ^2

difference between Model 1 and Model 2 is then assessed. Because the hypotheses (H1, H2, H3, H4, H5, H6, H7, H8, H9, H10, H11, and H12) were stated in nonnull form, a significant χ^2 difference ($\alpha = .05$) indicates the hypothesis is supported.

In the second group of analyses (H13, H14, H15, H19, H20, and H21), the significance and directions of the parameter estimates (β s and γ s) were observed from the structural models previously presented. The *t*-values of the parameters estimated were assessed (Jöreskog and Sörbom 1989). In the third group of analyses (H16, H17, and H18), we applied the latent mean invariance tests using multi-group analysis. In addition to the covariance matrices, the means of the variables were used to estimate the mean difference in the latent variables between groups (Jöreskog and Sörbom 1993). The *t*-values of the mean difference were assessed.

Following the procedures described above, we analyzed the hypotheses:

H1: The effect of attitude (A) on behavioral intention (BI) will be stronger for earlier adopters than for later adopters.

Hypothesis 1 proposed that the relationship between attitude and behavioral intention would be stronger in the earlier adopter group than in the later adopter. The standardized parameter estimated for this linkage in the earlier adopter structural model was .45 (t = 8.30, p < .001) (see Figure 11) and later adopter .31

130

(*t* = 5.47, *p* < .001) (see Figure 12). Both estimates were significant. The statistical difference of the parameters was assessed using a multi-group analysis, the earlier adopter versus later adopter groups. In this test, the latent variables attitude, behavioral intention, and subjective norm and their indicators were entered in a regression model to assess the regression of behavioral intention on attitude and subjective norm. In Model 1, the non-restrictive model, all parameters were reestimated in group 2. The χ^2 for Model 1 was 117.2 with 58 degrees of freedom. The CFI of the model was .98. The good fit statistics indicate an equal model form between the earlier adopter and later adopter groups. In Model 2, only the regression coefficient of Attitude ($\gamma_{BI,A}$) was restricted to be the same across both groups. The χ^2 for Model 2 was 123.6 (59 *df*). The CFI of the model was .98.

The difference in χ^2 between Model 1 and Model 2 was 6.4 with one *df* (*p* = .0114), therefore, the hypothesis was supported. Table 21 shows the multi-group analysis for hypothesis 1.

Table 21. N	Aulti-Group Analysis	s for Hypo	thesis	1		
Model Number	Model Description	χ²	df	∆χ² from Model 1	<i>p-</i> value	CFI
1	Non-restrictive	117.2	58	0	-	.98
2	γ _{BI,A} restricted	123.6	59	6.4	.0114	.98

H2: The effect of attitude (A) on behavioral intention (BI) will be stronger for later adopters than for potential adopters.

Hypothesis 2 proposed that the relationship between attitude and behavioral intention would be stronger in the later adopter group than in the potential adopter. The standardized parameter estimated for this linkage in the later adopter structural model was .31 (t = 5.47, p < .001) (see Figure 12) and potential adopter .16 (t = 2.64, p < .05) (see Figure 13), thus providing directional support for the hypothesis. Both estimates were significant. The statistical difference of the parameters was assessed using a multi-group analysis, the later adopter versus potential adopter groups. In this test, the latent variables attitude, behavioral intention, and subjective norm and their indicators were entered in a regression model to assess the regression of behavioral intention on attitude and subjective norm. In Model 1, the non-restrictive model, all parameters were reestimated in group 2. The χ^2 for Model 1 was 114.94 with 58 degrees of freedom. The CFI of the model was .99. The fit statistics indicate good model fit and thus an equal model form between the later adopter and potential adopter In Model 2, only the regression coefficient of Attitude ($\gamma_{BI,A}$) was groups. restricted to be the same across both groups. The γ^2 for Model 2 was 115.03 (59 df). The CFI of the model was .99.

The difference in χ^2 between Model 1 and Model 2 was .09 with one *df* (*p* = .7642), therefore, the hypothesis was not supported. Table 22 shows the multi-group analysis for hypothesis 2.

Table 22.	Multi-Group Analysis	s for Hypot	hesis	2		
Model Number	Model Description	χ²	df	∆χ² from Model 1	<i>p</i> - value	CFI
1	Non-restrictive	114.94	58	0	0	.99
2	γ _{BI,A} restricted	115.03	59	.09	.7642	.99

H3: The effect of attitude (A) on behavioral intention (BI) will be stronger for earlier adopters than for potential adopters.

Hypothesis 3 posited that the relationship between attitude and behavioral intention would be stronger in the earlier adopter group than in the potential adopter. The standardized parameter estimated for this linkage in the earlier adopter structural model was .45 (t = 8.30, p < .001) (see Figure 11) and potential adopter .16 (t = 2.64, p < .05) (see Figure 13). Both estimates were significant. The statistical difference of the parameters was assessed using a multi-group analysis, the earlier adopter versus potential adopter groups. In this test, the latent variables attitude, behavioral intention, and subjective norm and their indicators were entered in a regression model to assess the regression of behavioral intention on attitude and subjective norm. In Model 1, the nonrestrictive model, all parameters were reestimated in group 2. The χ^2 for Model 1 was 167.09 with 58 degrees of freedom. The CFI of the model was .97. The good fit statistics indicate an equal model form between the earlier adopter and potential adopter groups. In Model 2, only the regression coefficient of Attitude (γ_{BLA}) was restricted to be the same across both groups. The χ^2 for Model 2 was 174.29 (59 df). The CFI of the model was .97.

The difference in χ^2 between Model 1 and Model 2 was 7.2 with one *df* (*p* = .0073), therefore, the hypothesis was supported. Table 23 shows the multi-group analysis for hypothesis 3.

Table 23. N	Aulti-Group Analysis	s for Hypot	hesis	3		
Model Number	Model Description	χ²	df	∆χ² from Model 1	<i>p</i> - value	CFI
1	Non-restrictive	167.09	58	0	-	.97
2	γ _{BI,A} restricted	174.29	5 9	7.2	.0073	.97

H4: The effect of subjective norm (SN) on behavioral intention (BI) will be weaker for earlier adopters than for later adopters.

Hypothesis 4 stated that the relationship between subjective norm and behavioral intention would be weaker in the earlier adopter group than in the later adopter. The standardized parameter estimated for this linkage in the earlier adopter structural model was .28 (t = 5.70, p < .001) (see Figure 11) and later adopter .14 (t = 2.68, p < .05) (see Figure 12). The coefficient estimated for the earlier adopter was greater than the later adopter group, thus contradicting the hypothesis. Regardless, the statistical difference of the parameters was assessed using a multi-group analysis, the earlier adopter versus later adopter groups. In this test, the latent variables subjective norm, behavioral intention, and attitude and their indicators were entered in a regression model to assess the regression of behavioral intention on attitude and subjective norm. In Model 1, the non-restrictive model, all parameters were reestimated in group 2. The χ^2

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

for Model 1 was 117.2 with 58 degrees of freedom. The CFI of the model was .98. The good fit statistics indicate an equal model form between the earlier adopter and later adopter groups. In Model 2, only the regression coefficient of subjective norm ($\gamma_{BI,SN}$) was restricted to be the same across both groups. The χ^2 for Model 2 was 118.05 (59 *df*). The CFI of the model was .98.

The difference in χ^2 between Model 1 and Model 2 was .85 with one *df* (p = .3566), therefore, the hypothesis was not supported. Table 24 shows the multi-group analysis for hypothesis 4.

Table 24. N	Iulti-Group Analysi	s for Hypot	hesis	4		
Model Number	Model Description	χ²	df	∆χ² from Model 1	<i>p</i> - value	CFI
1	Non-restrictive	117.2	58	0	-	.98
2	γ _{BI,SN} restricted	118.05	59	.85	.3566	.98

H5: The effect of subjective norm (SN) on behavioral intention (BI) will be weaker for later adopters than for potential adopters.

Hypothesis 5 stated that the relationship between subjective norm and behavioral intention would be weaker in the later adopter group than in the potential adopter. The standardized parameter estimated for this linkage in the later adopter structural model was .14 (t = 2.68, p < .05) (see Figure 12) and potential adopter .49 (t = 6.16, p < .001) (see Figure 13), thus providing evidence of directional support for the hypothesis. The statistical difference of the parameters was

assessed using a multi-group analysis, the later adopter versus potential adopter groups. In this test, the latent variables subjective norm, behavioral intention, and attitude and their indicators were entered in a regression model to assess the regression of behavioral intention on attitude and subjective norm. In Model 1, the non-restrictive model, all parameters were reestimated in group 2. The χ^2 for Model 1 was 114.94 with 58 degrees of freedom. The CFI of the model was .99. The good fit statistics indicate an equal model form between the earlier adopter and later adopter groups. In Model 2, only the regression coefficient of subjective norm ($\gamma_{BI,SN}$) was restricted to be the same across both groups. The χ^2 for Model 2 was 165.22 (59 *df*). The CFI of the model was .97.

The difference in χ^2 between Model 1 and Model 2 was 50.28 with one *df* (*p* = .0000), therefore, the hypothesis was supported. Table 25 shows the multi-group analysis for hypothesis 5.

Table 25. N	lulti-Group Analysi	s for Hypot	hesis	5		
Modei Number	Model Description	χ²	df	∆χ² from Model 1	<i>p</i> - value	ĊFI
1	Non-restrictive	114.94	58	0	-	.99
2	YBI, SN restricted	165.22	59	50.28	.0000	.97

H6: The effect of subjective norm (SN) on behavioral intention (BI) will be weaker for earlier adopters than for potential adopters.

Hypothesis 6 stated that the relationship between subjective norm and behavioral intention would be weaker in the earlier adopter group than in the potential adopter. The standardized parameter estimated for this linkage in the earlier adopter structural model was .28 (t = 5.70, p < .001) (see Figure 11) and potential adopter .49 (t = 6.16, p < .001) (see Figure 13), thus providing directional support for the hypothesis. The statistical difference of the parameters was assessed using a multi-group analysis, the earlier adopter versus potential adopter groups. In this test, the latent variables subjective norm, behavioral intention, and attitude and their indicators were entered in a regression model to assess the regression of behavioral intention on attitude and subjective norm. In Model 1, the non-restrictive model, all parameters were reestimated in group 2. The γ^2 for Model 1 was 167.09 with 58 degrees of freedom. The CFI of the model was .97. The good fit statistics indicate an equal model form between the earlier adopter and potential adopter groups. In Model 2, only the regression coefficient of subjective norm (γ_{BLSN}) was restricted to be the same across both groups. The χ^2 for Model 2 was 206.78 (59 df). The CFI of the model was .96.

The difference in χ^2 between Model 1 and Model 2 was 39.69 with one *df* (*p* = .0000), therefore, the hypothesis was supported. Table 26 shows the multi-group analysis for hypothesis 6.

Table 26. I	Multi-Group Analysis	s for Hypot	hesis	6		
Model Number	Model Description	χ²	df	∆χ ² from Model 1	<i>p</i> - value	CFI
1	Non-restrictive	167.09	58	0	-	.97
2	γ _{BI,SN} restricted	206.78	59	39.69	.0000	.96

H7: Perceived usefulness (PU) will be a significantly stronger factor for earlier adopters than for later adopters of IT in determining attitude.

Hypothesis 7 stated that the relationship between perceived usefulness and attitude would be stronger in the earlier adopter group than in the later adopter. The standardized parameter estimated for this linkage in the earlier adopter structural model was .17 (t = 2.83, p < .05) (see Figure 11) and later adopter .39 (t = 5.44, p < .001) (see Figure 12). The parameters contradicted the hypothesized direction of group difference. Regardless, the statistical difference of the parameters was assessed using a multi-group analysis, the earlier adopter versus later adopter groups. In this test, the latent variables perceived usefulness, ease of use, compatibility, trialability, result demonstrability, and attitude and their indicators were entered in a regression model to assess the regression of attitude on perceived usefulness, ease of use, compatibility, trialability, and result demonstrability. In Model 1, the non-restrictive model, all parameters were reestimated in group 2. The χ^2 for Model 1 was 1061.31 with 354 degrees of freedom. The CFI of the model was .95. The good fit statistics indicate an equal model form between the earlier adopter and later adopter groups. In Model 2, only the regression coefficient of perceived usefulness $(\gamma_{A,PU})$ was restricted to be the same across both groups. The χ^2 for Model 2 was 1073.25 (355 *df*). The CFI of the model was .94.

The difference in χ^2 between Model 1 and Model 2 was 11.94 with one *df* (*p* = .0005), therefore, the group difference was supported. However, the direction of the difference was not as posited, therefore, the hypothesis was not supported. Table 27 shows the multi-group analysis for hypothesis 7.

Table 27. N	/ulti-Group Analysi	s for Hypoth	nesis 7			
Model Number	Model Description	χ²	df	∆χ² from Model 1	<i>p</i> - value	CFI
1	Non-restrictive	1061.31	354	0	-	.95
2	γ _{A,PU} restricted	1073.25	355	11.94	.0005	.94

H8: Perceived usefulness (PU) will be a significantly stronger factor for later adopters than for potential adopters of IT in determining attitude.

Hypothesis 8 stated that the relationship between perceived usefulness and attitude would be stronger in the later adopter group than in the potential adopter. The standardized parameter estimated for this linkage in the later adopter structural model was .39 (t = 5.44, p < .001) (see Figure 12) and potential adopter .25 (t = 2.99, p < .05) (see Figure 13), thus the direction of the hypothesis was supported. The statistical difference of the parameters was assessed using a multi-group analysis, the later adopter versus potential adopter groups. In this test, the latent variables perceived usefulness, ease of use,

compatibility, trialability, result demonstrability, and attitude and their indicators were entered in a regression model to assess the regression of attitude on perceived usefulness, ease of use, compatibility, trialability, and result demonstrability. In Model 1, the non-restrictive model, all parameters were reestimated in group 2. The χ^2 for Model 1 was 1232.68 with 354 degrees of freedom. The CFI of the model was .93. The marginal fit statistics indicate an equal model form between the later adopter and potential adopter groups. In Model 2, only the regression coefficient of perceived usefulness ($\gamma_{A,PU}$) was restricted to be the same across both groups. The χ^2 for Model 2 was 1754.36 (355 *df*). The CFI of the model was .83. The dramatic decrease in CFI provided evidence of the difference between the groups.

The difference in χ^2 between Model 1 and Model 2 was 521.68 with one *df* (p = .0000), therefore, the hypothesis was supported. Table 28 shows the multi-group analysis for hypothesis 8.

Table 28. N	Aulti-Group Analysis	s for Hypoth	iesis 8			
Model Number	Model Description	χ²	df	∆χ² from Modei 1	<i>p</i> - value	CFI
1	Non-restrictive	1232.68	354	0	•	.93
2	YA, PU restricted	1754.36	355	521.68	.0000	.83

H9: Perceived usefulness (PU) will be a significantly stronger factor for earlier adopters than for potential adopters of IT in determining attitude.

Hypothesis 9 stated that the relationship between perceived usefulness and attitude would be stronger in the earlier adopter group than in the potential adopter. The standardized parameter estimated for this linkage in the earlier adopter structural model was .17 (t = 2.83, p < .05) (see Figure 11) and potential adopter .25 (t = 2.99, p < .05) (see Figure 13), thus the direction of the hypothesis was not supported. Regardless, the statistical difference of the parameters was assessed using a multi-group analysis, the earlier adopter versus potential adopter groups. In this test, the latent variables perceived usefulness, ease of use, compatibility, trialability, result demonstrability, and attitude and their indicators were entered in a regression model to assess the regression of attitude on perceived usefulness, ease of use, compatibility, trialability, and result demonstrability. In Model 1, the non-restrictive model, all parameters were reestimated in group 2. The χ^2 for Model 1 was 529.38 with 122 degrees of freedom. The CFI of the model was .94. The marginal fit statistics indicate an equal model form between the earlier adopter and potential adopter groups. In Model 2, only the regression coefficient of perceived usefulness ($\gamma_{A,PU}$) was restricted to be the same across both groups. The χ^2 for Model 2 was 531.64 (123 df). The CFI of the model was .94.

The difference in χ^2 between Model 1 and Model 2 was 2.26 with one *df* (*p* = .1328), therefore, the hypothesis was not supported. Table 29 shows the multi-group analysis for hypothesis 9.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Table 29. N	Iulti-Group Analysis	s for Hypot	hesis !	9		
Model Number	Model Description	χ²	df	∆χ² from Model 1	р- value	CFI
1	Non-restrictive	529.38	122	0	-	.94
2	YA, PU restricted	531.64	123	2.26	.1328	.94

H10: Perceived ease of use (EOU) will be a significantly weaker factor for earlier adopters than for later adopters of IT in determining attitude.

Hypothesis 10 stated that the relationship between ease of use and attitude would be weaker in the earlier adopter group than in the later adopter. The standardized parameter estimated for this linkage in the earlier adopter structural model was -.08 (t = -1.17, p = .2423) (see Figure 11) and later adopter .03 (t = -1.17, p = .2423) .51, p = .6102) (see Figure 12), thus the direction of the hypothesis was not supported. In addition, the parameters were not significant for either group. Regardless, the statistical difference of the parameters was assessed using a multi-group analysis, the earlier adopter versus later adopter groups. In this test, the latent variables perceived usefulness, ease of use, compatibility, trialability, result demonstrability, and attitude and their indicators were entered in a regression model to assess the regression of attitude on perceived usefulness, ease of use, compatibility, trialability, and result demonstrability. In Model 1, the non-restrictive model, all parameters were reestimated in group 2. The γ^2 for Model 1 was 859.09 with 354 degrees of freedom. The CFI of the model was .95. The good fit statistics indicate an equal model form between the earlier adopter and later adopter groups. In Model 2, only the regression coefficient of ease of use ($\gamma_{A,EOU}$) was restricted to be the same across both groups. The χ^2 for Model 2 was 861.41 (355 *df*). The CFI of the model was .94. The decrease in CFI provided evidence of the difference between the groups.

The difference in χ^2 between Model 1 and Model 2 was 2.32 with one *df* (*p* = .1277), therefore, the hypothesis was not supported. Table 30 shows the multi-group analysis for hypothesis 10.

Table 30. N	lulti-Group Analysi	s for Hypot	thesis	10		
Model Number	Model Description	χ²	df	∆χ ² from Model 1	<i>p</i> - value	CFI
1	Non-restrictive	859.09	354	0	•	.95
2	YA, EOU restricted	861.41	355	2.32	.1277	.94

H11: Perceived ease of use (EOU) will be a significantly weaker factor for later adopters than for potential adopters of IT in determining attitude.

Hypothesis 11 posited that the relationship between ease of use and attitude would be weaker in the later adopter group than in the potential adopter. The standardized parameter estimated for this linkage in the later adopter structural model was .03 (t = .51, p = .6102) (see Figure 12) and potential adopter -.09 (t = .94, p = .3475) (see Figure 13), thus the direction of the hypothesis was supported. However, the parameters were not significant for either group. Regardless, the statistical difference of the parameters was assessed using a multi-group analysis, the later adopter versus potential adopter groups. In this

test, the latent variables perceived usefulness, ease of use, compatibility, trialability, result demonstrability, and attitude and their indicators were entered in a regression model to assess the regression of attitude on perceived usefulness, ease of use, compatibility, trialability, and result demonstrability. In Model 1, the non-restrictive model, all parameters were reestimated in group 2. The χ^2 for Model 1 was 1232.68 with 354 degrees of freedom. The CFI of the model was .93. The good fit statistics indicate an equal model form between the later adopter and potential adopter groups. In Model 2, only the regression coefficient of ease of use ($\gamma_{A,EOU}$) was restricted to be the same across both groups. The χ^2 for Model 2 was 1875.78 (355 *df*). The CFI of the model was .82. The dramatic decrease in CFI provided evidence of the difference between the groups.

The difference in χ^2 between Model 1 and Model 2 was 643.1 with one *df* (*p* = .0000), therefore, the hypothesis was supported. Table 31 shows the multi-group analysis for hypothesis 11.

Table 31. N	lulti-Group Analysis	s for Hypoth	nesis 1	1		
Model Number	Model Description	χ²	df	Δχ ² from Model 1	<i>p</i> - value	CFI
1	Non-restrictive	1232.68	354	0	-	.93
2	YA,EOU restricted	1875.78	355	643.1	.0000	.82

H12: Perceived ease of use (EOU) will be a significantly weaker factor for earlier adopters than for potential adopters of IT in determining attitude.

Hypothesis 12 stated that the relationship between ease of use and attitude would be stronger in the earlier adopter group than in the potential adopter. The standardized parameter estimated for this linkage in the earlier adopter structural model was -.08 (t = -1.17, p = .2423) (see Figure 11) and potential adopter -.09 (t= -.94, p = .3475) (see Figure 13), thus the direction of the hypothesis was supported. In addition, the parameters were not significant for either group. Regardless, the statistical difference of the parameters was assessed using a multi-group analysis, the earlier adopter versus potential adopter groups. In this test, the latent variables perceived usefulness, ease of use, compatibility, trialability, result demonstrability, and attitude and their indicators were entered in a regression model to assess the regression of attitude on perceived usefulness, ease of use, compatibility, trialability, and result demonstrability. In Model 1, the non-restrictive model, all parameters were reestimated in group 2. The χ^2 for Model 1 was 529.38 with 122 degrees of freedom. The CFI of the model was .94. The good fit statistics indicate an equal model form between the earlier adopter and potential adopter groups. In Model 2, only the regression coefficient of ease of use ($\gamma_{A,EOU}$) was restricted to be the same across both groups. The χ^2 for Model 2 was 532.18 (123 df). The CFI of the model was .93.

The difference in χ^2 between Model 1 and Model 2 was 2.8 with one *df* (*p* = .0943), therefore, the hypothesis was not supported at the .05 level. Table 32 shows the multi-group analysis for hypothesis 12.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Table 32. Multi-Group Analysis for Hypothesis 12						
Model Number	Model Description	χ²	df	Δχ ² from Model 1	<i>p</i> - value	CFI
1	Non-restrictive	529.38	122	0	-	.94
2	γ _{A,EOU} restricted	532.18	123	2.8	.0943	.93

H13: Individual innovativeness (II) will be positively correlated with IT usage for the earlier adopter group.

Hypothesis 13 stated that the relationship between individual innovativeness and usage would be positive in the earlier adopter group. The standardized parameter estimated for this linkage in the earlier adopter structural model was positive and significant at .39 (t = 6.30, p = .0000) (see Figure 11), thus the hypothesis was supported.

H14: Individual innovativeness (II) will be positively correlated with IT usage for the later adopter group

Hypothesis 14 stated that the relationship between individual innovativeness and usage would be positive in the later adopter group. The standardized parameter estimated for this linkage in the later adopter structural model was positive and significant at .55 (t = 7.93, p = .0000) (see Figure 12), thus the hypothesis was supported.

H15: Individual innovativeness (II) will be positively correlated with potential adopters' intention to adopt IT.

Hypothesis 15 stated that the relationship between individual innovativeness and behavioral intention would be positive in the potential adopter group. The standardized parameter estimated for this linkage in the potential adopter structural model was positive and significant at .41 (t = 4.52, p = .0000) (see Figure 13), thus the hypothesis was supported.

H16: Earlier adopters will be more innovative than later adopters.

This analysis was designed to estimate the mean difference of innovativeness as a latent variable by its indicators. In addition to the covariance matrices, the means were used as the input of this multi-group analysis. The addition of means is critical in mean structure analysis because the means of the variables are assumed to be equal in a covariance structure analysis (Jöreskog and Sörbom 1993). The mean difference is produced in the Kappa matrix. A positive value would indicate the mean of the latent variable in group 2 is greater than in group 1; a negative value would indicate the mean of the latent variable in group 2 is lower (Jöreskog and Sörbom 1993). The t-value associated with the mean difference is used to assess statistical significance of the difference. The same type of analysis was conducted in H17 and H18.

The earlier and later adopter data covariance matrices and means were used in the analysis. The earlier adopter group was specified in the model as group 1 following by the later adopter group, group 2. In the LISREL output, the kappa parameter that represents the mean difference between the two groups was examined. The kappa estimate was -.21 (t = -3.29, p < .05). The negative value indicates that the mean of innovativeness was higher in the earlier adopter group than in the later adopter group, thus the hypothesis was supported.

H17: Later adopters will be more innovative than potential adopters

This analysis was designed to estimate the mean difference of innovativeness as a latent variable by its indicators. In addition to the covariance matrices, the means were used as the input of this multi-group analysis. The later and potential adopter data covariance matrices and means were used in the analysis. The later adopter group was specified in the model as group 1 following by the potential adopter group, group 2. In the LISREL output, the kappa parameter that represents the mean difference between the two groups was examined. The kappa estimate was -.29 (t = -3.67, p < .05). The negative value indicates that the mean of innovativeness was higher in the later adopter group than in the potential adopter group, thus the hypothesis was supported.

H18: Earlier adopters will be more innovative than potential adopters.

This analysis was designed to estimate the mean difference of innovativeness as a latent variable by its indicators. In addition to the covariance matrices, the means were used as the input of this multi-group analysis. The earlier and potential adopter data covariance matrices and means were used in the analysis. The earlier adopter group was specified in the model as group 1 following by the potential adopter group, group 2. In the LISREL output, the kappa parameter that represents the mean difference between the two groups was examined. The kappa estimate was -.52 (t = -7.21, p < .05). The negative value indicates that the mean of innovativeness was higher in the earlier adopter group than in the potential adopter group, thus the hypothesis was supported.

H19: Perceived voluntariness will have a significant effect on usage for earlier adopters.

Hypothesis 19 postulated that the relationship between voluntariness and usage would not be significant in the earlier adopter group. The standardized parameter estimated for this linkage in the earlier adopter structural model was not significant at -.06 (t = -1.09, p = .2760) (see Figure 11), thus the hypothesis was rejected. Consequently, the hypothesized relationship was supported.

H20: Perceived voluntariness will be negatively correlated with usage (U) for later adopters.

Hypothesis 20 postulated that voluntariness and usage would be negatively correlated in the later adopter group. The standardized parameter estimated for this linkage in the later adopter structural model was significant at -.28 (t = -4.95, p = .0000) (see Figure 12), thus the hypothesis was supported.

H21: Perceived voluntariness (VOL) will be negatively correlated with behavioral intention (BI) for potential adopters.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Hypothesis 21 postulated that voluntariness and usage would be negatively correlated in the potential adopter group. The standardized parameter estimated for this linkage in the potential adopter structural model was not significant at -.12 (t = -1.82, p = .0691) (see Figure 13), thus the hypothesis was not supported at the .05 significance level.

Descriptive Questions 1 and 2

The descriptive questions 1 and 2 (on page 60) raised the question whether the behavioral beliefs that shape attitude differ among different types of adopters. The standardized path coefficients are shown in Figure 11 (page 123), Figure 12, (page 124), and Figure 13 (page 126) for the earlier, later, and potential adopters, respectively and summarized in Table 20 (page 127). The significant behavioral belief→attitude paths were examined. Seven behavioral beliefs were included in this study and they are perceived usefulness, ease of use, compatibility, trialability, visibility, result demonstrability, and image.

For the earlier adopters, four of the seven paths were significant: perceived usefulness \rightarrow attitude (.17), compatibility \rightarrow attitude (.30), visibility \rightarrow attitude (.26), and result demonstrability \rightarrow attitude (.26). Three paths were not significant: ease of use \rightarrow attitude (-.08), trialability \rightarrow attitude (-.01), and image \rightarrow attitude (.01).

For the later adopters, two of the seven paths were significant: perceived usefulness→attitude (.39) and result demonstrability→attitude (.22). Five paths

were not significant: ease of use \rightarrow attitude (.03), compatibility \rightarrow attitude (.13), trialability \rightarrow attitude (-.80), visibility \rightarrow attitude (.07), and image \rightarrow attitude (.22). The compatibility \rightarrow attitude was significant at .01 level.

For the potential adopters, three of the seven paths were significant: perceived usefulness \rightarrow attitude (.25), trialability \rightarrow attitude (.27), and visibility \rightarrow attitude (.12). use→attitude significant: of Four paths were not ease (-.09). compatibility→attitude (.06), result demonstrability→attitude (.10). and image \rightarrow attitude (.05).

Overall, there are some observations:

- Perceived usefulness->attitude was the only paths significant in all three groups.
- Only in the two user groups, result demonstrability→attitude was significant.
- Compatibility→attitude was significant only in the earlier adopter group.
- Trialability->attitude was significant only in the potential adopter group.
- Ease of use→attitude and image→attitude were not significant in any of the groups.

The implications of these observations are discussed later.

Organizational-Level Model Assessment

The relationship question 10 raised previously (page 62) aimed to answer whether organizational factors such as region/location, ownership, size, and industry affect IT diffusion. A total of 30 companies were investigated in this study. Due to a small sample size, statistical tests of the variables presented in the organizational model may not be meaningful. The analyses performed on the organizational model were descriptive and posited to explore the relationships between organizational variables and IT diffusion rate, which is the percentage of employees who are using the software at a given time in an organization (Rogers 1995).

Overall Diffusion

The overall diffusion curve, based on all the users who reported the approximate month and year when they started using the software, is depicted in Figure 14 where the cumulative percentage of employees who adopted the software was plotted against year 1984, which was the earliest reported computer usage in this study, to year 2000.

We examine the steepness of the curve; flat curves indicate slow diffusion and steep curves reflect rapid diffusion (Brancheau and Wetherbe 1990). For the first nine years (1984-1992), the diffusion curve remained relatively flat, reflecting slow diffusion during this period. In contrast, the curve became steep in the later seven years (1993-2000); the increasing steepness indicated a much faster rate of diffusion compared to the earlier period. The transitional point depicted in the diagram, 1993, is concomitant with the period indicated as the starting point of major information systems development in China.



Analysis by Variables

Region/Location

Companies from three cities in China were investigated in this study. The three cities were Shanghai, Jinan, and Hefei, located in eastern, northern, and central China, respectively. Shanghai is one of the most economically and technologically advanced cities in China. Therefore, it was expected that the companies in Shanghai would have the highest rate of diffusion among the three cities. Jinan is the capital city of a major industrial province in northern China and leads the country in many innovations, while Hefei is the capital city of a central province in central China and lags behind central and eastern China economically and technologically (Cui and Liu 2000). It is reasonable to assume that Hefei has the lowest rate of IT diffusion among the three. The field survey confirmed the assumption. We compared the diffusion rates, which were

calculated by dividing the number of users by the total number of respondents (users and potential adopter), across the three cities. The companies surveyed in Shanghai, Jinan, and Hefei had an IT diffusion rate of 90.7%, 89.4%, and 82.7%, respectively.

With regard to the speed of diffusion by city, the diffusion curves are presented in Figure 15. As shown in Figure 15, the steepness of the diffusion curves are similar for all three. Shanghai, however, seemed to have diffused IT faster from 1993 to 1999. Shangdong, taken over by Shanghai in 1993, led in IT diffusion from 1984 to 1993. Hefei is shown to have the slowest diffusion rate among the three, but in 1998 it increased its momentum for IT diffusion.



Ownership

We separated the companies into three categories: public, private, and jointventure. The public companies are controlled and solely or partly owned by the Chinese government. The private companies operate with only private investment. The joint-ventures are partly owned and controlled by foreign entities.

Table 33. Number of Companies Surveyed and theRate of Diffusion					
	Count	Diffusion			
Public Company	22	76.6%			
Private Company	2	89.1%			
Joint-venture	6	85.7%			

The diffusion rates were 76.6%, 89.1%, and 85.7% for the public companies, the private companies, and the joint-ventures, respectively. The diffusion rate among all the companies owned by the Chinese, aggregating both the public and the private companies, was 77.1%. The public companies, traditionally wholly owned by the government, are now increasingly diversifying. Many are considering private investment. Among the 22 public companies surveyed, five companies had private funding and many others were considering it. The diffusion rate in the public companies having private shareholders was 81.7% in contrast to 76.0% in solely-owned public companies. Some state companies had no IT penetration while others are fully computerized.



Figure 16 shows that the joint-ventures were the leaders in IT diffusion. There was no reported usage for the joint-ventures prior to 1984 and for the private companies prior to 1988. These indicated that penetrations from joint-ventures and private companies were recent. The public companies lagged behind the others and had become more diffused since 1998.

We investigated the public companies further. They are increasingly diversifying and using private funding. We examined whether public companies that were more diversified were more technologically diffused than their solely-owned counterparts. In Figure 17, the diffusion curves show that the diffusion rate was faster in diversified public companies than in the solely-owned public companies between the years of 1993 and mid-1997.



Size

In our study, the companies having 100-250 employees were categorized into small/medium companies (SME). The companies having 500 employees or more were classified as large (LE). The diffusion rates for the small/medium (N = 18) and large companies (N = 12) were 89.0% and 74.7%, respectively. The lowest rate of diffusion within an organization was 50% and 0% in the small/medium and large companies investigated, respectively, while, within each category, there were companies that have achieved 100% IT diffusion.

157



The diffusion curves however showed very little difference based on the size of the company. The curves were almost identical. The small company curve showed slight slower diffusion from 1995 to 1999 as compared with the large company curve.

Industry

In this study, we categorize industry into manufacturing (N = 7), services (N = 10), research and development (N = 10), and IT and telecommunications (N = 2). The industries, ranking from the highest to the lowest rate of diffusion, are IT and telecommunications, research and development, services, and manufacturing, at 94.50%, 93.37%, 84.02%, and 61.28%, in that order.



The diffusion curves in Figure 19 show that the companies in IT and telecommunications led in IT diffusion. The companies in manufacturing and services have similar rates of diffusion. The companies in research and development had the slowest diffusion until 1998.

Training/Support

The interviews revealed that most of the organizations in China lacked IT training and support. While some organizations offered training before implementing the technology, training was voluntary. Formal policies in training were absent in general. The common model in the companies investigated was that when new technologies were introduced, each functional area would send its computer person, unofficially appointed, to attend the training if provided. Vendor-offered training dominated the type of trainings available. Following the training, the computer person would train the rest of the members in the functional area. However, the responsibility was never mandatory nor compensated.

. . . .

In the survey, respondents were asked to indicate whether they received training before and after adopting the technology. A small percentage of the respondents (13.6%) received training before adoption and 6.4% received training after adoption. Within a single organization, the highest percentage of employees that received training was 44.4%. Six organizations provided no training.

The main form of IT support in the organizations investigated was self-provided. The employees attempted to troubleshoot and resolve the problems by themselves first. Only when they failed, would they ask for help from the computer person. Only in situations such as hardware failures, would employees contact the IT supporting staff. The average IT staff in our sample was small. For example, in a research institution that had over 600 employees, there was only one IT specialist. Many firms also reported the use of vendor support.

DATA ANALYSIS RESULTS

Three sets of results are summarized in this section: model testing, hypothesis testing, and organizational model testing results. The results of the LISREL analyses of the measurement models for earlier, later, and potential adopters are summarized in Table 18 (page 120). The measurement model was divided into two portions. Each part was tested using the overall sample. A total of four measurement items were deleted based on residual and modification index assessments. The refined measurement model was then tested against the three adopter samples. The fit statistics indicated good fit of the measurement models to all.

The structural model was assessed following the measurement model. Table 19 (page 126) gives the summary of the fit statistics, which indicated the structural equation models fit marginally to the adopter data subsets. The structural path coefficients estimated are presented in Figure 11 (page 123), Figure 12 (page 124), and Figure 13 (page 126), for the earlier adopter, later adopter, and potential adopter groups, respectively. Nine of the 13 structural linkages were significant for the earlier adopters, eight for the later adopters, and seven for the potential adopters. Table 20 (page 127) summarizes the results of the path estimates. The model had good predictive power: $R^2_A = .47$, $R^2_{SN} = .45$, $R^2_{BI} = .32$, and $R^2_U = .29$ for the earlier adopters, $R^2_A = .41$, $R^2_{SN} = .36$, $R^2_{BI} = .13$, and $R^2_U = .39$ for the later adopters, and $R^2_A = .33$, $R^2_{SN} = .55$, and $R^2_{BI} = .63$ for the potential adopters.

Of the 21 hypotheses tested, 14 were supported statistically (H1, H3, H5, H6, H8, H11, H13, H14, H15, H16, H17, H18, H19, H20) and seven were not supported (H2, H4, H7, H9, H10, H12, H21) at the .05 significance level. H2 was directionally supported. H7 found a statistical difference; however, the direction of the hypothesis was contradicted. H12 and H21 were supported at the .10 significance level.

Table 34 gives a summary of the hypothesis testing results. The effect of attitude on behavioral intention was found to be stronger for the earlier adopter than for the later and potential adopters. The difference of the effect was not statistically supported when the later adopters were compared to the potential adopters. The effect of subjective norm on behavioral intention was not different between earlier and later adopters, whereas it was between the potential adopters and earlier The effect of perceived usefulness on attitude was and later adopters. significantly different across all groups; however, it was found that the effect was stronger in the later adopters than the earlier, contradicting the expectation. The effect of perceived ease of use on attitude was only significantly different between the later and potential adopters. We found the earlier adopters to be the most innovative followed by the later and potential adopters. Individual innovativeness significantly correlated with usage for both the earlier and later adopters. It also correlated highly with behavioral intention for the potential adopters. No effect of voluntariness on behavioral intention was found for the

162
earlier adopters. There was a significant negative correlation between voluntariness and behavioral intention for the later adopters. Contradicting the hypothesis, the negative effect of voluntariness on behavioral intention was not statistically significant.

Overall, two of the five hypotheses pertaining to the differences between the earlier and later adopters were supported (H1 and H16), four of five between the later and potential adopters (H5, H8, H11, and H17), and three of five between the earlier and potential adopters (H3, H6, and H18).

Table 34. Summary of Hypothesis Testing Results	
Hypothesis	Support
H1: The effect of attitude (A) on behavioral intention (BI) will be stronger for earlier adopters than for later adopters.	Yes
H2: The effect of attitude (A) on behavioral intention (BI) will be stronger for later adopters than for potential adopters.	No
H3: The effect of attitude (A) on behavioral intention (BI) will be stronger for earlier adopters than for potential adopters.	Yes
H4: The effect of subjective norm (SN) on behavioral intention (BI) will be weaker for earlier adopters than for later adopters.	No
H5: The effect of subjective norm (SN) on behavioral intention (BI) will be weaker for later adopters than for potential adopters.	Yes
H6: The effect of subjective norm (SN) on behavioral intention (BI) will be weaker for earlier adopters than for potential adopters.	Yes
H7: Perceived usefulness (PU) will be a significantly stronger factor for earlier adopters than for later adopters of IT in determining attitude.	No

Table 34. Continued	
Hypothesis	Support
H8: Perceived usefulness (PU) will be a significantly stronger factor for later adopters than for potential adopters of IT in determining attitude.	Yes
H9: Perceived usefulness (PU) will be a significantly stronger factor for earlier adopters than for potential adopters of IT in determining attitude.	No
H10: Perceived ease of use (EOU) will be a significantly weaker factor for earlier adopters than for later adopters of IT in determining attitude.	No
H11: Perceived ease of use (EOU) will be a significantly weaker factor for later adopters than for potential adopters of IT in determining attitude.	Yes
H12: Perceived ease of use (EOU) will be a significantly weaker factor for earlier adopters than for potential adopters of IT in determining attitude.	No
H13: Individual innovativeness (II) will be positively correlated with IT usage for the earlier adopter group.	Yes
H14: Individual innovativeness (II) will be positively correlated with IT usage for the later adopter group	Yes
H15: Individual innovativeness (II) will be positively correlated with potential adopters' intention to adopt IT.	Yes
H16: Earlier adopters will be more innovative than later adopters.	Yes
H17: Later adopters will be more innovative than potential adopters	Yes
H18: Earlier adopters will be more innovative than potential adopters.	Yes
H19: Perceived voluntariness will have a significant effect on usage for earlier adopters.	Yes
H20: Perceived voluntariness will be negatively correlated with usage (U) for later adopters.	Yes
H21: Perceived voluntariness (VOL) will be negatively correlated with behavioral intention (BI) for potential adopters.	No

For the organizational model proposed, the variables were not tested statistically. The descriptive power of the variables was explored. In summary, the data, when segmented by region, ownership, and industry, showed variability, which was as expected. Size, however, was found to be inconsistent with the expectation. Implications of the results are discussed next.

DISCUSSIONS

Overall, the results of this study confirm many of the results of prior studies while providing promising evidence of differences across adopter groups. We discuss the results of the study in the sequence as follows:

- 1) The results of the research models for each adopter group.
- 2) The results of the hypotheses testing are discussed and prior studies are linked.
- 3) The results of the organizational model analysis.
- 4) The results of this study are compared to some existing cross-cultural studies.

The focus of the study is to uncover differences across adopter groups. In testing the hypotheses, we were able to establish the form equivalency and isolate the structural differences. Nevertheless, such differences should be discussed with caution because the measurement models were different across the adopter groups.

Research Models

One research question raised in this study was whether the proposed research models fit well for earlier, later, and potential adopters. Overall, the results of the model testing show that the models demonstrated good predictive power and explained potential adopter and user behaviors well for the data collected. The CFI index was above .95 and the RMSEA was around .06 (except for the SUB1 fit for the later adopter group data) for the measurement model for each data set. The measurement model fit statistics are seldom reported in the existing technology acceptance model studies, therefore, we only focus on the comparisons of structural model fit between this study and existing studies.

The structural models were assessed with all hypothesized paths included. The RMSEA indices were approximately .06 and indicative of good fit for the structural model to all three adopter samples. The CFI indices were indicative of marginal fit at .92 for all adopter samples. The structural model fit indices in other studies of technology acceptance models range from .79 to .96 for CFI and from .097 to .053 for RMSEA (e.g., Agarwal and Prasad 1998; Bagozzi et al. 1992; Doll et al. 1998; Igbaria et al. 1997; Taylor and Todd 1995a, 1995b). Overall, the fit indices in this study were adequate based on fit indices as well as when compared to those reported in prior studies. Other types of fit indices reported include Goodness of Fit (GFI), Adjusted Goodness of Fit (AGFI), Root Mean Square Residual (RMR), and Relative Noncentrality Index (RNI) and the recommended values are .90, .90, .08, and, .95, respectively (Hu and Bentler 1995; Hu and Bentler 1999). Many models fit poorly to data in some studies; for example, GFI as low as .75, AGFI as low as .65, and RNI as low as .86 have been reported (e.g., Adams et al. 1992; Bagozzi 1992; Doll et al. 1998; Taylor and Todd 1995a, 1995b).

The significant structural paths were examined. With the exception of the behavioral belief to attitude and voluntariness to behavioral intention/usage paths, all paths are significant as proposed in adopter groups. The differences in

the significant paths are discussed in the hypotheses testing section. More importantly, we examine the percentage of variance extracted accounted for by the structural model.

With regard to its predictive power, the model explained 29% of the variance in behavior, 32% in behavioral intention, 47% in attitude, and 45% in subjective norm for earlier adopters. For later adopters, the model explained 39% of the variance in behavior, 13% in behavioral intention, 41% in attitude, and 36% in subjective norm. For the potential adopters, the model explained 52% in behavioral intention, 47% in attitude, and 45% in subjective norm. Table 35 summarizes the predictive power of the model in terms of the variance explained in the key variables for all three adopter groups.

Table 35. Predictive Power (R ²)						
Variable	Earlier Adopter	Later Adopter	Potential Adopter			
Usage	29%	39%	•			
Behavioral Intention	32%	13%	52%			
Attitude	47%	41%	47%			
Subjective Norm	45%	36%	45%			

When compared to existing studies, the variation in usage behavior explained in this study is consistent with prior reported values. The typical value has been around 30% (e.g., 34%, Davis et al. 1989; 30%, Taylor and Todd 1995). Similarly, the results of a meta analysis (Sheppard et al. 1988) of 87 TRA studies

also found that 30% of the variance in behavior could be explained by behavioral intention. However, there are other studies that report exceptionally low (e.g., 4%, Adams et al. 1992) or high values (e.g., 74%, Davis 1989).

The model explained 32%, 13% and 52% of the variance in behavioral intention for the earlier, later, and potential adopters, respectively. In other studies, results vary notably from 23.6% to more than 60%, for example, Karahanna et al. (1999), 23.6%, Mathieson (1991), 62.1%, Sheppard et al. (1988), 60%, and Taylor and Todd (1995a), 43%.

The percent of the variance in attitude explained by behavioral beliefs is 47%, 41% and 47% for earlier, later, and potential adopters. Some reported values in prior studies are 41.2% in Mathieson (1991) and 76% Taylor and Todd (1995b).

Normative beliefs explained 45%, 36%, and 45% of the variance in subjective norm for earlier, later, and potential adopters, respectively. The percentages are less than the reported values in Mathieson (1991), 47.7% and Taylor and Todd (1995), 50 to 57%.

It is clearly demonstrated thus far that there are great inconsistencies in the variance explained in the key constructs across the existing studies. As proposed earlier in the study, we believe that one explanation to such inconsistencies is the lack of distinction between adopter types. The variations of

the results across the adopter groups in this study are indicative of this proposition, which implies that the predictive power of the model varies for different adopter groups. In this study, the model had better predictive power for the potential adopters than the users. There were similar findings in the Karahanna et al. (1999) study where behavioral intention was studied in users and potential adopters. Only 23.6% of variance in behavioral intention was explained for users, while 38.4% was explained for potential adopters. In addition, in our study, we differentiated the users and found the earlier and later adopter models to have different predictive powers.

To further demonstrate that the adopter types play an important role in explaining IT acceptance, we reexamined the types of adopters in the Taylor and Todd (1995a) study where the adopters were differentiated based on experience. The survey study was conducted based on the usage of a student computing resource center (CRC) in a business school with 1000 students, of which 786 participated in the survey study. The study divided the participants into nonusers (N=356) and current users (N=430). Following the survey, the participants' usage of the CRC was tracked for a 12-week period. The total number of participants who used the CRC was 451, of which 119 were among the 356 nonusers and 332 were among the 430 users with prior experience. The study classified the 119 nonusers as inexperienced users and the 332 users as experienced users. The differences between the two groups were examined. However, when we applied the adopter classification framework to the sample

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

(assuming the sample of 786 is representative of the population), we concluded that the 119 nonusers were the late majority (later adopters in this study), and the 332 users were a combination of the innovators, early adopters, and early majority (earlier adopters in this study). In their study, they found the model to have different predictive power for the later and earlier adopters.

In this study, with regard to predictive power, the models behave differently for different groups of adopters as discussed above. The model predicted the later adopter usage behavior better than that of the earlier adopter. The model predicted the potential adopter behavioral intention the best, following by the earlier adopter and then later adopter. The model predicted the potential and earlier adopter attitude and subjective norm equally well and better than the later adopter. The model results provide us with some preliminary insight into the differences between earlier, later, and potential adopters. Additional determinants may need to be discovered for each group of adopters. In the next section, the results of hypothesis testing are discussed with a focus on the findings of the differences across adopter groups.

Hypotheses

The focus of the discussions of the hypotheses is the findings of the differences across the adopter groups. Five groups of such findings are discussed:

- 1. Differences in the determinants of behavioral intention (H1-H6).
- 2. Differences in the effects of perceived usefulness and ease of use (H7-H12).

- 3. Differences in innovativeness (H13-H18).
- 4. Differences in the effect of perceived voluntariness (H19-H21).
- 5. Differences in the determinants of attitude (Descriptive Questions 1 and 2).

Differences in the Determinants of Behavioral Intention

For all adopter groups, both attitude and subjective norm are significant determinants of behavioral intention. The comparative strengths of the attitude on behavioral intention and subjective norm on behavior intention differ across the adopter groups. More intriguingly, the differences reflect that earlier adopters are similar to later adopters along some dimensions while later adopters and potential adopters are similar along other dimensions. The effect of attitude on behavioral intention differs between earlier and later adopters and earlier and potential adopters but not between later and potential adopters. These results indicate that the effect of attitude on intention is the strongest for earlier adopters while it is similar for the later and potential adopters.

The prior literature provides support to such findings. It is found that users form attitude based on direct experience, thus a closer relationship between attitude and behavioral intention is expected (Fazio and Zanna 1982). This is also evidenced in other studies where a closer relationship is found in users than in potential adopters (e.g., Karahanna et al. 1999). We extended the knowledge of this relationship to earlier and later adopters. Apparently, later adopters are similar to potential adopters because both lack direct experience. With regard to the effect of subjective norm on behavioral intention, earlier and later adopters do not differ. This effect is the strongest for the potential adopters. This firmly suggests that subjective norm plays a more critical role in shaping potential adopters' intention than users'. Having direct experience, users are less influenced by normative pressures. This is also found in other studies (e.g., Karahanna et al. 1999).

Innovation diffusion studies also provide support for this finding. Earlier adopters rely on their own experience with the technology to form their perceptions. The knowledge of the earlier adopters, diffused through personal communication networks and made available to later adopters and potential adopters, plays a part in shaping the perceptions of the subsequent adopters (Rogers 1995). In other words, the attitudes of later and potential adopters tend to be formed by indirect experience, which can be attributed to subjective norm.

The important message from the findings is that IT managers can focus on applying different approaches to encourage adoption and use of IT to different types of end-users. For early adopters, to sustain usage, more emphasis should be placed on the technical aspects of the technology. Therefore, training should be designed to provide users with exposures to the functionalities of the technology. For later adopters, the diffusion process can be facilitated using the norms exist in the environment. For potential adopters, when promoting an IT the managers can focus on how the technology has been diffused in the organization, specifically addressing the parties of the interpersonal networks. Anecdotes and examples pertaining to end-users' personal networks can be extremely influential.

Differences in the Effects of Perceived Usefulness and Ease of Use

The effect of perceived usefulness is significant on attitude for all adopter groups while ease of use is not. When the strength of the effect of perceived usefulness on attitude is compared across groups, it differs significantly between earlier and later adopters and later and potential adopters. However, contrary to the hypothesized direction, the effect of perceived usefulness on attitude is stronger for later adopters than for earlier adopters. No difference is found between earlier and potential adopters. The difference of the effect of perceived usefulness between later and potential adopters is supported by prior studies (Davis 1989; Szajna 1996).

The effect of perceived ease of use on attitude is the weakest for later adopters and significantly different only between later and potential adopters. The effect is similar for earlier and potential adopters. In Davis et al. (1989), a significant effect of perceived ease of use was found immediately after a brief one-hour training; however, after a 14-week period, no significant effect of perceived ease of use was found. In addition, numerous studies that found that perceived ease of use was a nonsignificant factor in technology acceptance are indicative that the effect of perceived ease of use is only short-term (e.g., Adams et al. 1992; Davis 1989; Hu et al. 1999; Igbaria et al. 1995). It is also reasonable to assume that most IT end-users, once having made the adoption decision do not associate "easy to use" with information technology usage, which requires indepth knowledge sometimes.

The literature suggests that attitude changes with experience (Fazio 1989). As users gain experience with IT, they become more knowledgeable about the technology. To sustain long-term use, they demand more functions of the technology. If the technology becomes less adequate as users demand more functions, they will adopt other innovations as replacements. Some studies also demonstrated through longitudinal studies that the effect of perceived usefulness become stronger in a short period, however, usually less than three months (e.g., Davis 1989; Szajna 1996). The changes of behavioral beliefs in the long-term are unclear in the literature. In addition, the antecedents of change are yet to be determined (Szajna 1996).

It is reasonable to argue that perceived usefulness significantly influences attitude of all adopters at different stages of the individual adoption process. For the potential adopters studied here, they are likely to be in the knowledge, persuasion, or decision stage. For the later adopters, they are in the confirmation stage or beyond. The earlier adopters have most likely moved beyond the confirmation stage. The findings suggest that perceived usefulness is the most influential for later adopters in the confirmation stage. On the other

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

hand, the findings of perceived ease of use was not a significant factor in determining attitude, however the effect does differ across different types of adopters found in this study should invite further studies to determine at what stage(s) of the adoption process would the effect of ease of use to be significant for what type(s) of adopters.

Differences in Innovativeness

Early adopters are more innovative than later adopters and potential adopters. Overall, we see an evolution of the degree of innovativeness from potential, to later, to earlier adopters. The findings of the differences in innovativeness across adopter types validate the classification of the adopters. Also, it is found that the more innovative the potential adopters are, the more likely they will adopt the IT. Similarly, the more innovative the users are, the more they use the technology. The findings can be interpreted as that potential, later, and earlier adopters are different end-users who differ in the nature of innovativeness (Rogers 1995). On the other hand, it is also rational to assume that end-users become more innovative through the use of technology over time. In fact, individual innovativeness can be improved; therefore, IT managers can invest in methods that enhance innovativeness, such as providing trade journals and IT seminars, which may not be directly related to the use of IT (Rogers 1995). Such methods, which are relatively inexpensive compared to IT training, can effectively improve individual innovativeness, and therefore, ultimately promote a positive environment for IT innovation diffusion.

Differences in the Effect of Perceived Voluntariness

The findings of the effect of perceived voluntariness on earlier and later adopters are supported by prior studies. For earlier adopters who are in continued usage stage, the effect of voluntariness on usage is not significant (Agarwal and Prasad 1997). For later adopters, the effect of perceived voluntariness is significant. Because they adopt after the average members, even when there are plenty of information available to them, their behaviors are more motivated by external pressures, such as mandatory usage policies (Agarwal and Prasad 1997).

The effect perceived voluntariness on potential adopter behavioral intention was supported directionally. Similarly to later adopters, potential adopters react to external pressures; however, the impact may not be as effective. This may imply that mandatory usage policies fail to promote usage at the later stage of the diffusion process. The rationalization maybe that the potential adopters have the greatest resistance to change and they would only adopt when all others have; therefore, mandatory usage policies have little effect on them.

The implication is that a mandatory usage policy should be deployed after the average members adopt IT because it is the most effective for later adopters. Such policy should be lifted in the last stage of the IT diffusion process because it is ineffective for laggards.

Differences in the Determinants of Attitude

In examining the behavioral belief to attitude paths, different behavioral beliefs were found significant for different groups of adopters. There are four, two, and three significant behavioral beliefs in determining attitude for earlier, later, and potential adopters (see Table 36). Table 36 summarizes the results of significant behavioral beliefs in this study and some prior studies, which contain a similar list of behavioral beliefs.

Table 36. Significant Behavioral Beliefs							
Adopter	PU	EOU	COM	TR	VI	RD	IM
Current Study							
Earlier Adopter	S	NS	S	NS	S	S	NS
Later Adopter	S	NS	NS	NS	NS	S	NS
Potential Adopter	S	NS	NS	S	S	NS	NS
Prior Studies							
User (Moore and Benbasat 1991)	S	S	S	NS	NS	NS	NS
User (Agarwal and Prasad 1997)	NS	NS	S	S	S	NS	NS
User (Karahanna et al. 1999)	S	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	S
Potential Adopter (Karahanna et al. 1999)	S	NS	NS	S	S	S	NS

S – Significant (p < .05); NS – Not significant.

PU – Perceived Usefulness, EOU – Ease of Use; COM – Compatibility; TR – Trialability; VI – Visibility; RD – Result Demonstrability; IM – Image.

In this study, only perceived usefulness is significant for all adopters. In fact, perceived usefulness has been a significant factor in the majority of the technology acceptance literature with rare exceptions (e.g., Agarwal and Prasad

1997). In studies where only perceived usefulness and ease of use are studied, the significance of perceived usefulness has been persistent. The current study confirms the importance of usefulness for all adopters.

Perceived ease of use and image are two factors that are not significant for any adopters. In many of the studies, perceived ease of use was not significant (e.g., Adams et al. 1992; Agarwal and Prasad 1997; Hu et al. 1999; Igbaria et al. 1995; Jackson et al. 1997). As discussed earlier, the effect of perceived ease of use may be only short-term and before adoption. Few studies in the IS examined the effect of image. It was found significant in few studies for users (e.g., Karahanna et al. 1999).

Two beliefs that are unique to an adopter group are compatibility and trialability. Compatibility is significant for only earlier adopters. This is also found to be significant for users in prior studies (e.g, Agarwal and Prasad 1997). The earlier adopters, having directly experienced the technology, would be in a better position than the later or potential adopters to assess the compatibility factor. It is reasonable to assume that a continuous user who has grown to be dependent on the technology (i.e., earlier adopter) would be more likely to rate the technology as compatible.

Trialability is significant for only potential adopters in this study. This factor is also significant for the potential adopters studied in the Karahanna et al. (1999)

study. In fact, all three significant behavioral belief factors were found to be significant in the Karahanna et al. (1999) study, in which an additional factor, result demonstrability, was found to be significant. The consensus is that perceived usefulness, trialability, and visibilities are significant behavioral beliefs for potential adopters. Not only is the usefulness factor important for potential adopters, but also it is important for them to try the technology and to see others using the technology before adoption. The ability to try out a technology is only salient to potential adopters because the experimentation with the technology helps them to overcome uncertainties and makes the change process less demanding (Karahanna et al. 1999). In addition, seeing others using the technology would also contribute to a more favorable attitude toward adoption.

Result demonstrability is a significant factor for both the earlier and later adopters. This result is not supported by other studies of users, which usually consist of a combination of innovators, earlier and later adopters, are treated as homogeneous end-users. The discrepancies in those studies are indicative of the importance of separating the adopters. As demonstrated in our study, different sets of beliefs drive the attitude of different adopters.

Overall, there are some common findings in this study and prior studies with respect to significant user behavioral beliefs. However, the comparison is limited because there are very few studies to date that simultaneously examined an elaborate set of behavioral beliefs as performed in this study (e.g., Agarwal and

Prasad 1997; Moore and Benbasat 1996; Karahanna et al. 1999). It is noteworthy that the results of this study are based on simultaneous testing of the behavioral beliefs. Therefore, their comparative strengths are shown clearly. In studies where only a small set of beliefs is tested, it is possible that the beliefs that are significant can be overshadowed by more influential factors when introduced. Therefore, the studies selected for comparison include similar variables.

Consistent with prior research, perceived usefulness is significant in this study. In fact, perceived usefulness is the only factor that is significant in all studies (with the exception of Agarwal and Prasad 1997), including the TAM studies. Compatibility was significant in both Agarwal and Prasad and Moore and Benbasat (1991) studies. Visibility was significant in the Agarwal and Prasad and Karahanna et al studies while not in Moore and Benbasat. Result demonstrability was not significant for users in other studies while it is in the current study. The factors that were not significant for users in this study are perceived ease of use, trialability, and image. Prior studies have shown inconsistent findings of perceived ease of use. Particularly in field studies, perceived ease of use is often not significant (see Table 3 for the findings on perceived ease of use).

To compare the results of the potential adopter sample, the study we selected is Karahanna et al. (1999), which is the only available study of potential adopters

we are aware of with the variables of interest. The significance of perceived usefulness, trialability, and visibility are consistent in the two studies. Table 36 shows the results.

Organizational Model Discussions

The results of the descriptive analyses performed on the variables introduced in the organizational model provide some indications to how technology is diffusing in China. Regional effect is evidenced: more advanced regions have higher IT diffusion rate; joint-ventures lead IT diffusion in China; public companies with private funding are more diffused technologically than sole-owned public companies; companies in IT and telecommunications industry lead IT diffusion; and organizational size has no significant relationship with IT diffusion rate.

Government policies play a part in economic development in China. Therefore, government intervention could lead to a more rapid IT diffusion. Policies that encourage foreign and private penetrations also help accelerate the diffusion rate. In regard to industry, policies can be designed to spur IT diffusion in laggards.

External Validity

The empirical results and analysis of this study are based on data collected in China. Therefore, they must be interpreted and applied with caution. Even though our study was intended to explore theoretical relationships rather than to make generalizations, we still need to examine the issue of external validity, which deals with "to what populations, settings, treatment variables, and measurement variables can an effect be generalized" (Campbell and Stanley 1963). The main focus of the study was to demonstrate that variable relationships and their impact are different for different types of adopters.

Regardless, the results of this study, when compared with other studies, exhibited the majority of expected relationships and degrees of predictive power; therefore, there is some degree of external validly for the results found here (Winer 1999).

Comparisons of Results to Existing Cross-Cultural IT Diffusion Studies

The importance of culture in IT research has been addressed in some recent studies (Kedia and Bhagat 1988; Straub 1994; Straub et al. 1997). Current literature calls for more studies of the role of culture in technology diffusion (Prescott and Conger 1995). Similar studies conducted pertaining to IT acceptance and diffusion in non-U.S. regions are limited in number and scope.

They are based on the TAM model. In this section, with the intent of exploring the role of culture in explaining IT acceptance, we first compare the results of our study to those TAM studies. In addition, we compare the results of our study to some U.S. studies with similar scope from a cultural perspective. One potential contribution of this study is that we may be able to explain the differences in the determinants of IT acceptance based on cultural differences.

Cross-culture studies in the IT diffusion area are mainly TAM-based studies that are limited to testing the relationships among perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, attitude, and behavioral intention. In this section, we compare the results of our study with the existing studies. The purpose of the comparisons is to explore the effect of cultural factors on information technology acceptance. Although such comparisons may not generate definitive conclusions, we intend to draw more attention to the importance of studies of the role of culture and cultural factors in information technology acceptance. We selected the following studies conducted outside the United States and Canada:

Straub et al. (1997): Japan, Switzerland, and the United States Hu et al. (1999): Hong Kong Rose and Straub (1998): Arab

First, we inspect the values of cultural dimensions of those countries. In Table 37, the culture dimension values of seven countries and regions are presented. We list four dimensions of culture. Also, the cultural cluster to which each country/region belongs is included. Studies have developed the concept of cultural clusters that can be used to group similar cultures (Ronen and Shenkar

1985). Canada and the United States are in the same cluster, Anglo. China and Hong Kong are in the Far Eastern cluster. The Japanese culture is unique and is classified as independent. Switzerland is in the Germanic cluster. Arab countries form the Arab cluster. Next, the cultures of these countries are discussed.

Country	Cultural Cluster	Power Distance	Uncertainty Avoidance	Individualism	Masculinity
United States	Anglo	30	21	100	74
Canada	Anglo	28	24	93	57
China	Far Eastern	89	44	39	54
Hong Kong	Far Eastern	73	8	32	67
Japan	Independent	32	89	55	100
Switzerland	Germanic	17	40	75	93
Arab	Arab	89	51	52	58

Adapted from (Cullen 1999, p. 62). (100 = highest; 50 = middle)

The majority of the existing studies of technology acceptance and diffusion studies were conducted in the United States and Canada. These two cultures are similar according to the values of the cultural dimensions. They have a low degree of power distance. They have the lowest degree and uncertainty avoidance and highest degree of individualism among the seven countries. The degree of masculinity is relatively high for Anglo cultures. Overall, the United States and Canada cultures are individualistic and have a low degree of power distance and uncertainty avoidance. China and Hong Kong are classified under the Far Eastern cluster. They have a higher degree of power distance, lower degree of individualism, and similar degree of masculinity as the United States and Canada. Among all seven countries, China and Hong Kong have the highest values of power distance and the lowest values of individualism. The degree of uncertainty avoidance is quite different between the two cultures. China has a much higher degree of uncertainty avoidance than Hong Kong, whose value is the lowest among the seven countries. Overall, the Far Eastern culture is group oriented and has a high degree of uncertainty avoidance.

Japan has a low degree of power distance, the highest degree of uncertainty avoidance among the seven countries, relatively neutral level of individualism, and the highest degree of masculinity. Compared to the Anglo culture, Japan has a similar degree of power distance, a much higher degree of uncertainty avoidance and masculinity, and much less degree of individualism. Compared to the Far Eastern culture, Japan has a much lower degree of power distance, much higher degree uncertainty avoidance and masculinity, and a higher degree of individualism. Overall, the Japanese culture is characterized as high uncertainty avoidance and masculine.

Switzerland belongs to the Germanic culture cluster. Among the seven countries, it has the lowest level of power distance. It has a similar level of uncertainty avoidance to China. It has relatively high degree of individualism and

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

very high degree of masculinity. The degree of individualism is just below the Anglo culture and its degree of masculinity is just below the Japanese culture. Overall, it is a low power distance, highly individualistic, and masculine culture. Arab countries make up a distinctive culture cluster. This culture has the highest degree of power distance as China, high degree of uncertainty avoidance, relatively neutral degree of individualism, and relatively low level of masculinity. The culture values of the Arab culture are similar to China in ranking. The two cultures have the highest level of power distance. The Arab culture has to some extent higher degree of uncertainty avoidance, individualism, and masculinity than China. Overall, the Arab culture demonstrates high power distance and uncertainty avoidance.

Table 38 compares the significance of perceived usefulness and ease of use and subjective norm and the variance extracted for behavioral intention found in the existing studies. It is important to point out that all the studies selected here are field studies. The IT acceptance literature review indicated that field studies tend to have different results from lab experiments. Perceived ease of use often is concluded as a nonsignificant factor in field studies. In addition, when the TAM model is applied, the total percent of variance explained in behavior is much smaller in field studies than in lab experiments. For example, in Davis (1989), two studies were conducted. Study 1 was a field study in which no significant effect of perceived ease of use was found on usage behavior. On average 38% of the variance in usage was explained. In Study 2, a lab experiment, ease of

use was significant overall; the average variance explained in usage was 74%. The comparison raises the question of whether there are more variables that account for the variations in usage in field settings. Several studies have suggested that norms may be one such variable (Lucas and Spitler 1999). However, the norm variables have been consistently omitted in the majority of the existing IT acceptance studies.

In Straub et al. (1997), the study selected a company that uses E-Mail from each of the counties. As indicated in the study, Japan was in an early stage of E-Mail use. The United States and Switzerland were mature users of E-Mail. In Rose and Straub (1998), computer use among 274 knowledge workers in five Arab countries was investigated. In Hu et al. (1999), the use of telemedicine by 408 physicians at public educational hospitals in Hong Kong was investigated. However, in these studies, no effort was made to separate the users into appropriate groups. In Karahanna et al. (1999), based on given information, the users described in the study were a mixture of innovators, early adopters, and early majority; the potential adopters were a mixture of late majority and laggards. As the current study has demonstrated, the omission of types of adopters may ultimately prohibit studies from producing meaningful and accurate results; therefore, we need to be cautious in comparing the findings. Such comparison is fairly limited and the conclusions drawn require further empirical evidence.

Table 38. Summary of Results in Cross-Cultural IT Adoption Studies								
- Coefficients and Variance Extracted								
Study	Country PU		EOU	BI	U	SN		
				(R *)	(R*)			
Current Study – earlier adopter	China	S	_NS	.32	.29	S		
Current Study – later adopter	China	S	NS	.13	.39	S		
Current Study – potential	China	S	NS	.52		S		
adopter				-				
	Japan	NŠ	NS		.01			
(Straub et al. 1997)	Switzerland	S	NS		.10			
	United	S	NS		.10			
	States]						
(Rose and Straub 1998)	Arab	S	S	.40				
(Hu et al. 1999)	Hong Kong	S	NS	.44				
(Karahanna et al. 1999) - users	United	S	NS	.24		NS		
	States			l 1				
(Karahanna et al. 1999) –	United	S	NS	.38		S		
potential adopters	States							

S – Significant; NS – Not Significant. (p < .05)

PU—Perceived Usefulness; EOU—Perceived Ease of Use; BI—

Behavioral Intention; U-Usage; SN-Subjective Norm.

In Table 38, perceive usefulness (PU) is significant in all studies except the one conducted in Japan. Perceived usefulness seems to be a universal determinant of attitude of the users; such findings are also common in other U.S. based studies. Therefore, IT management must focus on perceived usefulness. Perceive ease of use (EOU) is not significant in any of the studies except the one conducted in the Arab countries. The results pertaining to this variable are inconsistent in U.S.-based studies (see Table 3). In general, EOU is not significant in field studies, the methodology used in all cross-culture studies as well as the current study. It has been criticized that TAM-based model studies often use student samples, which are appropriate in cases where the student

sample is representative of the population. In addition, sometimes, the sampling techniques are poor, resulting in inconsistent empirical results (Hu et al. 1999). The variance explained in behavioral intention and usage varied across studies.

In Japan's case, no significant determinant was found. The TAM model explained only one percent of variance explained in usage. The uniqueness of the Japanese culture should be noted. It is a high uncertainty avoidance and masculine culture. It is fairly different from other cultures, particularly along the uncertainty avoidance and masculinity dimensions. It is possible that TAM does not apply to the Japanese culture. Other variables must be identified to explain the IT acceptance and adoption behavior. In masculinity cultures, job recognition is important to workers (Cullen 1999); therefore, it is possible that job motivational variables are relevant to IT acceptance.

China and the United States differ significantly along the individualism dimension. The United States is highly individualistic while China is highly collective. The effect of subjective norm has been found to be inconsistent. Many U.S. studies did not find norms to be important in explaining behavior. In the Karahanna et al. (1999) study, subjective norm was found to be a significant indicator of attitude for potential adopters while it is not for users. The innovation diffusion theory notes that potential adopters tend to follow others, and thus are more group oriented (Rogers 1995). In the current study, subjective norm is a significant indicator of attitude for every adopter group, even earlier adopters. This is reflective of the collective culture in China.

Even though limited by the number of studies and the type of analyses done in the existing studies, we are able to find some similarities and difference across cultures. The importance of perceived usefulness in determining attitude is found across cultures, while perceived ease of use is often an insignificant factor. The effect of culture, specifically the individualism dimension, was useful in explaining differences found in subjective norm, which is particularly important in a collective culture than in an individualistic culture.

CONCLUSION

The study produced meaningful results that can be of help to organizations in managing IT adoption and usage. First, we established the distinctions between potential adopters and users and further, between earlier adopters and later adopters based on innovation diffusion framework. Through hypotheses testing we are able to demonstrate that earlier, later, and potential adopters are significantly different along some key dimensions; for example, the determinants of attitude, the effect of attitude and subjective norm on behavioral intention, individual innovativeness, and the effect of voluntariness. Also, the study simultaneously tested behavioral belief, normative belief, attitudinal, behavioral intention, and usage factors (for user group); therefore, the relative strengths of the variables are assessed. It contributes to a more in-depth understanding of

how certain factors operate. The results of the study are consistent in many ways with prior studies. In addition, by conducting our study in a non-US culture, we add to our understanding of the role culture plays in IT acceptance. We found evidence that subjective norm operates differently in a collective culture from an individualistic culture.

In the following sections, we first present some of the key findings followed by the implications of the study.

Key Findings

First, our results provide support for the following theoretical relationships in China: perceived behavioral beliefs and attitude, norms and attitude, attitude and behavioral intention, intention and behavior, voluntariness and behavioral intention/usage, individual innovativeness and behavioral intention/usage. The research models proposed fit the data collected in China adequately. The power of the research model in predicting behavioral intention is the best for the potential adopters, followed by earlier adopters and later adopters, in that order.

Because it is difficult to test a large set of behavioral beliefs, the majority of the prior research only examined very few behavioral belief variables. However, without studying the behavioral beliefs simultaneously in one study based on the same respondents, it is difficult to assess the relative predictive power of different

behavioral beliefs (Tornatzky and Klein 1982). To date, few IS studies has attempted that. We fill in such knowledge gap by studying seven relevant behavioral beliefs that shape end-user attitude. Further, we find that different behavioral beliefs are salient to different adopter groups.

Consistent with prior findings, our study finds that perceived usefulness is a salient belief across all adopter groups. No other consistent findings are found pertaining to user behavioral belief in the existing studies and the current study. Consistent with previous findings, perceive usefulness, trialability, and result demonstrability are significant behavioral beliefs for potential adopters. Further studies are required to determine the effect of other variables.

Through hypotheses testing, the study provides strong evidence of differences across adopter groups. The key determinants of behavioral intention are attitude and subjective norm. The effect of attitude on behavioral intention is significantly stronger for earlier adopters than for later and potential adopters; no difference was found between later and potential adopters. On the other hand, the effect of subjective norm is significant stronger for potential adopters than for earlier and later adopters; no difference was found between earlier and later adopters; no difference was found between earlier and later adopters. These findings echo prior research that stated that attitude are formed by direct experience; earlier and later adopters have direct experience. Early in the adoption process, earlier adopters are under little influence from others. There is almost no prior knowledge of adopter behavioral beliefs when they adopt. In a

way, their attitude is mainly determined by their behavioral beliefs that may be solely based on their experience. On the other hand, earlier adopters' behavioral beliefs are available to later adopters and have potential to influence later adopters' perception of behavior.

The effect of perceived usefulness on attitude operates differently across groups. Contradictory to the hypothesis, the effect is significantly stronger for later adopters and earlier adopters. Consistent with prior findings, the effect is stronger for later adopters than for potential adopters. The effect of ease of use on attitude is not significant for any adopter group however the effect is different between later and potential adopters.

The adopters differ in individual innovativeness. The earlier adopters are the most innovative, followed by the later and potential adopter, in that order. It is also found that the more innovative a person is, the more likely he adopts a technology early, confirming innovation diffusion theory. The effect of voluntariness is not significant for earlier or potential adopters. Voluntariness only affects later adopters.

We contributed towards the understanding of determining the set of salient behavioral beliefs that shape IT adopter behavior. There are considerable differences across adopter groups as demonstrated in this study. However, limited by the scope of the study, we only investigated three types of adopters using a one-shot survey. The attitude and perceptions we captured are current. The antecedents of the differences found are unclear and need further research. It is unknown how attitudes toward IT adoption and usage change over time. The types of data collected and analyses conducted do not predict changes in perceptions and behavior. The differences we discovered could be the inherent differences between the characteristics of various groups of adopters; or they are the result of using technology. We can speculate the answer in either way or both; however, only longitudinal studies can answer such questions. In addition, some of the effects of adopter type may confound other effects, such as age and experience. Further, readers need to be aware that the measurement models are different across adopter groups. Nevertheless, this study shows that it is critical to distinguish adopter types in studying IT acceptance.

Implications for Theory

The topics of IT adoption and usage have gained increasing attentions from IT researchers recently. A literature review in the IT acceptance and diffusion area reveals that there are great inconsistencies and little consensus on the determinants of IT adoption and diffusion. A few empirical studies have called for the importance of distinguishing adopter types (e.g., Karahanna et al. 1999). The focus of most of this research has been on demonstrating the differences across adopter groups. This critical aspect of technology acceptance research is identified and confirmed. The study demonstrates that earlier, later, and potential adopters differ in several ways.

We find certain variables are significant for some adopters but not for others. The differences across adopters confirm the importance of accounting for adopter type in the technology acceptance research. In future studies that intend to extend and develop relevant IT adoption and acceptance theory, researchers must provide adequate considerations of the types of adopters at stake. Accounting for adopter type may be a required step toward consistent empirical findings.

This study contributed to our understanding of the adopter groups. While it is clear that the adopters do differ, the validity of the actual differences across adopters and the findings pertain to each adopter group require replications. The determinants of attitude and behavioral intention vary across the adopter groups. These echo the findings of previous studies, which have great inconsistent results because the lack of distinctions between adopters. We have shown that the researchers have made misleading claims on the subjects of the studies. Future replication studies should attempt to classify the adopters.

Consequently, different models should be designed to study the determinants of IT adoption and usage. One phenomenon is that the majority of the recent IT acceptance studies make modifications and extensions to the technology acceptance model, resulting in scattered knowledge in this area. More concise

models can be designed to capture large amount of variance in IT adoption and usage.

Better models can lead to research of the antecedents of the determinants. The effectiveness of existing training programs has been minimum in corporate America (Georgenson 1982). With better understanding of the determinants and the antecedents of the determinants, more effectual programs can be designed.

Also, the key findings suggest that the time element needs to be examined carefully. This constitutes another critical element of IT adoption study. The current study is based on one-shot data, which provides a limited scope of the relative importance of factors over time. There do exist longitudinal studies that have demonstrated the importance of time related variables, such as experience (e.g., Szajna 1996; Venkatesh 2000).

The adopter classification framework is a good step towards understanding IT end-users. As to the difficulty and tediousness of classifying the users based on the IT adoption date, the study presents evidence of an innovativeness construct being a potentially meaningful alternative determinant of IT adopter type. The items of this construct need to further developed and validated.

The current study has contributed to our understanding of the effect of culture. Specifically, The role of subjective norm in IT adoption and usage has been

197

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

debatable in the literature; while some studies have found subjective norm to be a significant factor in IT adoption while other have not (e.g., Hu et al. 1999). We have demonstrated that the inclusion of culture could help explain the discrepancies.

Implications for Practice

The implications of adopters differ are potentially beneficial to all IT managers. Even though, the actual differences found in this study may not be generalized, the fact that the adopters differ can be extremely important. Specifically, the implications for end-user training is intriguing: designing courses tailored to different types of end-users, namely, earlier, later, and potential adopters can improve the effectiveness of training of the end-users. As we know, the diffusion process involves reducing uncertainties; the study helps IT managers to begin to understand of the importance of identifying specific aspects of behavior that they can target their effort towards for different types of adopters; such targeted efforts can effectively manipulate the diffusion process.

To encourage adoption, IT mangers need to focus on providing proper facilities and ample opportunities to potential adopters, showcasing existing user experiences and cases, and the functionality of the technology. Seminars, newsletters, and trainings should focus on such important factors. The effectiveness of intervention is evidenced in many studies, for example, Taylor and Todd (1995a). The exposure of the nonadopters (the later majority and

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.
laggards) to the innovation, in the form of a tour, encouraged about 33% of them to adopt in a 12-week period. In addition, subjective norm is critical for potential adopters. Communication channels can be utilized to reinforce the effect of norms.

For users, to sustain their usage, it is critical to provide ongoing training on the functionalities of technology. The findings of earlier and later adopters in this study will require confirmation from future studies. Nevertheless, the findings can be beneficial to IT managers in China as well as mangers in multinational corporations. We showed that culture could be a meaningful factor in explaining IT acceptance. Particularly, the effect of norms is stronger in a collective culture than in an individualistic culture.

The findings on innovativeness mean that IT managers can be proactive. Programs can be developed to enhance individual innovativeness. For example, IT department can provide periodical workshops and seminar on technology in general and subscriptions to journals and magazines to the end-users. Improved innovativeness would shorten the decision process of the later adopters, therefore, achieving a faster overall organizational diffusion.

Future Research

In this study, we are not trying to predict users being earlier or later adopters for the next IT innovation, neither are we insisting the particular relationships tested

199

to be generalizable to all settings. Rather, we are trying to shed light on the inconsistent results that have plagued the IT acceptance research. The results of this study can help IT managers in China and potentially other cultures to understand the end-users in the IT diffusion process.

Future studies are necessary to confirm the findings in this study and resolve the inconsistencies that exist in the literature, particularly the inconsistencies in the effect of behavioral beliefs and subjective norm on attitude.

In this study, we distinguish adopters based on the length of technology use which is supported by the innovation diffusion theory framework. However, such data may be difficult to obtain. More studies on the operationalization of individual innovativeness in the IT domain can lead to simpler and better instrument for practical purpose.

As this study lays a good foundation of the differences between adopter groups, future studies of antecedents of behavioral beliefs would become meaningful. For example, the relationships between experience, age, gender, and other individual factors with the technology adoption and usage can be better studied. A few studies have attempted to investigate such variables (Agarwal and Karahanna 2000; Agarwal and Prasad 1999; Morris and Venkatesh 2000; Venkatesh 2000).

The cultural treatment of this study revealed some interesting results; however, the differences found in the relationships between behavioral beliefs and attitude cannot be scientifically attributed to culture. Further studies of the antecedents of behavioral beliefs may help link the differences to cultural effects.

Future studies in this area should be more vigorous in defining the type of endusers under investigation. To provide meaningful results, the sample should be representative of the population. By establishing both, researchers can further study the variables that have been found to have inconsistent effects on others. We can then come to a better understanding of how attitudes, norms, behavioral intentions, and behaviors differ and relate across different types of end-users.

REFERENCES

- Abelson, R.P., and Levi, A. "Decision Making and Decision Theory," In *The* Handbook of Social Psychology, G. Lindzey, and E. Aronson (Ed.), Random House, New York, 1985, pp. 231-309.
- Adams, D.A., Nelson, R.R., and Todd, P.A. "Perceived Usefulness, Ease of Use, and Usage of Information Technology: A Replication," *MIS Quarterly* (16:2), Jun 1992, pp. 227-247.
- Adelbratt, T., and Montgomery, H. "Attractiveness of Decision Rules," Acta Psychologica (45), 1980, pp. 177-185.
- Agarwal, R., and Karahanna, E. "Time flies when you're having fun: Cognitive absorption and beliefs about information technology usage," *MIS Quarterly* (24:4), December 2000 2000, pp. 665-694.
- Agarwal, R., and Prasad, J. "The Role of Innovation Characteristics and Perceived Voluntariness in the Acceptance of Information Technologies," *Decision Sciences* (28:3), Summer 1997, pp. 557-582.
- Agarwal, R., and Prasad, J. "A Conceptual and Operational Definition of Personal Innovativeness in the Domain of Information Technology," *Information Systems Research* (9:2), June 1998, pp. 204-215.
- Agarwal, R., and Prasad, J. "Are Individual Differences Germane to the Acceptance of New Information Technologies?," *Decision Sciences* (30:2), Spring 1999, pp. 361-391.
- Ajzen, I., and Fishbein, M. Understanding Attitudes and Predicting Social Behavior, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1980.
- Ajzen, I., and Madden, T.J. "Prediction of Goal-Directed Behavior: Attitudes, Intentions, and Perceived Behavioral control," *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology* (22), 1986, pp. 453-474.
- Anderson, J.C., and Gerbing, D. "Some Methods for Respecifying measurement Models to Obtain Unidimensional Construct Measurement," *Journal of Marketing Research* (19), Nov 1982, pp. 453-460.
- Anderson, J.C., and Gerbing, D. "Structural Equation Modeling in Practice: A Review and Recommended Two-Step Approach," *Psychological Bulletin* (103:3), 1988, pp. 411-423.

- Antonelli, C. The Diffusion of Advanced Telecommunications in Developing Countries, Development Centre of the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, 1997.
- Arnold, W. "China's Personal-Computer Industry Is Starting to Beat Out U.S. Companies," *Wall Street Journal*, Nov 19, 1997, pp. B13C.
- Bagozzi, R.P. "The Self-Regulation of Attitudes, Intentions, and Behavior," Social Psychology Quarterly: Special Issue: Theoretical Advances in Social Psychology (55:2), June 1992, pp. 178-204.
- Bagozzi, R.P., Davis, F.D., and Warshaw, P.R. "Development and Test of a Theory of Technological Learning and Usage," *Human Relations* (45:7), July 1992, pp. 659-686.
- Bandura, A. "Self-efficacy: Toward a Unifying Theory of Behavioral Change," *Psychological Review* (84:2), 1977, pp. 191-215.
- Bandura, A. "Self-efficacy Mechanism in Human Agency," *American Psychologist* (37), 1982, pp. 122-147.
- Barki, H., and Hartwick, J. "Measuring User Participation, User Involvement, and User Attitude," *MIS Quarterly* (18:1), March 1994, pp. 59-82.
- Beal, G.M., and Rogers, E.M. "Information Sources in the Adoption Process of New Fabric," *Journal of Home Economics* (49), 1957, pp. 630-634.
- Black, K. Business Statistics: Contemporary Decision Making, West Publishing Company, New York, 1997.
- Bollen, K.A. Structural Equations with Latent Variables, Wiley, New York, 1989.
- Brancheau, J.C., and Wetherbe, J.C. "The Adoption of Spreadsheet Software: Testing Innovation Diffusion Theory in the Context of End-User Computing," *Information Systems Research* (1:2), 1990, pp. 115-143.
- Bretschneider, S., and Wittmer, D. "Organizational Adoption of Microcomputer Technology: The Role of Sector.," *Information Systems Research* (4:1), Mar 1993, pp. 88-108.
- Briggs, R.O., Adkins, M., Mittleman, D., Kruse, J., Miller, S., and Nunamaker, J.F., Jr. "A Technology Transition Model Derived from Field Investigation of GSS Use Abroad the U.S.S. Coronado," *Journal of Management Information Systems* (15:3), Winter 1999, pp. 151-195.

- Burn, J.M. "The New Cultural Revolution: The Impact of EDI on Asia," *Journal of Global Information Management* (3:4), Fall 1995, pp. 16-31.
- Byrne, B.M. Structural Equation Modeling with LISREL, PRELIS, and SIMPLIS: Basic concepts, Applications, and Programming, Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc., Mahwah, New Jersey, 1998.
- Campbell, D.T., and Stanley, J.C. *Experimental and Quasi-Experimental Designs* for Research, Rand McNally College Publishing Company, Chicago, 1963.
- Chau, P.Y.K. "An Empirical Assessment of a Modified Technology Acceptance Model," *Journal of Management Information Systems* (13:2), Fall 1996, pp. 185-204.
- Chau, P.Y.K., and Tam, K.Y. "Factors Affecting the Adoption of Open Systems: An Exploratory Study," *MIS Quarterly* (21:1), March 1997, pp. 1-24.
- Chengalur-Smith, I., and Duchessi, P. "The Initiation and Adoption of Client-Server Technology in Organizations," *Information & Management* (35:2), Feb 8 1999, pp. 77-88.
- Chin, W.W., and Gopal, A. "Adoption Intention in GSS: Relative Importance of Beliefs," *DATABASE* (26:2&3), 1995, pp. 42-63.
- Chin, W.W., and Todd, P.A. "On the Use, Usefulness, and Ease of Use of Structural Equation Modeling in MIS Research: A Note of Caution," *MIS Quarterly* (19:2), Jun 1995, pp. 237-246.
- Chou, C.-P., and Bentler, P.M. "Estimates and Tests in Structural Equation Modeling," In Structural Equation Modeling: Concepts, Issues, and Applications, R. H. Hoyle (Ed.), Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, 1995, pp. 37-55.
- Churchill, G.A. "A Paradigm for Developing Better Measures of Marketing Constructs," *Journal of Marketing Research* (16:1), February 1979, pp. 64-73.
- Cohen, J. "A Power Primer," Psychological Bulletin (112), 1992, pp. 155-159.
- Cohen, J. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences, Lawrence Erlbaum, Hillsdale, NJ, 1998.
- Cooper, R.B., and Zmud, R.W. "Information Technology Implementation Research: A Technological Diffusion Approach," *Management Science* (36:2), Feb 1990, pp. 123-139.

- Cui, G., and Liu, Q. "Regional Market Segments of China: Opportunities and Barriers in a Big Emerging Market," *Journal of Consumer Marketing* (17:1), 2000, pp. 55-72.
- Cullen, J.B. *Multinational Management: A Strategic Approach*, South-Western College Publishing, Cincinnati, Ohio, 1999.
- Davis, F.D. "Perceived Usefulness, Perceived Ease of Use, and User Acceptance of Information Technology," *MIS Quarterly* (13:3), September 1989, pp. 319-339.
- Davis, F.D., Bagozzi, R.P., and Warshaw, P.R. "User Acceptance Of Computer Technology: A Comparison Of Two," *Management Science* (35:8), 1989, pp. 982-1003.
- Davis, F.D., and Venkatesh, V. "Measuring User Acceptance of Emerging Information Technologies: An Assessment of Possible Method Biases.," *Proceedings of the The 28th Hawaii International Conference on Systems Sciences*, Los Alamitos, Calif., 1995, pp. 729-736.
- Deans, P.C., Karawan, K.R., Goslar, M.D., Ricks, D.A., and Toyne, B. "Identification of Key International Information Systems Issues U.S.-Based Multinational Corporations," *Journal of Management Information Systems* (27:4), Spring 1991, pp. 27-50.
- Dekeleva, S., and Zupancic, J. "Key Issues in Information Systems Management: A Delphi Study in Slovenia," *Proceedings of the The Fourteenth International Conference on Information Systems*, Orlando, Fl., 1993,
- DeLone, W.H., and McLean, E.R. "Information Systems Success: The Quest for the Dependent Variable," *Information Systems Research* (3:1), 1992, pp. 60-95.
- Detragiache, E. "Technology Diffusion and International Income Convergence," Journal of Development Economics (56:2), 1998, pp. 367-392.
- Dillon, A., and Morris, M.G. "User Acceptance of Information Technology: Theories and Models," *Annual Review of Information Science and Technology (ARIST)* (31), 1996, pp. 3-32.
- Doll, W.J., Hendrickson, A., and Deng, X. "Using Davis's Perceived Usefulness and Ease of Use Instruments for Decision Making: A Confirmatory and Multigroup Invariance Analysis," *Decision Sciences* (29:4), Fall 1998, pp. 839-869.
- Dologite, D.G., Fang, M.Q., Chen, Y., Mockler, R.J., and Chao, C.-n. "Information systems in Chinese state-owned enterprises: An evolving strategic

perspective," Journal of Global Information Management (5:4), Fall 1997, pp. 10-21.

- Ein-Dor, P., Segev, E., and Orgad, M. "The Effect of National Culture on IS: Implications for International Information Systems," *Journal of Global Information Management* (1:1), Fall 1993, pp. 33-44.
- Einhorn, B. "Foreign Rivals Vs. The Chinese: If You Can't Beat 'Em...," *Business Week*,:3616), February 15 1990, pp. 78.
- Evaristo, R., Karahanna, E., and Srite, M. "Cross-Cultural Research in MIS," Proceedings of the 1st Annual Global Information Technology Management Conference, Memphis, TN, 2000, pp. 278-281.
- Fazio, R.H. "On the Power and Functionality of Attitudes: The Role of Attitude Accessibility," In Attitude Structure and Function, A. R. Pratkanis, S. J. Breckler, and A. G. Greenwald (Ed.), Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Hillsdale, NJ, 1989, pp. 153-179.
- Fazio, R.H., and Zanna, M.P. "Direct Experience and Attitude-Behavior Consistency," In *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology*, L. Berkowitz (Ed.), 14, Academic Press, New York, 1982, pp. 161-202.
- Fishbein, M., and Ajzen, I. Belief, Attitude, Intention, and Behavior: An Introduction to Theory and Research., Addison-Wesley, Reading, MA, 1975.
- Fishbein, M., and Ajzen, I. "A Theory of Reasoned Action: Some Applications and Implications," In *Nebraska Symposium on Motivation*, H. Howe, and M. Page (Ed.), University of Nebraska Press, Lincoln, NB, 1979, pp. 65-116.
- Gefen, D., and Straub, D.W. "Gender Differences in the Perception and Use of E-Mail: An Extension to the Technology Acceptance Model," *MIS Quarterly* (21:4), Dec 1997, pp. 389-400.
- Georgenson, D. L. "The Problem of Transfer Calls for Partnership," Training and Development Journal (30:10), 1982, pp. 75-78.
- Gist, M.E. "Self-efficacy: Implications for Organizational Behavior and Human Resource Management," *The Academy Of Management Review* (12:3), July 1987, pp. 472-485.
- Griffy-Brown, C., Watanabe, C., and Fujisue, K. "Technology Spillovers and Informatization in Japan: An Analysis of Information Technology Diffusion

in Large Versus Small and Medium-sized Enterprises," International Journal of Technology Management (17:4), 1999, pp. 362-386.

- Hair, J.F., Jr., Anderson, R.E., Tatham, R.L., and Black, W.C. *Multivariate Data Analysis*, Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ, 1998.
- Hartwick, J., and Barki, H. "Explaining the role of user participation in information system use," *Management Science* (40:4), Apr 1994, pp. 440-465.
- Hendrickson, A.R., Massey, P.D., and Cronan, T.P. "On the test-retest reliability of perceived usefulness and perceived Ease of Use Scales," *MIS Quarterly* (17:2), June 1993, pp. 227-230.
- Hodgetts, R.M., and Luthans, F. International Management, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1997.
- Hoffer, J.A., and Alexander, M.B. "The Diffusion of Database Machines," *Data Base* (23:2), 1992, pp. 13-20.
- Hofstede, G. Culture's Consequences: International Differences in Work-Related Values, Sage Publications, Beverly Hills, 1980.
- Hofstede, G. Cultures and Organizations: Software of the Mind, McGraw-Hill, London, 1991.
- Hofstede, G. "Management Scientists are Human," *Management Science* (40:1), January 1994, pp. 4-13.
- Hoyle, R.H., and Panter, A.T. "Writing about Structural Equation Modeling," In *Structural Equation Modeling: Concepts, Issues, and Applications*, R. H. Hoyle (Ed.), Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, 1995, pp. 158-176.
- Hu, L.-t., and Bentler, P.M. "Evaluating Model Fit," In *Structural Equation Modeling: Concepts, Issues, and Applications*, R. H. Hoyle (Ed.), Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, 1995, pp. 76-99.
- Hu, L.-t., and Bentler, P.M. "Cutoff Criteria for Fit Indexes in Covariance Structure Analysis: Conventional Criteria Versus New Alternatives," *Structural Equation Modeling* (6:1), 1999, pp. 1-55.
- Hu, P.J., Chau, P.Y.K., Sheng, O.R.L., and Tam, K.Y. "Examining the Technology Acceptance Model Using Physician Acceptance of Telemedicine Technology," *Journal of Management Information Systems* (16:2), Fall 1999, pp. 91-112.

- Igbaria, M., Guimaraes, T., and Davis, G.B. "Testing the Determinants of Microcomputer Usage via a Structural Equation Model," *Journal of Management Information Systems* (11:4), Spring 1995, pp. 87-114.
- Igbaria, M., Zinatelli, N., Cragg, P., and Cavaye, A.L.M. "Personal Computing Acceptance Factors in Small Firms: A Structural Equation Model," *MIS Quarterly* (21:3), Sep 1997, pp. 279-302.
- Jackson, C.M., Chow, S., and Leitch, R.A. "Toward an Understanding of the Behavioral Intention to Use an Information System," *Decision Sciences* (28:2), Spring 1997, pp. 357-389.
- Jöreskog, K.G., and Sörbom, D. LISREL 7 User's Reference Guide, Scientific Software Inc., Chicago, IL, 1989.
- Jöreskog, K.G., and Sörbom, D. LISREL 8: Structural Equation Modeling with the SIMPLIS Command Language, Scientific Software International, Inc., Chicago, IL, 1993.
- Kagan, A., Lau, K., and Nusgart, K.R. "Information System Usage Within Small Business Firms," *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice* (14:3), Spring 1990, pp. 25-37.
- Karahanna, E., Straub, D.W., and Chervany, N.L. "Information Technology Adoption Across Time: A cross-Sectional Comparison of Pre-Adoption and Post-Adoption Beliefs," *MIS Quarterly* (23:2), June 1999, pp. 183-213.
- Kedia, B.L., and Bhagat, R.S. "Cultural Constraints On Transfer Of Technology Across Nations: Implications for Research in International and Comparative Management," *The Academy of Management Review* (13:4), October 1988, pp. 559-571.
- King, J.L., and Kraemer, K.L. "Changing Data Processing Organization," *The Bureaucrat* (12:2), Summer 1983, pp. 21-27.
- Lucas, H.C., Jr., and Spitler, V.K. "Technology Use and Performance: A Field Study of Broker Workstations," *Decision Sciences* (30:2), Spring 1999, pp. 291-311.
- MacCallum, R. "Specification Searches in Covariance Structure Modeling," *Psychological Bulletin* (100:1), July 1986, pp. 107-120.
- Mathieson, K. "Predicting User Intentions: Comparing the Technology Acceptance Model with the Theory of Planned Behavior," *Information Systems Research* (2:3), 1991, pp. 173-191.

- Medsker, G.J., Williams, L.J., and Holahan, P.J. "A review of current practices for evaluating causal models in organizational behavior and human resources management research," *Journal of Management Information Systems* (20:2), Summer 1994, pp. 439-464.
- Mockler, R.J., Dologite, D.G., Chen, Y., and Fang, M.Q. "Information Technology Diffusion in Developing Countries: A Study of China," *Journal of Global Information Technology Management* (2:4), 1999, pp. 23-40.
- Moore, G.C., and Benbasat, I. "Development of an Instrument to Measure the Perceptions of Adopting an Information Technology Innovation," Information Systems Research (2:3), 1991, pp. 192-222.
- Morris, M.G., and Venkatesh, V. "Age Differences in Technology Adoption Decisions: Implications for A Changing Work Force," *Personnel Psychology* (53), 2000, pp. 375-403.
- Nelson, R.R., and Cheney, P.H. "Training End Users: An Exploratory Study," *MIS Quarterly* (11:4), Dec 1987, pp. 547-559.
- Nolan, R.L. "Managing the Crisis in Data Processing," *Harvard Business Review* (57:2), March/April 1979, pp. 115-126.
- Nunnally, J.C. Psychometric Theory, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1967.
- Ohkawa, K., and Otsuka, K. Technology Diffusion, Productivity Employment, and Phase Shift in Developing Economies, University of Tokyo Press, Tokyo, 1994.
- Paik, Y., Vance, C.M., and Stage, H.D. "The Extent of Divergence in Human Resources Practice across Three Chinese National Cultures: Hong Kong, Taiwan, and Singapore," *Human Resource Management Journal* (6:2), 1996, pp. 20-31.
- Palvia, P.C., and Palvia, S.C. "Understanding the Global Information Technology Environment: Representative World Issues," In Global Information Technology and Systems Management Key Issues and Trends, P. C. Palvia, S. C. Palvia, and E. M. Roche (Ed.), Ivy League Publishing, 1996, pp. 3-30.
- Peter, J.P. "Construct Validity: A Review of Basic Issues and Marketing Practices," *Journal of Marketing Research* (16), Feburary 1981, pp. 6-17.
- Phillips, L.A., Calantone, R., and Lee, M.-T. "International Technology Adoption: Behavior Structure, Demand Certainty and Culture," *Journal of Business and Industrial Marketing* (9:2), 1994, pp. 16-28.

- Prescott, M.B., and Conger, S.A. "Information Technology Innovations: A Classification by IT Locus of Impact and Research Approach," DATABASE (26:2&3), May/August 1995, pp. 20-41.
- Rogers, E.M. Diffusion of Innovation, Free Press, New York, 1983.
- Rogers, E.M. Diffusion of Innovation, Free Press, New York, 1995.
- Ronen, S., and Kraut, A.I. "Similarities Among Countries Based on Employee Work Values and Attitudes," *Columbia Journal of World Business* (12), 1977, pp. 89-96.
- Ronen, S., and Shenkar, O. "Clustering Countries on Attitudinal Dimensions: A Review and Synthesis," *The Academy Of Management Review* (10:3), Jul 1985, pp. 435-454.
- Rose, G., and Straub, D. "Predicting General IT Use: Applying TAM to the Arabic World.," *Journal of Global Information Management* (6:3), Summer 1998, pp. 39-46.
- Rovere, R.L.L. "IT Diffusion in Small and Medium-sized Enterprise: Elements for Policy Definition," *Information Technology for Development* (7:4), 1996, pp. 169-181.
- Segars, A., and Grover, V. "Re-Examining Perceived Ease of Use of Usefulness: A Confirmatory Factor Analysis," *MIS Quarterly* (17:4), December 1993, pp. 517-525.
- Sheppard, B.H., Hartwick, J., and Warshaw, P.R. "The Theory of Reasoned Action: A Meta-Analysis of Past Research with Recommendations for Modifications and Future Research," *Journal of Consumer Research* (15), December 1988, pp. 325-343.
- Shore, B., and Venkatachalam, A.R. "The Role of National Culture in Systems Analysis and Design," *Journal of Global Information Management* (3:3), Summer 1995, pp. 5-14.
- Soh, C.P.P., Yap, C.S., and Raman, K.S. "Impact of Consultants on Computerization Success in Small Businesses," *Information & Management* (22:5), May 1992, pp. 309-319.
- Straub, D. "The Effect of Culture on IT Diffusion: E-Mail & Fax in Japan and the U.S.," *Information Systems Research* (5:1), 1994, pp. 23-47.

- Straub, D., Keil, M., and Brenner, W. "Testing the Technology Acceptance Model Across Cultures: A Three Country Study," *Information & Management* (33:1), January 1997, pp. 1-11.
- Subramanian, G.H. "A Replication of Perceived Usefulness and Perceived Ease of Use Measurement," *Decision Sciences* (25:5/6), Sep/Dec 1994, pp. 863-874.
- Sutton, S. "Predicting and Explaining Intentions and Behavior: How well are we doing?," *Journal of Applied Social Psychology* (28:15), 1998, pp. 1317-1338.
- Szajna, B. "Software Evaluation and Choice: Predictive Validation of the Technology Acceptance Instrument," *MIS Quarterly* (18:3), September 1994, pp. 319-324.
- Szajna, B. "Empirical evaluation of the revised technology acceptance model," *Management Science* (42:1), January 1996, pp. 85-92.
- Taylor, S., and Todd, P. "Assessing IT Usage: The Role of Prior Experience," *MIS Quarterly* (19:4), December 1995a, pp. 561-570.
- Taylor, S., and Todd, P.A. "Understanding Information Technology Usage: A Test of Competing Models," *Information Systems Research* (6:2), June 1995b, pp. 144-176.
- Thong, J.Y.L. "An integrated model of information systems adoption in small businesses," *Journal of Management Information Systems* (15:4), Spring 1999, pp. 187-214.
- Tornatzky, L.G., and Klein, K.J. "Innovation Characteristics and Innovation Adoption-Implementation: A Meta-Analysis of Findings," *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management* (29:1), 1982, pp. 28-45.
- Trompenaars, F. Riding the Waves of Culture, Irwin, New York, 1994.
- Utterback, J.M., and Suarez, F.F. "Innovation, Competition, and Industry Structure," *Research Policy* (22:1), Feb 1993, pp. 1-21.
- Venkatesh, V. "Determinants of perceived ease of use: Integrating control, intrinsic motivation, and emotion into the technology acceptance model," *Information Systems Research* (11:4), Dec 2000, pp. 342-365.
- Venkatesh, V., and Davis, F.D. "A Model of the Antecedents of Perceived Ease of Use: Development and Test," *Decision Sciences* (27:3), Summer 1996, pp. 451-481.

- Venkatesh, V., and Davis, F.D. "A theoretical extension of the technology acceptance model: Four longitudinal field studies," *Management Science* (46:2), Feb 2000, pp. 186-204.
- Vijver, F.V.D., and Leung, K. Methods and Data Analysis for Cross-Cultural Research, Sage, 1997.
- West, S.G., Finch, J.F., and Curran, P.J. "Structural Equation Models with Nonnormal Variables," In Structural Equation Modeling: Concepts, Issues, and Applications, R. H. Hoyle (Ed.), Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, 1995, pp. 56-75.
- Wright, P. "Consumer Choice Strategies Simplifying Vs. Optimizing," *Journal of Marketing Research* (12:1), Feb 1975, pp. 60-67.
- Yap, C.S., Soh, C.P.P., and Raman, K.S. "Information systems success factors in small business," *Omega* (20:5-6), Sep 1992, pp. 597-609.

E-Mail User Questionnaire Items

- 1. Using E-Mail helps me to accomplish tasks more quickly.
- 2. Using E-Mail improves the quality of my work.
- 3. Using E-Mail enhances my effectiveness on the job.
- 4. Using E-Mail makes my job easier.
- 5. Using E-Mail would improve my job performance.
- 6. Using E-Mail gives me greater control over my job.
- 7. Using E-Mail in my job would increase my productivity.
- 8. I find E-Mail useful in my job.
- 9. Learning to use E-Mail was easy for me.
- 10. E-Mail is easy to use.
- 11. It is easy to get E-Mail to do what I want it to do.
- 12. My interaction with E-Mail is clear and understandable.
- 13.1 find E-Mail to be flexible to interact with.
- 14. It is easy for me to become skillful at using E-Mail.
- 15. Using E-Mail is compatible with most aspects of my work.
- 16. Using E-Mail fits my work style.
- 17. Using E-Mail fits well with the way I like to work.
- 18. Using E-Mail is very compatible with the way I like to work.
- 19. Before I started using E-Mail, I was able to use it on a trial basis.
- 20. Before I started using E-Mail, I was able to properly try it out.
- 21.1 was permitted to use E-Mail long enough to see what it could do.
- 22.1 was able to experiment with E-Mail as necessary.
- 23.Before I started using E-Mail, I had E-Mail for a long enough period to try it out.
- 24. In my organization, one sees E-Mail on many computers.
- 25. In my organization, I have seen many people with E-Mail on their computers.
- 26.1 have seen what other people do using E-Mail.
- 27. It is easy for me to observe others using E-Mail in my company.
- 28.1 have had plenty of opportunity to see E-Mail being used.
- 29.1 have not seen many others using E-Mail in my department.
- 30. The results of using E-Mail are apparent to me.
- 31.1 could communicate to others the pros and cons of using E-Mail.
- 32.1 have no difficulty telling others about the results of using E-Mail.
- 33.1 would have difficulty explaining why using E-Mail may or may not be beneficial.
- 34. People who use E-Mail have high status in the organization.
- 35. People who use E-Mail have more prestige than those who do not.
- 36. Using E-Mail is a status symbol.
- 37. Using E-Mail improves my image within the organization.
- 38. Top management thinks I should use E-Mail.
- 39. Supervisor thinks I should use E-Mail.
- 40. Peers think I should use E-Mail.

- 41. Friends think I should use E-Mail.
- 42. MIS department thinks I should use E-Mail.
- 43. Computer Specialists in the company think I should use E-Mail.
- 44. If I heard about a new information technology, I would look for way to experiment with it.
- 45. Among my peers, I am usually the first to try out new information technologies.
- 46. In general, I am hesitant to try out new Information technologies.
- 47.1 like to experiment with new technologies.
- 48. Although it might be helpful, using E-Mail is certainly not compulsory in my company.
- 49. My supervisor does not require me to use E-Mail.
- 50. My use of E-Mail is voluntary.
- 51. My supervisor expects me to use E-Mail. Using E-Mail on my job is
- 52. Extremely good ... extremely bad
- 53. Extremely harmful...extremely beneficial
- 54. Useless Useful
- 55. Worthlessvaluable
- 56.1 like using E-Mail .
- 57. E-Mail is fun to use .
- 58.1 dislike using E-Mail .
- 59. E-Mail provides an attractive working environment .
- 60. Most people who are important to me think I should use E-Mail.
- 61. Most people who influence my behavior think I should use E-Mail .
- 62.1 intend to continue using E-Mail.
- 63.1 intend to increase my use of E-Mail.
- 64. Assuming I had access to E-Mail, I intend to use it .
- 65. Given that I had access to E-Mail, I predict that I would use it .
- 66. I started using E-Mail _____(Month/year)
- 67.1 use email

____Not at all; ____less than once a week; ___about once a week; ___2 or 3 times a week; 4 to 6 times a week; ___about once a day; ____more than once a day.

68. How much time do you spend using email per day.

Almost never ____less than an hour ___about an hour___about two hours____about three hours ____more than three hours

- 69. On average, I receive about _____(number of) email messages per day.
- 70. On average, I send about _____(number of) email messages per day.
- 71.1 use E-Mail a lot to do my work.
- 72.1 use E-Mail whenever possible to do my work
- 73.1 use E-Mail frequently to do my work
- 74. I use E-Mail whenever appropriate to do my work
- 75. Age
 - ____ 18-22, ___23-28, ___29-35, ___35-40, ____45-55, ____55+

76. Gender

___Female, ___Male.

77. Education

____Junior high, ____High school, ____College.

- 78. Position in Organization
- 79. Before using Email, did you receive any training? Yes No
- 80. After started using E-Mail, did you receive any training? Yes No
- 81. When did you receive the training?

_____(estimate)

Appendix B Final Instrument in Chinese

电子邮件/文字处理软件 使用调查表 (1)

注: 非常感谢您的帮助! 这个调查表是为了了解您在贵公司里使用电子邮件和文字处理软件的看法 和情况. 请您不要遗漏每一个问题. 这个问卷中大部分的问题采用所谓的"七点量表". 这是一种在 市场调研中经常使用的量表。每个问题一般有七个答案,请您圈写您认为最合适的一个答案。这七 个答案最左边起是"非常不同意"到最右边是"非常同意". 在这份调查表里没有所谓的"正确答 案",请您根据您的个人观点填写问卷.

您是电子邮件使用者	是	7	不是
您是文字处理软件使用者		是	不是

第一部分:使用电子邮件的看法和情况:

1.	使用电子邮件可以帮助我更快的完成工作.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
2.	使用电子邮件能够改善提高我的工作质量.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
3.	使用电子邮件能够增强我的工作成效。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
4.	使用电子邮件可以使我的工作变得更加容易.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
5.	使用电子邮件提高了我的工作效率.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
6.	我觉得电子邮件在工作上很有用处	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
7.	电子邮件很容易学。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
8.	电子邮件很容易使用.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
9.	我觉得很容易用电子邮件完成我想做的工作.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	間意	非常同意
10.	使用电子邮件的过程明白易懂.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
11.	对我来说,完全掌握使用电子邮件并不难.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
12.	我的工作中的很多方面都适合使用电子邮件.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
13.	使用电子邮件很符合我的工作风格.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
14.	使用电子邮件与我的习惯工作方式并不冲突.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
15.	使用电子邮件比较符合我的习惯工作方式.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
16.	在正式使用之前。我曾经试用过电子邮件.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
17.	在正式使用之前,我有过充分的机会去试用电 子邮件	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
18.	在正式使用之前,我有过足够的时间来了解电 子邮件的用涂。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
19.	在正式使用电子邮件之前,我有过足够长的试 用明.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
20.	在我的工作单位里,您可以看到很多计算机上 都完整了由子邮件	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
21.	在我的工作单位里,我见到许多人安装了电子	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
22.	在我的工作单位里,我已经见到过有人使用电 子邮件	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
23.	在我的单位里。我很容易见到别人使用电子邮件	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
24.	我有很多机会见到电子邮件被使用	非常不同意	不同音	不县得同妾	不确定	有些同音	同音	非常同音
25.	我没有见过我单位里很多人使用电子邮件.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
26.	对我来说,使用电子邮件的效果很明显.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
27.	我可以很容易告诉其他人使用电子邮件的优 缺点.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
28.	我没有困难给别人介绍使用电子邮件的效果.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
29.	我觉得很难解释使用电子邮件是好或者是坏 的原因.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
30.	使用电子邮件的人职位比较高.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
31.	使用电子邮件的人声望比较高.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
32.	使用电子邮件是身份的象征。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
33.	使用电子邮件提高我在公司里的形象。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
34.	我的最高级主管觉得我应该使用电子邮件。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意

35.	我的直接主管老板觉得我应该使用电子邮件.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
36	我的同事觉得我应该伸用由子邮件	住党不同	不同童	不長得同音	不确定	有些同意	同音	非常同意
37	金的船专门受得金官这体用中子都作	北世天同音	下同会	て見温園舎	天确史	有此同音	同音	北世间音
37.	我的朋友们见得我应该使用电子啊什。	非市小内总	자편문	不足很问意		有空间志	19.33 19.43	非市内之
38.	信息官理部门宽伊戎应该使用电于邮件。	非常不问意	不同意	不足很问题	个调正	有些问题	에 문	非常问题
39.	公司里的计算机专家/管理员觉得我应该使用	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	电子邮件、							
40	当我听道苏的信息结论时 我会说机会过田	北黄天同音	天同音	不具得同亲	不确定	有此同音	周音	非常同音
40.	当我们说相时很怎议不可,我去我们去叫用。	非由个问题 非确定回来	不同主	不足很问念		有三回志	[] 호	化中国志
41.	在我的问事中,我总是弟一个使用新信息这本	非常不问意	不问意	不足很问题	个朝正	有些问题	[만] 문	非常问题
	的人.							
42.	一般来说,我在尝试使用新的信息技术时总有	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	些稅費							
43		北安天同音	て同会	发虹组同音	天庙史	力此同音	雷音	化黄周音
40.	关于从云风江用剧门语志议不,		114.5	THE REPUB	1 WEAL	제르메르	141.55	********
		***	T (2) A	~			• *	4 * 5 *
44.	虽然电于邮件在工作上可能有用处,但在找们	非常不问意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有暨问意	回意	非常问意
	公司里井不要求使用它.							
45.	我的上级主管并不要求我使用电子邮件。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
46	我使用由子邮件是自愿的	非常不同音	不同童	不悬得同意	不確定	右些同音	(司 妾	非常同音
40.	我的上级土着希望会进行中国中学校研究	北位大同音	无同音	大見祖南音	下路中	有些问题	대송	化学同音
47.	我的上级主言希望我使用电子邮件。	非吊不问息	不同息	不足很问题	个明正	有空内息	이 .문.	1F /0 (P) .E.
48.	在我的工作中使用电子邮件:非常不好 不	有点不好	一般	还可以 1	长好	非常好		
	好							
49.	在我的工作中使用电子邮件:非常有害 有害	有点害处		有益 谷	很有益	非常有益		
50	在我的工作由傅田由子邮件 非常无助 壬肋	有时无助	- 40	右接肋 名	1方移助	非常有帮助		
E4	在我的工作上说用电子和语、带带无效 无效	生命的なな体		1.000 II	~~ ~~	1971 1972 1972 1971 - 1973		
51.	在我的工作中使用电子邮件:	非常汉书加盟	L 7X1		不定很仅可			
		相有价值	EC:	较有价值	非常有价值			
52.	我喜欢使用电子邮件.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	: 不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
53.	我觉得使用电子邮件很有趣.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
54.	我不喜欢使用由子邮件	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	右些間童	同意	非常同意
55	我曾遇由子邮件的帮助场供一个吸引人的	生学不同音	不同音	て見祖問音	天确守	有些用金	(3) 金	非安閒音
55.	我见得吧!啊什能要怕呦饭话 [—] ———————————————————————————————————	# 0 / 1 M.S.	1111.5	AP AP IR PULE	AT WEAK	H르마르	1-1.5	
	工作环境.							
56.	对我很重要的人认为我应该使用电子邮件.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很问意	: 不确定	有些问意	间意	非常问意
57.	对我有影响的人认为我应该使用电子邮件.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
58.	我会继续使用电子邮件。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
59	加里没有备件 没会通用由子献作	非实不同音	不同音	不具出同音	不确定	有些同音	ा ह	非常同音
60.	加里亚方条件的话 电机电合体用电子邮件	化带天圆音	无同音	て見祖団会		ちょうぶ	(1) 同音	北安同会
00.	如米代有东针的店,代芯代会使用电子邮件。	非希尔内息	不同息	个龙银门是	. ~ 98.AE	위 글 미 문	141.E.	15 LITE OF AF
61.	找从 (年,月) 开始便用电子邮件				年,月)			
62.	我使用电子邮件情况:	从来不用	少于一周	一次 -	・周一次	一周2或3次	ヒート	間4或6次
		一天一次	<u>х</u> —	天数次				
63.	通常您一天花 多少时间收发电子邮件?	几乎不用	ゆき	一个小时	大约一个	184		
		十约两个小时	+ ++++	三个小时	和过三个人	k m at		
C 4	法典教 王海ノタ小人、小艺教师	Asses 1 days	1 / 53	1 1 /1'9'] 5 65 /2 /5 5	- NUAR 1 1	1-113		
04.	通常我一大收 (多少个) 电于邮件.		(161	ተአካቃ少ጥ	1			
65.	通常我一天发 (多少个) 电子邮件.		(估)	十大约多少个;				
66.	我用电子邮件 和 (多少人)保持联系。		(估;	十大约多少人))			
67.	我使用电子邮件做很多的工作。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
68	在丁作上只要能用到由子邮件 珍龄尽量值田	非次 不同音	不同音	不是得同意	不确定	右些图音	同音	非常同音
60	金玉花上公文记得到七子两门,为祝父皇以后。 我太下作由杨俊信田由之献许	北省大同乡	术同变	て見祖師さ	TRO	五三门志	(1) (S) (日 辛	211日之 1211世国辛
70.	我在上作书堂和使用电子聊件。	# @ 小回惑	小門島	小定银門是	- 小明疋	ᅯᅸᄜᄛ	[비즈	15.19.19.14 4.145.19 = 2
70.	化工作上只要甘道,戎会尽重使用电于邮件.	非常不问意	不同意	小 足很问题	小棚定	有些问意	回意	非常问意
71.	年齡:	18-22 2	3-28 2	9-34 35-	44 45-55	55+		
72.	性别:	5	月					
73.	教育程度:	初中 高中	大专	大学 6	夏士 憶十			
74	股位・		/ · · ·					
75	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~							
73.	芯在工作工伙用电子邮件的目的							

第二部分:使用文字处理软件的看法和情况:

1.	使用文字处理软件可以帮助我更快的完成工 作	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
2.	使用文字处理软件能够改善提高我的工作质	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
3. 4.	■. 使用文字处理软件能够增强我的工作成效. 使用文字处理软件可以使我的工作变得更加	非常不同意 非常不同意	不同意 不同意	不是很同意 不是很同意	不确定 不确定	有些同意 有些同意	同意 同意	非常同意 非常同意
5.	容易. 使用文字处理软件提高了我的工作效率.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意

6.	我觉得文字处理软件在工作上很有用处	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
7.	文字处理软件很容易学.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
8.	文字处理软件很容易使用.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
9	我觉得很容易用文字处理软件完成我想做的	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	工作.							
10.	使用文字处理软件的过程明白易懂。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
11	对我来说,完全重撮使用文字处理软件并不难,	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
•••								
12.	我的工作中的很多方面都适合使用文字处理	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	大的上行,Fanky / marel Lange / joint							
13	伸用文字处理软件很符合我的工作风格	非常不同音	不同妾	不畏得同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
14	储用文字处理软件与我的习惯工作方式并不	非常不同音	不同音	不長復同音	不确定	有些同意	同音	非常同音
14.	mg						1 1.0	10 10 1 100
15	伸用文字处理软件比较符合我的习惯工作方	非常不同变	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	at							
16.	在正式使用之前,我曾经试用过文字处理软件。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
17.	在正式使用之前、我有过充分的机会去试用文	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	字处理软件。							
18.	在正式使用之前、我有过足够的时间来了解文	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	字处理软件的用途。							
19.	在正式使用文字处理软件之前,我有过足够长	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	的试用期							
20.	在我的工作单位里,您可以看到很多计算机上	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	都安装了文字处理软件.							
21.	在我的工作单位里,我见到许多人安装了文字	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	处理软件.							
22.	在我的工作单位里, 我已经见到过有人使用文	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	间意	非常同意
	字处理软件。							
23.	在我的单位里。我很容易见到别人使用文字处	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	理软件.							
24.	我有很多机会见到文字处理软件被使用。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
25.	我没有见过我单位里很多人使用文字处理软	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	件.							
26.	对我来说,使用文字处理软件的效果很明显.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	间意	非常同意
27.	我可以很容易告诉其他人使用文字处理软件	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	的优缺点.							
28.	我没有困难给别人介绍使用文字处理软件的	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	效果.							
29.	我觉得很难解释使用文字处理软件是好或者	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	是坏的原因.							
30.	使用文字处理软件的人职位比较高.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
31.	使用文字处理软件的人声望比较高.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
32.	使用文字处理软件是身份的象征。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
33.	使用文字处理软件提高我在公司里的形象.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
							-	
34.	我的最高级主言觉得我应该使用文字处理软	非常不同意	不问意	不是很问意	不确定	有些问意	同意	非常问意
35.	我的直接主管老板宽得我应该使用文字处理	非常不问意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些问意	同意	非常问题
36.	我的问事觉得我应该使用文字处理软件。	非常不同意	不问意	小 是 很 同 意	不确定	有些问意	同意	非常同意
37.	我的朋友们觉得我应该使用文字处理软件。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很问意 	小師定	有些问意	同意	非常问意
38.	信息會理部日寬停視应该使用文字处理软件。	非常不同意	小同意	小 建 役 同 意	个明定	有些问意	问意	非常问意
39.	公可里的计算机专家/省理员宽得我应该使用	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有暨问意	回意	非常问意
	义子处埋软件.							
40	火雨吃将年的片白社 金叶 五人山田 人士中	***	工同支	了首供回来	TAC	大此同主	Ei ∸	**
40.	3.我听说那的话息这个时,花云花机云试用。	非治不问意	不问意	小定依何恵	小晴疋	有些问意	凹意	非常问意
41.	住我的问争中,我怎定来一个使用有信息技不 M 1	非希不问意	不同意	不定俄问意	小晴疋	11 그 미 토	回夏	非省州意
40	四人。	***	TRA	工具供同主	TAA	右步同主	e e	**
42.	一取术说,我住会认识出新的信息技不时总有	非希不问意	不回意	不定使问意	小幅定	有空凹意	凹意	非常问意
40	宝化厚。 弗舍布合法体用性协定自任者	***	TA÷	工具体网本	TAM	***	en æ	***
43.	代音从云讽使用有的信息这不。	非常不问意	不凹意	不定很同意	不備定	有些问意	回意	非常问意

44.	虽然文字处理软件在工作上可能有用处,但在 我们公司里并不要求使用它.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
45.	我的上级主管并不要求我使用文字处理软件.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
46.	我使用文字处理软件是自愿的.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
47.	我的上级主管希望我使用文字处理软件。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
48.	在我的工作中使用文字处理软件: 非常不好	不好 有点不	好一般	还可以	很好	非常好		
49.	在我的工作中使用文字处理软件: 非常有害	有害 有点害	处 一般	有益	很有益	非常有益		
50.	在我的工作中使用文字处理软件: 非常无助	无助 有时无	助一般	有帮助	很有帮助	非常有帮助		
51.	在我的工作中使用文字处理软件:	非常没有价值	没有价	·値 不	是很没价值	i 一般		
		稍有价值	比较有	す价値 キ	1 常有价值			
52.	我喜欢使用文字处理软件。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
53.	我觉得使用文字处理软件很有趣.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
54.	我不喜欢使用文字处理软件.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
55.	我觉得文字处理软件能够帮助提供一个吸引	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	人的工作环境.							
56.	对我很重要的人认为我应该使用文字处理软	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	件.							
57.	对我有影响的人认为我应该使用文字处理软	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	件.							
58.	我会继续使用文字处理软件.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常问意
59.	如果我有条件,我会使用文字处理软件。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
60.	如果我有杀件的话,我想我会使用文字处理教	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
~ ~	作. "你们还在你的你的你的你的。"				3.			
61.	我从 (牛,月) 开始使用 关子处理软件			(平,)	i) 19 14			
62.	我使用文子处理软件情况:	从朱小用	シエー	一周一次	一周一次			
~~		一周之或3万	て 一周く	4.93.6次		一大致的	X	
63.	通常恋一大化 多少时间使用文字处埋软件?	儿子不用	シナ-	一个小时	大列一个小	12月		
	and the set of the set of the the the set of the set of the	大约两个小时	7 天约二	·个小时 不見得用主	超过二个小	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	a e	1.
72.	找使用文字处理软件做很多的工作。	非常不问意	小问意	不起很问意	个铜定	有些问意	问题	非常问意
73.	在工作上只要能用到文字处理软件,我就尽量	非常不问意	不同意	不是很问意	不确定	有些问意	问意	非常问意
							-	
74.	我在工作中经常使用文字处理软件.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些问意	间意	非常问意
75.	在工作上只要合适,我会尽量使用文字处理软	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	件。							

80. 您在工作上使用文字处理软件的目的

电子邮件/文字处理软件 使用调查表 (2)

注:非常感谢您的帮助! 这个调查表是为了了解您在贵公司里使用电子邮件和文字处理软件的看法 和情况.请您不要遗漏每一个问题.这个问卷中大部分的问题采用所谓的"七点量表".这是一种在 市场调研中经常使用的量表. 每个问题一般有七个答案,请您圈写您认为最合适的一个答案. 这七 个答案最左边起是"非常不同意"到最右边是"非常同意". 在这份调查表里没有所谓的"正确答 案",请您根据您的个人观点填写问卷. 您的信息及回答是一定不会被泄漏给其他人的.

> 您是文字处理软件使用者 是 不是 您是电子邮件使用者 是 不是

第一部分:使用文字处理软件的看法和使用情况:

1.	使用文字处理软件可以帮助我更快的完成工 作	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
2.	使用文字处理软件能够改善提高我的工作质 备	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
3	伸用文字处理软件能够增强我的工作成功	化学不同音	术同音	不具得同音	不确定	有此同音	同音	生世同亲
а. А	他国文字处理教练可以通知的工作态法重加	化带不同音	不同者	不足很同意	不确实	有三问志	171.25. 173 #	化中国志
-7.	交易。 一次月	化化化学	不同意	小正限问题	1.44145	위 알바로	141.52	. 191 an 4F
~	针纫。 法国大会从创始他进车了也快了他休安	化曲子同步	TOA		T A A	行业同主	63 *	***
J.	使用义子处理软件提高了我的工作效率。	非常不问意	不问意	不是很问意	个铜定	有些问意	凹意	非常问意
ь.	我觉得关于处理软件在工作上很有用处	非常不问意	不问意	不是很问意	不硼定	有些问意	回意	非常问意
-	ふっこう 51 - 199 A 16 - 14 - 191 - 19	***	~				-	
1.	义子处理软件很容易子.	非常不问意	不问意	不足很问意	个魄定	有些问题	回意	非常问意
8.	文字处理软件很容易使用.	非常不问意	不同意	不是很问意	不确定	有些问意	问意	非常同意
9.	我觉得很容易用文字处理软件完成我想做的	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些问意	同意	非常同意
	工作.							
10.	使用文字处理软件的过程明白易懂。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
11.	对我来说,完全掌握使用文字处理软件并不难.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些问意	同意	非常同意
12.	我的工作中的很多方面都适合使用文字处理	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	软件.							
13.	使用文字处理软件很符合我的工作风格.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
14.	使用文字处理软件与我的习惯工作方式并不	非常不同音	不同意	不易得同音	不确定	有些同意	周春	非常間音
			1 1 1 1 1 1 1		1 4/10/46		1.1.1	10 10 10 10 L
15	出现之意处理教徒比较综合变的习惯工作方。	化安天同音	无同音	工具组团会	无遗史	方此同事	同事	化带闭车
10.	学 学 化基本化作品状的合式的考试工作力	1F 10 17 19 2	주면.문.	小定证问题	1.1111	N 글 마 문	141.66	등, (의) 61 위
	д.							
16	龙龙之旗用之旗 电电场线电过安全体电线体	生会工团主	化四辛	て見出回来	THE	农业团赛	101 A	化带同类
47	在正式使用之前,我曾年尚用这天子龙尾秋行。	作而个问题。	不同意	やだに回る。	17 98 AL	有空闷息。	四志	- 作作问题 - 作件问题
17.	住止其使用之前,我有过元方的机会去试用义。	非希不问意	不问意	不足很问意	个朝廷	有些问题	비.토	非常问意
	子处理状件。					Ann. 14. 070 - 07	-	
18.	在正式使用之前,找有过足够的时间来了解文	非富不问意	不问意	不是很问意	不确定	有些问意	问意	非常问意
	子处埋软忤的用途.							
19.	在正式使用文字处理软件之前,我有过足够长	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些问意	同意	非常同意
	的试用期.							
20.	在我的工作单位里, 您可以看到很多计算机上	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	都安装了文字处理软件.							
21.	在我的工作单位里,我见到许多人安装了文字	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	处理软件.							
22.	在我的工作单位里,我已经见到过有人使用文	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	字处理软件.							
23.	在我的单位里,我很容易见到别人使用文字处	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	理软件。							
24.	我有很多机会见到文字处理软件被使用。	非常不同意	术同童	不是很同亲	不确定	有些闭音	(i) ÷	非常同音
25	我没有见过我单位里得多人使用文字处理软	非常不同音	不同音	不具得同音	不确定	有些同音	同音	非常同音
		1-11-1-1-1-24	- 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1	AL INTER	1. MUVE	HERE	111122	16 03 141-25
26	对我来说 使用文字处理软件的效果得图显	非常不同音	不同音	不基准同音	不确定	有些同音	同音	化食配音
27	我可以得容易失近其他人体田文字处理处理	非世大同音	不同意	不且很同意	不确定	n 三四志 右此同音	同志	北省同志
6 . / .	的冷藏者。如何是不是人民用人工是建秋日,	2.141 (1) th 4F	가베르	小座成門思		h 드 비 &	191 B	에 에 에 문
29	吗儿叭嘛。 我没去国本公别!众权准用文字从现些还处	业业工同主	rme	工具供同类	7 18 67	专业同产	同主	**
£ 0.	我没有四座:11 加入月12 使用关于定理软件的 MB	非希尔问意	不问意	小龙侯門恵	小明正	有空间意	면.문	非俗问意
20	双米。	****						
29.	我见何很难解释使用义子处埋软件是好或者	非常不问意	不问意	不是很问意	不确定	有些问意	问意	非常问意
	龙环的原因.							

30.	使用文字处理软件的人取位比较高。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
31.	使用文字处理软件的人声望比较高。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
32.	使用文字处理软件是身份的象征。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
33.	使用文字处理软件提高我在公司里的形象。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
•••								
34.	我的最高级主管觉得我应该使用文字处理软	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	件.							
35.	我的直接主管老板觉得我应该使用文字处理	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	软件.							-
36.	我的同事觉得我应该使用文字处理软件。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
37.	我的朋友们觉得我应该使用文字处理软件.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
38.	信息管理部门觉得我应该使用文字处理软件。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
39.	公司里的计算机专家/管理员觉得我应该使用	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	文字处理软件.							
40.	当我听说新的信息技术时,我会找机会试用。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
41.	在我的同事中,我总是第一个使用新信息技术	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	的人.							
42.	一股来说,我在尝试使用新的信息技术时总有	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	些犹豫.							
43.	我喜欢尝试使用新的信息技术。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
44.	虽然文字处理软件在工作上可能有用处,但在	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	我们公司里并不要求使用它.							
45.	我的上级主管并不要求我使用文字处理软件.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
46.	我使用文字处理软件是自愿的.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
47.	我的上级主管希望我使用文字处理软件。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
48.	在我的工作中使用文字处理软件: 非常不好	不好 有点	不好 -	-殷 还可以	很好	非常好		
49.	在我的工作中使用文字处理软件: 非常有害	有害 有点	害处 -	一般 有益	很有益	非常有益		
50.	在我的工作中使用文字处理软件: 非常无助	无助 有时	无助 -	一般 有帮助	很有帮助			
		非常有帮助						
51.	在我的工作中使用文字处理软件:	非常没有价值	值 没有(价值 不是	很没价值	一般		
		前有价值	比较	有价值 非常	有价值			
52.	我喜欢使用文字处理软件.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
53.	我觉得使用文字处理软件很有趣.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
54.	我不喜欢使用文字处理软件。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
55.	我觉得文字处理软件能够帮助提供一个吸引	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	人的工作环境.							
56.	对我俄重要的人认为我应该使用文字处理软	非常不同意						
~ -			不回意	不是很同意	不确定	有些问意	间意	16 00 19 .등.
			不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些问意	间意	非面凹意
57.	11 对我有影响的人认为我应该使用文字处理软。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意 不是很同意	不确定 不确定	有些问意 有些同意	问意	非常问意
57.	件. 对我有影响的人认为我应该使用文字处理软件.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定不确定	有些问意 有些问意	问意	非常同意
57. 58.	件。 对我有影响的人认为我应该使用文字处理软件。 我会继续使用文字处理软件。	非常不同意	不同意不同意	不是很同意不是很同意不是很同意	不确定不确定	有些问意 有些问意	问意 同意 同意	非常同意非常同意
57. 58. 59.	件. 对我有影响的人认为我应该使用文字处理软件. 我会继续使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件,我会使用文字处理软件.	非常不同意 非常不同意 非常不同意	不问意 不同意 不同意	不是很同意 不是很同意 不是很同意 不是很同意	不确定 不确定 不确定 不确定	有些问意 有些同意 有些同意	问意 同意 同意	非常同意 非常同意 非常同意
57. 58. 59. 60.	计: 对我有影响的人认为我应该使用文字处理软件. 我会继续使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件,我会使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件的话,我想我会使用文字处理软件.	非常不同意 非常不同意 非常不同意 非常不同意	不回意 不同意 不同意意 不同意意	不是很同意 不是很同意 不是很同意 不是很同意 不是很同意	不确定 不确定 不确定 定定 定	有些问意 有些问意 有些问意 意意意意	问 意 意 意 意 意	非市同意 非常同意 非常同意 非常同意 非常同意
57. 58. 59. 60.	计: 对我有影响的人认为我应该使用文字处理软件. 我会继续使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件,我会使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件的话,我想我会使用文字处理软件. m. m. (f). a. b. b. b. b. b. b. b. b. b. b. b. b. b.	非常不同意 非常不同意 非常不同意 非常不同意	不问意 意 不可意 意 意 意 意 意 意 。	不是很同意 不是很很同意 不是很很同意 不是很同意意 不是很同意	不确定 不确定 不不确定 定定 定	9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9	问意 同意 同意	非名问意 非常问意 非常同意 非常同意 非常同意
57. 58. 59. 60. 61.	计: 对我有影响的人认为我应该使用文字处理软件. 我会继续使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件,我会使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件的话,我想我会使用文字处理软件. 我人(年,月)开始使用文字处理软件.	非常不同意 非常不同意 非常不同意 非常不同意	不回意 不同意 不同意 不同意意 不同意意 不同意意 (年,月)	不是很同意 不是很很同意 不是很很同意 不是很很同意	不确定定不确定定定定	有些问意 有些问意 有些问意 意意	问意 同意意意	非 6 问 意 非常问意 非常问意 非常问意
57. 58. 59. 60. 61. 62.	H. 对我有影响的人认为我应该使用文字处理软件. 我会继续使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件,我会使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件的话,我想我会使用文字处理软件. 我从(年,月)开始使用文字处理软件 我使用文字处理软件情况:从来不用	非常不同意 非常不同意 非常不同意 非常不同意 少于一周一夜	不问意 意 不问意意 不可同意意 不可同意意 (年,月)	不是很很同意意 不是是很很同意意 不是是很很同意意 不是是很很同意 一周一 一	不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不	4些问意 有些问意 有些问意 意意意 意 了 次	问意 同意意意	非 帘 问 意 非 常 同 意 非 常 同 意 非 常 同 意 非 常 同 意
57. 58. 59. 60. 61. 62.	计: 对我有影响的人认为我应该使用文字处理软件. 我会继续使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件,我会使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件的话,我想我会使用文字处理软件. 我从(年,月)开始使用文字处理软件 我使用文字处理软件情况:从来不用	非常不同意 非常不同意 非常不同意 少子周 少子周 4 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	不问意 不问意 不可同意 不可同意 不可同意 (年,月) 次 次	不是很同意意意意意意。	不 不 不不不不 一一 一 一 二 二 二 二 二 二 二 二 二 二 二 二 二	4些问意 有些问意 有些问问意 有些问问意 意 意 意 意 意 意	问 意 意 意 意 意	非 帘 问 意 非 常 同 意 非 常 同 意 非 常 同 意 非 常 同 意
57. 58. 59. 60. 61. 62. 63.	H. 对我有影响的人认为我应该使用文字处理软件. 我会继续使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件,我会使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件的话,我想我会使用文字处理软件. 我从(年,月)开始使用文字处理软件 我使用文字处理软件情况:从来不用 通常您一天花多少时间使用文字处理软件?	非常常不同意 非常常不同意意 非常常不同同意 少于周年不同 可可 中 の の の の の の の の の の の の の の の の の	 不同意意 不可同意意 不可同意意 不可同意意 不可同意意 (年,月) 次次 少子 	不 元 是 很 很 很 間 同 同 意 意 意 意 意 意 意 意 意 意 意 意 意 意 意 意 意	不 不 不不不 一 大切 確 確 確 確 確 確 確 確 確 確 確 確 確 確 確 確 確 確	4 些 有 有 有 些 些 世 一 同 同 意 意 意 意 意	问意 同意意意意	非 C 问 意 非 C 同 意 非 C 同 意 非 C 同 意 非 C 同 意
57. 58. 59. 60. 61. 62. 63.	H. 对我有影响的人认为我应该使用文字处理软件. 我会继续使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件,我会使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件的话,我想我会使用文字处理软件. 我从(年,月)开始使用文字处理软件 我使用文字处理软件情况:从来不用 通常您一天花多少时间使用文字处理软件?	非 非常常常不 不不不不不可 同同意 一 4 不不不 一 4 不 不 一 4 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不	 不同意意 不可同意意 意意意意 (年,月) (年,5) (中) (h) (h) (h) (h) 	不 石 足 是 役 很 間 同 同 意 意 意 意 意 意 意 意 意 意 意 意 意	不不不不不不不一大姐 确确。确确确 一一约过一 定定定 2数个个 ○ 或り小小○	4 车 车 车 车 车 车 些 些 些 些 些 些 些 些 些 些 些 些 些 些	iii Iii III III III III III III III III	非 7 问意 非常问意 非常问意 非常问意
57. 58. 59. 60. 61. 62. 63. 72.	H. 对我有影响的人认为我应该使用文字处理软件. 我会继续使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件,我会使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件的话,我想我会使用文字处理软件. 我从(年,月)开始使用文字处理软件 我使用文字处理软件情况:从来不用 通常您一天花多少时间使用文字处理软件? 我使用文字处理软件做很多的工作. 在工作上口题的即则文字处理软件。	非 非 非 非 非 非 非 非 非 非 非 非 常 常 常 常 常 不 不 不 不	▲ 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 「 年 」 少 方 回 同 同 同 同 同 同 同 月 」 り 竹 弯 章 章 章 章 章 章 章 章 章 章 章 章 章 章 章 章 章 章	不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不可。 不不不不可。 一一一一一一一一一一	不 不 不不不 一 大超 雨 确 硫硫硫 周天一三硫和 夏定定 2 致个个定つ 或りイト	升 有 有有有 、、时时有左 些些些些 人 化 的复数 化 的复数 化 化乙烯酸 化乙烯酸 化乙烯酸 化乙烯酸 化乙烯酸 化乙烯酸 化乙烯酸 化乙	III III III III IIII IIII IIII IIII I	非 C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C
57. 58. 59. 60. 61. 62. 63. 72. 73.	H. 对我有影响的人认为我应该使用文字处理软件. 我会继续使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件,我会使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件的话,我想我会使用文字处理软件. 我从(年,月)开始使用文字处理软件 我使用文字处理软件情况:从来不用 通常您一天花多少时间使用文字处理软件? 我使用文字处理软件做很多的工作. 在工作上只要能用到文字处理软件,我就尽量 你用	非 非非非 少一几大非非常 常常常 一个人的事情 化化学学 化二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙	不不不不下【次次 寸不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不	 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 和 是 是 是 是	不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不了。 我们不不是一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一	↑ 有 有有有 ;;;时时有有些些些些些 次 些些些 次 回同 同同間 目目 同同間 目目 同目目 目目 言意意意 意意意意 意意意	D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D	非 C 常 常 常 同 同 意 意 意 意 意
57. 58. 59. 60. 61. 62. 63. 72. 73.	Tr. 对我有影响的人认为我应该使用文字处理软件. 我会继续使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件,我会使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件的话,我想我会使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件的话,我想我会使用文字处理软件. 我从(年,月)开始使用文字处理软件 我使用文字处理软件情况:从来不用 通常您一天花多少时间使用文字处理软件? 我使用文字处理软件做很多的工作. 在工作上只要能用到文字处理软件,我就尽量 使用. 四本工作中经常体用文字处理软件.	非 非非非 少一几大非非 非非非 少一几大非非 化乙二烯二 一 4 不两不不 一 1 4 不两不不 一 1 6 元 一 1 元 一 6 元 一 1 元 一 1 元 一 1 元 一 1 元 一 1 元 1 元 一 1 元 1 元	 ホ 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 年 、 、 、 、 、	 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 和 是 是 是 是	不不不不不不不 一大姐 不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不	升 有 有有有	III 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11	非 作 常 常常 一 同 同 意 意 意 意
57. 58. 59. 60. 61. 62. 63. 72. 73. 74.	H. 对我有影响的人认为我应该使用文字处理软件. 我会继续使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件,我会使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件的话,我想我会使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件的话,我想我会使用文字处理软件. 我从(年,月)开始使用文字处理软件 我使用文字处理软件情况:从来不用 通常您一天花多少时间使用文字处理软件? 我使用文字处理软件做很多的工作. 在工作上只要能用到文字处理软件,我就尽量 使用. 我在工作中经常使用文字处理软件. 在工作中经常使用文字处理软件.	非 非非非 少一几大非非 非常常常常 不不不 一子周乎约常常 常可同 同时同 周或用个同同 同型 同型 一名 不不不不不不可 同时 一個或用个同同 同型	不不不不不 【次次 寸不不不不不 【次次 寸不不不不不 【、 人」 人口同 同同同 。	不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不可。 →→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→→	不不不不不不 一丁超不不不了。 不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不	升 有 有有有 ;、时时有有 有有 些些些些 次 些些 些些 同同 同同問 同同	11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11	非 非 非非非 非非 非非 非非 非非 非 非 非 非 非 非 非 非 非
57. 58. 59. 60. 61. 62. 63. 72. 73. 74. 75.	Tr. 对我有影响的人认为我应该使用文字处理软件. 我会继续使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件,我会使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件的话,我想我会使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件的话,我想我会使用文字处理软件. 我从(年,月)开始使用文字处理软件 我使用文字处理软件情况:从来不用 通常您一天花多少时间使用文字处理软件? 我使用文字处理软件做很多的工作. 在工作上只要能用到文字处理软件.我就尽量 使用. 我在工作中经常使用文字处理软件. 在工作上只要合适,我会尽量使用文字处理软件.	非 非非非 少一几大非非 非非常 常常常 一个四平约常常 常常 一個不阿不不 一個不阿不不 不不同 同同 一個一個一個一個一個一個一個一個一個一個一個一個一個一個一個一個一個一	不不不不不「欠次」 不不不不不「、少大何同 同同 同目 同目目目目目目目目目目目目目目目目目目目目目目目目目目目目目目目目目目	不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不	不不不不不不 一大组 不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不	外 有 有有有 、 、 、 时时有 有有些些些些吃 、 吃吃 些些些 吃 吃些 些些 吃 同同 同间 同间 同间 同间 意 意意意 意意	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	非 非 非非非 非非 非非 非非 非非 非非 化 常 常常常 一 同 同同同 同同同 同同同 同同同 同同 同同 意 意 意 意
57. 58. 59. 60. 61. 62. 63. 72. 73. 74. 75.	H. 对我有影响的人认为我应该使用文字处理软件. 我会继续使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件,我会使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件的话,我想我会使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件的话,我想我会使用文字处理软件. 我从(年,月)开始使用文字处理软件 我使用文字处理软件情况:从来不用 通常您一天花多少时间使用文字处理软件? 我使用文字处理软件做很多的工作. 在工作上只要能用到文字处理软件,我就尽量 使用. 我在工作中经常使用文字处理软件. 在工作上只要合适,我会尽量使用文字处理软件.	非 非非非 少一几大非非 非非 化乙基乙基 化乙基乙基 化丁二乙基乙基 化丁二乙基 化丁二乙基 化丁二乙基 化丁二乙基 化丁二乙基 化丁二乙基 化乙基 化乙基 化乙基 化乙基 化乙基 化乙基 化乙基 化乙基 化乙基 化	不不不不不 【次次 寸不不不不不 【次次 寸不不不不不 【 大何同 同同 同同 同同 同同 同同 同同 同同 意意意意 月 少 大旬同 同同 同言 意意意 ?	 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 用 一 一 一 一	不不不不不不不 一一约过不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不 一一约过不不不不不定定定 这数个个定定 定定 定定 计算法	外 有 有有有 , 、 。 时时有有 有有 有有 有有 有有有 有有 有有 有有 可同同同 同同同 同同 同同 同同 意 意意意 意意	问 阿 阿问前 同同 同同	# # #### ### ###
57. 58. 59. 60. 61. 62. 63. 72. 73. 74. 75. 76.	H. 对我有影响的人认为我应该使用文字处理软件. 我会继续使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件,我会使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件的话,我想我会使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件的话,我想我会使用文字处理软件. 我从(年,月)开始使用文字处理软件 我使用文字处理软件情况:从来不用 通常您一天花多少时间使用文字处理软件? 我使用文字处理软件做很多的工作. 在工作上只要能用到文字处理软件,我就尽量 使用. 我在工作中经常使用文字处理软件. 在工作上只要合适,我会尽量使用文字处理软件. 年龄: 	非非非非少一几大非非非常常常不不不不不不不不不一個一個一個一個一個一個一個一個一個一個一個一個一個一個	不 不 不不不 【欠次 寸 不不 不不不 【欠次 寸 不不 不不 〔 少大 何同 同同 6 〕 意 意 意 意 月 少大 9 司 同同 8 〕 2 2 2 3 2 3 4 3 4 3 4 3 4 3 4 3 4 3 4 3	 不不不不不不不不 不不不不不不 一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一	不不不不不不不 大超 不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不	外有有有有有。 些些些些些人。 一個同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同	问 阿 阿问前 同同 同同	非 非 非非非 非非 非非 非非 非非 非 非 非 非 非 非 非 非 非
57. 58. 59. 60. 61. 62. 63. 72. 73. 74. 75. 76. 77.	H. 对我有影响的人认为我应该使用文字处理软件. 我会继续使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件,我会使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件,我会使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件的话,我想我会使用文字处理软件. 我从(年,月)开始使用文字处理软件 我使用文字处理软件情况:从来不用 通常您一天花多少时间使用文字处理软件? 我使用文字处理软件做很多的工作. 在工作上只要能用到文字处理软件,我就尽量 使用. 我在工作中经常使用文字处理软件. 在工作上只要合适,我会尽量使用文字处理软件. 年齡: 性别: 脸 會 四 m.	非非非非少一几大非非非非常常常。 不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不一個不可不可能。 一個一個一個一個一個一個一個一個一個一個一個一個一個一個一個一個一個一個一個	不 不 不不不 (欠次 寸 不 不不不 (欠次 寸 不不不不 (工) 人们同 同间间 (1) 人们同 同同 同同 意意意 月) 少大司司 同同 同 3 意意 2	不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不	不不不不不不不 大姐 一大姐 一个约过不不不不不不不不 一一约过不不不不 一一约过不不不不 一一约 这个个定定 定定 55	外有有有有有。 些些些些人、些些些些些。 同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同同	问 阿 阿问向 同同 同同	非 非 非非非 非非 非非 非非 非 非 非 非 非 非 非 非 非 非 非
57. 58. 59. 60. 61. 62. 63. 72. 73. 74. 75. 76. 77. 78.	H. 对我有影响的人认为我应该使用文字处理软件. 我会继续使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件,我会使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件,我会使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件的话,我想我会使用文字处理软件. 我从(年,月)开始使用文字处理软件 我使用文字处理软件情况:从来不用 通常您一天花多少时间使用文字处理软件? 我使用文字处理软件做很多的工作. 在工作上只要能用到文字处理软件,我就尽量 使用. 我在工作中经常使用文字处理软件. 在工作上只要合适,我会尽量使用文字处理软件. 年龄: 性别: 教育程度: 四位。	非非非非少一几大非非非非 化乙基乙基 化乙基乙基 化丁基乙基 化乙基乙基 化乙基 化	不 不 不不不 [欠次 才 不 不不不 [欠次 才 不 不不 不 「 少大 同同 同同 同 同 同 同 同 同 同 同 同 同 同 同 同 同 同	不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不	不不不不不不不 大超 人名卡利 化二乙烯二烯二烯 化磷化磷化磷化磷 化二十一二磷化磷化磷化磷化磷化磷化磷化磷化磷化 化二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二	4 有 有有有 3、时时有有 有有 有有 5、时有有 有有 有有 有有 有有 有有 可同同同同同同同同同同 同同 同同 同同 未意意 意意 意意 意意 意意 きょうせい いんしょう しょうしょう しんしょう しんしょ しんしょ	问 阿 阿问前 同同 同同	# 非 非非非 # 非非 # 非非 # 非非 # 非非 # # # # # #
57. 58. 59. 60. 61. 62. 63. 72. 73. 74. 75. 76. 77. 78. 79.	H. 对我有影响的人认为我应该使用文字处理软件. 我会继续使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件,我会使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件,我会使用文字处理软件. 如果我有条件的话,我想我会使用文字处理软件. 我从(年,月)开始使用文字处理软件 我使用文字处理软件情况:从来不用 通常您一天花多少时间使用文字处理软件? 我使用文字处理软件做很多的工作. 在工作上只要能用到文字处理软件,我就尽量 使用. 我在工作中经常使用文字处理软件. 在工作上只要合适,我会尽量使用文字处理软件. 年龄: 性别: 教育程度: 职位: 赛在工作上读用文字处理软件的目前。	非 非非非 少一几大非非 非非 非常常常 于周平约常常 常常常 十月子月子的 一番花花 不不不 一十二个两不不 不不 一十二个两不不 不不 一十二个一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一一	不 不 不不不 [欠次 才 不 不不不 [欠次 才 不 不不 不 年 少大间间 同间 同间 同 同 同 同 同 同 同 同 同 同 同 同 同 同 同	不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不	不不不不不不不 计超相关的 化二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十	有有有有有。3、时时有有有有有些些些些些人。 医生生性 医生生性 化二乙烯二乙烯二乙烯二乙烯二乙烯二乙烯二乙烯二乙烯二乙烯二乙烯二乙烯二乙烯二乙烯二	□ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □	非 非 非非非 非 非 非 非 非 非 非 非 非 非 非 非 非 非 非

第二部分:使用电子邮件的看法:

1.	使用电子邮件可能会帮助我更快的完成工作.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
2.	使用电子邮件会能够改善提高我的工作质量.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
3.	使用电子邮件会能够增强我的工作成效.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
4.	使用电子邮件会使我的工作变得更加容易.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
5.	使用电子邮件可能提高我的工作效率。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
6.	我觉得电子邮件在工作上很有用处	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
7.	电子邮件应该容易学.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
8.	电子邮件应该很容易使用.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
9.	我觉得用电子邮件应该很容易完成我想做的工作.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
10.	使用电子邮件的过程应该明白易懂。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
11.	对我来说。完全掌握使用电子邮件应该并不难。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
12.	我觉得我的工作中的很多方面都应该适合使用 电子邮件.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
13.	使用电子邮件很可能符合我的工作风格。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
14.	使用电子邮件应该与我的习惯工作方式并不冲容	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
15.	7. 使用电子邮件应该会符合我的习惯工作方式,	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
16.	在正式使用之前,我可能会有机会试用过电子邮 件	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些問意	同意	非常同意
17.	在正式使用之前,我应该会有充分的机会去试用。 申子邮件。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
18.	在正式使用之前, 我将会有足够的时间来了解电 子邮件的用途。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
19.	在正式使用电子邮件之前,我会有足够长的试用 期.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
20.	在我的工作单位里。您可以看到很多计算机上都 安装了电子邮件。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
21.	在我的工作单位里,我见到许多人安装了电子邮件。 件。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
22.	在我的工作单位里。我已经见到过有人使用电子 邮件。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
23.	在我的单位里。我很容易见到别人使用电子邮件.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
24.	我有很多机会见到电子邮件被使用.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
25.	我没有见过我单位里很多人使用电子邮件.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
26.	对我来说,我觉得使用电子邮件的效果应该会很 明显.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
27.	我想我可以很容易告诉其他人使用电子邮件的 优缺点.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
28.	我没有困难给别人介绍使用电子邮件的效果。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
29.	我觉得很难解释使用电子邮件是好或者是坏的 原因.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
30.	使用电子邮件的人职位比较高。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
31	使用电子邮件的人声望比较高	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
32	使用电子邮件基身份的象征	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
33.	使用电子邮件应该会提高我在公司里的形象。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
34.	我的最高级主管觉得我应该使用电子邮件。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
35	我的直接主管老板觉得我应该使用电子邮件。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
36	我的同事觉得我应该使用电子邮件。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
37.	我的朋友们觉得我应该使用电子邮件。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
38	信息管理部门觉得我应该使用电子邮件。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
39.	公司里的计算机专家/管理员觉得我应该使用电子邮件.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意

40.	当我听说新的信息技术时,我会找机会试用。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
41.	在我的同事中,我总是第一个使用新信息技术的	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	人.							
42.	一般来说、我在尝试使用新的信息技术时总有些	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	犹豫.							
43.	我喜欢尝试使用新的信息技术。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
44.	虽然电子邮件在工作上可能有用处,但在我们公	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	司里并不要求使用它。							
45.	我的上级主管并不要求我使用电子邮件.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
46.	我使用电子邮件是自愿的.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
47.	我的上级主管希望我使用电子邮件.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
				A.T. 	(D) 1.7	11. atta 5.7		
48.	在我的工作中应用电子邮件可能会: 非常不好	不好 有点	不好 一	一般 还可以	很好	非常好		
49.	在我的工作中应用电子邮件可能会: 非常有害	有害 有点	害处 -	般 有益	很有益	非常有益		
50.	在我的工作中应用电子邮件可能会: 非常无助	无助 有时	无助 一	·殷 有帮助	很有帮助	非常有帮助		
50. 51.	在我的工作中应用电子邮件可能会: 非常无助 在我的工作中使用电子邮件可能会:	无助 有时 非常没有价值	无助 一 [没 ?	·殷 有帮助 有价值 不」	很有帮助 是很没价值	非常有帮助 一般		稍有价
50. 51.	在我的工作中应用电子邮件可能会: 非常无助 在我的工作中使用电子邮件可能会:	无助 有时 非常没有价值 值	无助 一 [没] 比较有价	·殷 有帶助 有价值 不引 值 非常有价(很有帮助 是很没价值 值	非常有帮助 一般		稍有价
50. 51. 52.	在我的工作中应用电子邮件可能会: 非常无助 在我的工作中使用电子邮件可能会: 我可能会喜欢使用电子邮件.	无助 有时 非常没有价值 值 非常不同意	无助 一 [没? 比较有价 不同意	·股 有帶助 有价值 不引 值 非常有价 不是很同意	很有帶助 是很没价值 值 不确定	非常有帮助 一般 有些同意	同意	稍有价 非常同意
50. 51. 52. 53.	在我的工作中应用电子邮件可能会: 非常无助 在我的工作中使用电子邮件可能会: 我可能会喜欢使用电子邮件. 我觉得使用电子邮件应该很有趣.	无助 有时 非常没有价值 值 非常不同意 非常不同意	无助 一 [没? 比较有价 不同意 不同意	 般 有帮助 有价值 不引 値 非常有价(不是很同意 不是很同意 	很有帮助 是很没价值 直 不确定 不确定	非常有帮助 一般 有些同意 有些同意	同意 同意	稍有价 非常同意 非常同意
50. 51. 52. 53. 54.	在我的工作中应用电子邮件可能会: 非常无助 在我的工作中使用电子邮件可能会: 我可能会喜欢使用电子邮件. 我觉得使用电子邮件应该很有趣. 我觉得我不会喜欢使用电子邮件.	无助 有时 非常没有价值 非常不同意 非常不同意 非常不同意	无助 「 比较有价 不同意 不同意 不同意	 股 有帮助 有符助 有价值 不引 値 非常有价(不是很同意 不是很同意 不是很同意 	很有帮助 是很不确定 不确定 不确定 定定	非常有帮助 有些同意 有些同意	同意 同意 同意	稍有价 非常同意 非常同意 非常同意
50. 51. 52. 53. 54. 55.	在我的工作中应用电子邮件可能会: 非常无助 在我的工作中使用电子邮件可能会: 我可能会喜欢使用电子邮件. 我觉得使用电子邮件应该很有趣. 我觉得我不会喜欢使用电子邮件. 我觉得电子邮件应该能够帮助提供一个吸引人	无助 有时 非 值 非常常不不同意 非常常不可 同意 意 意 意 意	无し 比不不不不 日 日 日 日 同 同 同 同 同 同 同 同 同 同 同 同 同 同	·股 有帮助 有价值 不引 值 非常有价 不是很很同意 不是很很同意 不是很很同意 不是很很同意	很有帮价 是很不不确定 是在一个不确确。 在一个不确定 定定定	非常有帮助。 有有些些些些一个。 一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个	同意 同意 同意	稍有价 非常同意 非常同意 非常同意
50. 51. 52. 53. 54. 55.	在我的工作中应用电子邮件可能会: 非常无助 在我的工作中使用电子邮件可能会: 我可能会喜欢使用电子邮件. 我觉得使用电子邮件应该很有趣. 我觉得我不会喜欢使用电子邮件. 我觉得电子邮件应该能够帮助提供一个吸引人 的工作环境.	无助 有时值 非常常不同意 非常常不同意 非常常不同意	无助 一社	 股 有容助 有容助 有价值 非常有价付 不是很同意 不是很同意 不是很同意 不是很同意 	很有资价。 在 一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一	非常有帮助 有些些一个。 有有些。 一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个一个	同意意意意	稍有价 非常同意 非常同意 非常同意
50. 51. 52. 53. 54. 55.	在我的工作中应用电子邮件可能会: 非常无助 在我的工作中使用电子邮件可能会: 我可能会喜欢使用电子邮件. 我觉得使用电子邮件应该很有趣. 我觉得我不会喜欢使用电子邮件. 我觉得电子邮件应该能够帮助提供一个吸引人 的工作环境.	无助 有价值 非常常不不同意 非常常不不同意 非常常不可可	无い 大臣 に 一 で 一 で 行 一 で 行 市 一 で 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 不 一 一 で 一 で 行 の 一 で で か か か か か か か か か か か か か か か か か	 股 有容助 有容助 有价值 非常有价付 不是很很同意 不是很很同意 不是很很同意 	很很 <u>这</u> 不不不不不不不不不不不可的。 在一个一个小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小	非 有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有	同意意	稍有价 非常同意 非常同意
50. 51. 52. 53. 54. 55. 56.	在我的工作中应用电子邮件可能会: 非常无助 在我的工作中使用电子邮件可能会: 我可能会喜欢使用电子邮件. 我觉得使用电子邮件应该很有趣. 我觉得我不会喜欢使用电子邮件. 我觉得电子邮件应该能够帮助提供一个吸引人 的工作环境. 对我很重要的人认为我应该去使用电子邮件.	无助常位 非非常常的 人名法格 化乙基乙基 化乙基乙基 化乙基乙基 化乙基乙基 化乙基 化乙基 化乙基 化乙基	无し比不不不不 不可助 牧何同同同同 同一一一没价	·股 有价 有价 有价 有价 本 常 市 市 市 市 市 市 市 市 市 市 市 市 市	很是这不不不不不不有没,确确确确。你不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不	非不有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有。 化乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基	同同同同 同一	稍有价 非常常同意 意 意 意 意
50. 51. 52. 53. 54. 55. 55. 56. 57.	在我的工作中应用电子邮件可能会: 非常无助 在我的工作中使用电子邮件可能会: 我可能会喜欢使用电子邮件. 我觉得使用电子邮件应该很有趣. 我觉得我不会喜欢使用电子邮件. 我觉得电子邮件应该能够帮助提供一个吸引人 的工作环境. 对我很重要的人认为我应该去使用电子邮件. 对我有影响的人认为我应该去使用电子邮件.	无非值非非非非 非非 非非 化乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基 化乙基乙基乙基 化乙基乙基乙基 化乙基乙基乙基 化乙基乙基 化乙基乙基 化乙基乙基 化乙基乙基 化乙基乙基 化乙基乙基 化乙基乙基乙基 化乙基乙基乙基乙基	无 比不不不不 不不不助 较同同同同 同同一 一没价	·股价值非常同意意意。 有值 非很很很很 一个小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小小	很是这一不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不	非有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有有。 化乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基	同意意意 意意意	稍有向同同意意意 意意意
50. 51. 52. 53. 54. 55. 56. 57. 65.	在我的工作中应用电子邮件可能会: 非常无助 在我的工作中使用电子邮件可能会: 我可能会喜欢使用电子邮件可能会: 我觉得使用电子邮件应该很有趣。 我觉得我不会喜欢使用电子邮件。 我觉得电子邮件应该能够帮助提供一个吸引人 的工作环境。 对我很重要的人认为我应该去使用电子邮件。 对我很重要的人认为我应该去使用电子邮件。 我想在六个月内开始使用电子邮件	无非值非非非非 非非非非 化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化	无し比不不不不 不不不1助 牧何同同同同 同同同同一 同同同同一 同同同同一 一役价	·股价值 有值 非很很很不不不不不不不不不不不不是是。 是是是很很很很。 你不是你的问题。 你们的问题。 你们的问题。 你们的问题。 你们的问题。 你们的问题。 你们的问题。 你们的问题。 你们的你们的。 你们的你们的。 你们的你们的。 你们的你们的。 你们的你们的。 你们的你们的。 你们的你们的你们的。 你们的你们的你们的。 你们的你们的你们的。 你们的你们的你们的。 你们的你们的你们的。 你们的你们的你们的你们的。 你们的你们的你们的你们的? 你们的你们的你们的你们的? 你们的你们的你们的你们的你们的? 你们的你们的你们的你们的你们的? 你们的你们的你们的你们的你们的你们的? 你们的你们的你们的你们的你们的你们的你们的你们的你们的你们的你们的你们的你们的你	很是这不不不不 不不不一有没 硫磷硫磷 硫磷硫磷 硫磷硫磷 化乙定定定定 定定定定的 的复数	非 有有有有 有有有有 有有有有 一百同同同 同同同同 同同同同 同同同同	同同同同 同同同	稍 有 向 同 同 同 同 局 局 同 局 局 同 局 局 同 局 局 同 局 局 同 局 局 同 局 局 同 局 局 同 局 局 同 局
50. 51. 52. 53. 54. 55. 56. 57. 65. 66.	在我的工作中应用电子邮件可能会: 非常无助 在我的工作中使用电子邮件可能会: 我可能会喜欢使用电子邮件可能会: 我觉得使用电子邮件应该很有趣. 我觉得我不会喜欢使用电子邮件. 我觉得电子邮件应该能够帮助提供一个吸引人 的工作环境. 对我很重要的人认为我应该去使用电子邮件. 对我有影响的人认为我应该去使用电子邮件. 我想在六个月内开始使用电子邮件.	无非值非非非非 非非非非 化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化	无[比不不不不 不不不不不助 校同同同同 同间同可同 一没价意意意意 意意意意能	和价值不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不	很是这不不不不 不不不不不不有没 硫硫硫硫硫 硫硫硫硫硫 化乙定定定定 定定定定的 的复数	非 有有有有 有有有有有有有有有有有有 同同同同 同间同可 同时的 同时的 同时的 网络马马马马马马马马马马马马马马马马马马马马马马马马马马马马马马马马马马马马	同同同同 同同可可	稍 有 同 同 問 問 同 同 同 司 同 同 司 司 同 同 司 司 司 同 同 司 司 司 司
50. 51. 52. 53. 54. 55. 56. 57. 65. 66. 58.	在我的工作中应用电子邮件可能会: 非常无助 在我的工作中使用电子邮件可能会: 我可能会喜欢使用电子邮件可能会: 我觉得使用电子邮件应该很有趣. 我觉得我不会喜欢使用电子邮件. 我觉得电子邮件应该能够帮助提供一个吸引人 的工作环境. 对我很重要的人认为我应该去使用电子邮件. 对我有影响的人认为我应该去使用电子邮件. 我想在六个月内开始使用电子邮件 我六个月内会开始使用电子邮件	无非值非非非非 非非非非非 化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化化	无[比不不不不 不不不不不不助 牧同同同同 同同同可同一 也价有意意意意 意意意能能是	和价值不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不	很是这不不不不 不不不不不不有没 硫硫硫硫硫 硫硫硫硫硫硫 化乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二乙二	非 有有有有 有有有有有有不有有有有有 同同同同 同间同同同 同间同可同时 的复数 化乙基乙基乙基 化乙基乙基乙基 化乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基乙基	同同同同 同同同可问: 意意意意 意意意能意 :	稍 常常常常 非非非非非 非非非非非 有 同同問問 同同同可同可
50. 51. 52. 53. 54. 55. 56. 57. 65. 66. 58. 67.	在我的工作中应用电子邮件可能会: 非常无助 在我的工作中使用电子邮件可能会: 我可能会喜欢使用电子邮件可能会: 我觉得使用电子邮件应该很有趣. 我觉得我不会喜欢使用电子邮件. 我觉得电子邮件应该能够帮助提供一个吸引人 的工作环境. 对我很重要的人认为我应该去使用电子邮件. 对我有影响的人认为我应该去使用电子邮件. 我想在六个月内开始使用电子邮件 我会尝试使用电子邮件. 如果我有条件的话,我想我会使用电子邮件.	无非值非非非非 非非非非非非的常 常常常常 常常常常 常常常常常 化不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不	无[比不不不不 不不不不不不助 校同同同同 同同同可可同同 一没价 有意意意意 意意意意能意意	一般价值不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不不	很是也不不不不 不不不不不不有没 硫磷磷磷磷 硫磷磷磷磷 硫磷磷磷磷酸磷磷磷酸磷磷磷磷磷磷磷磷磷磷磷磷磷磷磷磷	非 有有有有 有有有有有有不有有有有不 些些些些些 些些些些些些些些些些些些些些	同同同同 同同同可问问	稍有 向问问问 意意意意 意意意能意意

电子邮件/文字处理软件 使用调查表 (3)

注: 非常感谢您的帮助! 这个调查表是为了了解您在贵公司里使用电子邮件和文字处理软件的看法 和情况. 请您不要遗漏每一个问题. 这个问卷中大部分的问题采用所谓的"七点量表". 这是一种在 市场调研中经常使用的量表. 每个问题一般有七个答案,请您圈写您认为最合适的一个答案. 这七 个答案最左边起是"非常不同意"到最右边是"非常同意". 在这份调查表里没有所谓的"正确答 案",请您根据您的个人观点填写问卷. 您的信息及回答是一定不会被泄漏给其他人的.

> 您是文字处理软件使用者 是 不是 您是电子邮件使用者 是 不是

簄	-部分·对伸用由子邮件的看法·							
1	使用电子邮件可能会帮助我更快的完成工作。	非常不同音	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
2.	使用电子邮件会能够改善提高投的工作质量。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
3.	使用电子邮件会能够增强我的工作成效。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
4.	使用电子邮件会使我的工作变得更加容易。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
5.	使用电子邮件可能提高我的工作效率.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
6.	我觉得电子邮件在工作上很有用处	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
7.	电子邮件应该容易学.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
8.	电子邮件应该很容易使用。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
9 .	我觉得用电子邮件应该很容易完成我想做的 工作	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
10.	他用电子邮件的过程应该明白易懂.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
11.	对我来说,完全掌握使用电子邮件应该并不难.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
12.	我觉得我的工作中的很多方面都应该适合使 用电子邮件.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
13.	使用电子邮件很可能符合我的工作风格.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
14.	使用电子邮件应该与我的习惯工作方式并不 冲容	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
15.	··· へ· 使用电子邮件应该会符合我的习惯工作方式.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	作常同意
16.	在正式使用之前,我可能会有机会试用过电子 邮件。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	间意	非常同意
17.	在正式使用之前,我应该会有充分的机会去试 用电子邮件	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些回意	同意	非常同意
18.	在正式使用之前, 我将会有足够的时间来了解 电子邮件的用途.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
19.	只要我需要,我应该可以随时使用电子邮件.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
20.	在正式使用电子邮件之前。我会有足够长的试 用期。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
21.	在我的工作单位里,您可以看到很多计算机上 都安装了由子邮件	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
22.	在我的工作单位里,我见到许多人安装了电子 邮件.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
23.	在我的工作单位里,我已经见到过有人使用电 子邮件。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
24.	在我的单位里。我很容易见到别人使用电子邮 件、	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
25.	我有很多机会见到电子邮件被使用.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
26.	我没有见过我单位里很多人使用电子邮件.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
27.	对我来说,我觉得使用电子邮件的效果应该会 很明显.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
28.	我想我可以很容易告诉其他人使用电子邮件 的优缺点.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
2 9 .	我没有困难给别人介绍使用电子邮件的效果.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
30.	我觉得很难解释使用电子邮件是好或者是坏 的原因.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
31.	使用电子邮件的人职位比较高。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
32.	使用电子邮件的人声望比较高。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
33.	使用电子邮件是身份的象征.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意

34.	使用电子邮件应该会提高我在公司里的形象.	非常	不同意	不同	意	不	是很	同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
35.	我的最高级主管觉得我应该使用电子邮件。	非常之	不同意	不同	司意	不	是很	同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
36.	我的直接主管老板觉得我应该使用电子邮件。	非常	不同意	不同	司意	不	是很	同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
37.	我的同事觉得我应该使用电子邮件。	非常	不同意	不同	司意	不	是很	同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
38.	我的朋友们觉得我应该使用电子邮件。	非常	不同意	不同	司意	不	是很	同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
39.	信息管理部门觉得我应该使用电子邮件。	非常	不同意	不同	司意	不	是很	同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
40.	公司里的计算机专家/管理员觉得我应该使用	非常	不同意	不同	司意	不	显很	同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	电子邮件.											
41.	当我听说新的信息技术时,我会找机会试用,	非常	不同意	不同	司意	不	是很	同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
42.	在我的同事中,我总是第一个使用新信息技术	非常	不同意	不同	司意	不	是很	同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	的人.											
43.	一般来说,我在尝试使用新的信息技术时总有	非常	不同意	不同	司意	不	是很	间意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	些犹豫.											
44.	我喜欢尝试使用新的信息技术。	非常	不同意	不同	司意	不	是很	同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
45.	虽然电子邮件在工作上可能有用处,但在我们	非常	不同意	不同	司意	不	是征	同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	公司里并不要求使用它.											
46.	我的上级主管并不要求我使用电子邮件。	作常	不同意	不同	司意	不	是很	间意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
47.	我使用电子邮件是自愿的.	非常	不同意	不同	可意	不	是很	同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
48.	我的上级主管希望我使用电子邮件.	非常	不同意	不同	司意	不	是很	同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
49.	在我的工作中应用电子邮件可能会:非常不好	不好	有点不	好	一般	2	还可	LL L	很好	非常好		
50.	在我的工作中应用电子邮件可能会:非常有害	有害	有点害	处	#5	Ł	有益	i.	很有益	非常有益		
51.	在我的工作中应用电子邮件可能会:非常无助	无助	有时无	助	一般		有帮	助	很有帮助	非常有帮助		
52.	在我的工作中使用电子邮件可能会:	非常	没有价值	i	没	有价	值	不	是很没价值	[一般]		
		稍有	价值		it	较有	ៅវាវ	<u>i</u>	常有价值			
53.	我可能会喜欢使用电子邮件。	非常	不同意	不	司意	不	是很	同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
54.	我觉得使用电子邮件应该很有趣。	非常	不同意	不	司意	不	是很	同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
55.	我觉得我不会喜欢使用电子邮件。	非常	不同意	不	司意	不	是很	同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
56.	我觉得电子邮件应该能够帮助提供一个吸引	作常	不同意	不	可意	不	是很	同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	人的工作环境.											
57.	对我很重要的人认为我应该去使用电子邮件。	非常	不同意	不	可意	不	是很	同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
58.	对我有影响的人认为我应该去使用电子邮件.	非常	不同意	不	司意	不	是很	同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
59.	我会尝试使用电子邮件.	非常	不同意	不	同意	不	是很	同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
60.	我想在六个月内开始使用电子邮件	非常	不同意	不[司意	不	是很	同意	不确定	有些问意	同意	非常同意
61.	我六个月内会开始使用电子邮件	非常	不可能	不问	可能	不.	显很	可能	不确定	有些可能	可能	非常可能
62.	如果我有杀件的话,我想我会使用电子邮件。	非常	不同意	不[可意	不	足征	同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
63.	年齡:	18-2	2 23-	28	2	9-34	1	35-44	45-55	55+		
64.	性别:	ኟ	9	Ŋ								
65.	教育程度:	初中	高中		大专	;	大学	硕	士博士			
66.	职位:											
67 .	迄今为止,您是否接受过培训?	有	没有									

第二部分:使用文字处理软件的看法:

	使国际的现在分词使人的现在分词	AL 400 TO 100 AL	-7° 63 46	7 8 41 6 8	TRAC	- t whe con the	• •	****
٦.	使用义子处理软件可能受帮助我更快的元成	非常不问意	不回意	个是很问题	个明定	有些问意	问意	非常问意
	工作.							
2.	使用文字处理软件会能够改善提高我的工作	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	质量.							
3.	使用文字处理软件会能够增强我的工作成效.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
4	使用文字处理软件会使我的工作变得更加容	非常不同意	不同音	不是很同意	不确定	有些同音	ſā ŧ	非常同意
5.	使用文字处理软件可能提高我的工作效率.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	間意	非常同意
6	我觉得文字处理软件在工作上很有用外	非常不同音	不同音	不是很同意	不确定	右些同音	同音	非常同音
								1-141-144
7.	文字处理软件应该容易学.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
8.	文字处理软件应该很容易使用。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	間意	非常同意
a	我曾建田文字外相對此应该很交異字成我相	非常不同音	不同音	不具進同音	不确定	有此同音	間音	非常問音
J.	我无行加入了之廷我们应该很佳爱尤成我怎	4F 10 11 1-1 454	1.1.1.1	TO ALL DATE TO A	TWEAL	HEME	141.55	
	100011F.					••••••		
10.	使用文字处理软件的过程应该明白易懂。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
11.	对我来说,完全掌握使用文字处理软件应该并	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	不难.							

							—	
12.	我觉得我的工作中的很多方面都应该适合便	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些问意	问意	非常同意
	用文字外理和此							
	用义于处理我们。							
13	伸用文字处理软件很可能符合我的工作风格。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
		非美了同主	7 6 *	7 B (B (THE	甘水同 平	(FT) 222	4⊢ atte (23) ±2.
14.	使用文字处理软件应该与我的习惯工作方式	非常不问意	不回意	不足很问意	个调定	有些问意	미혼	非常问意
	北大山文							
	ተጥሞታ.							
15	伸用文字外理软件应该会符合我的习惯工作。	非常不同音	不同音	不具得同音	不确定	有些同音	同登	非 女 同 き
10.	WILL DER HILL REAL AND REAL					···· · · ··		
	方式.							
16	在正式使用之前,我可能会有机会试用过文字。	非常不同意	不同童	不县很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	处理软件.							
47	无不予使用之前 电应该会存去公的机会主徒	化使工同音	不同主	て見知回辛	天路史	方此同音	同音	生世同亲
14.	在正式在而之前, 我应该会有几万时机会公司	2011 C 00 40	1111.5	小龙风的志	ALL MALES	HIT	1-1.E.	10 10 10 10
	用文字处理软件。							
		11. da 177 ma de	~		- T = 0	Arr 100 CT 17		
18.	在正式使用之前,找符会有足够的时间米了解	非常不问意	不同意	不是很问意	个确定	有些问意	回意	非常问意
	立实体理种体的思念							
	义于处理状门的用述。							
19.	只要我需要 我应该可以随时使用文字处理教	非常不同意	不同童	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	作.							
20	大工学体用文字体理和化文教 我今方见就长	北安天园寨	て同会	て見徂回喜	无暗空	有此同音	[] 속	生世国会
20.	在正式使用关于处理我许之间,我会有必要成	16 10 17 19 18	가비로	小定保内息	가매ル	제 글 때 통	P1.2.	1F M PU 문
	的试用期							
	w3 #470 MJ.							
24	无重伤于化黄疸组 你可以看到很多计算机上	北位大同音	大同辛	大見徂回音	不成中	方此同音	ही 🚓	化黄圆金
21.	任我的工作中世主, 运可以看到很多月并饥上。	作而小问题	1.10.5	个足体的恶	1 90 AL	위로미분	1018	化电压管
	机安装了文字处理软件							
							—	
22.	在我的工作单位里,我见到许多人安爱了文字。	非常不同意	不问意	不是很同意	不确定	有些问意	问意	非常问意
	ht math it							
	处理软件.							
22	左舟的工作的位用 我已经回到过去人间用文	化黄不同音	不同音	大具组团会	不确定	右此同音	國音	化学同音
23.	ацитичая, детенциких		-1-1-1.E.		-T-WEAL	H = 11 5	1-1.5	10 IN 10 IN 25
	字处理软件。							
~ 4	医弗格斯氏的 化组合的复数时间加强分子分析	化曲丁四辛	77 678 444	丁目 (1)[四主	7 10 07	仁世国车	同志	
24.	任我的单位里,我很容易见到别人便用义子处	非吊个问题	不回意	不定俄回息	小调定	月空四息	[미.콩.	非吊问意
	调料性							
	224817.							
25.	没有很多机会见到文字处理软件被使用.	非常不同意	不同童	不恭很闻意	不确定	有些同意	個意	非常同意
26.	我没有见过我单位里很多人便用文子处理软	非常不问意	不同意	不是很问意	个确定	有些问意	回意	非常问意
	<i>μ</i> +-							
	TT.							
67	·····································	化曲丁四点	7.03 20	7 B (3 C) A	TACT	17 H ET 46	F7	4- 40 CT 4-
27.	对我来说,我觉得使用义子处理软件的效果应	非吊不问意	不回意	个起俄问意	个偏定	有腔凹意	미문	作品问意
	这会温阳壁							
28.		非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	软件的优缺点.							
20	电路安闲波达到上入切除用计学从现时开始	化中工团会	T 명 호	工具组织会	TRO	友此国寨	周 쇼	化带因素
29.	我没有困难给别人开始使用关于处理状情的	1F @ 41 PU 등		小龙馆門息	1.06.45	귀절만통	191.2.	医白白色
	竹単							
		21. all						
30 .	我觉得很难解释使用文字处理软件是好或者。	非常不问意	不同意	不是很问意	不确定	有些问意	问意	非常同意
	1. 法的原用							
	the CC and all the Advised Advised and the Advised Advised Advised Advised Advised Advised Advised Advised Advis	****	7° 678 m	** B (0 (2) A	TAC	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	(m) 100	
31.	使用义子处理软件的人职位比较高。	非常不问意	不回意	个楚俄问意	小峴正	유할미혼	凹意	非吊问意
32	他田文字外现状化的人审判比较高	化黄不同音	不同音	て風泪閉塞	不确定	方此同音	聞音	北黄周音
J4.	使用大于龙柱状门的八声金化铁圈.		1.1.1.1.5	小姐说问题	ALL ME ALL	게 크 i l 문	1-1.E.	
33.	伸用文字处理软件最多份的象征。	非常不同意	不同意	不恳得同童	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
					Taka		(7) ÷	10 10 10 10 10
34.	使用文字处理软件应该会提高我在公司里的	非常不同意	不问意	不是很问意	个确定	有暨问息	问意	非常问意
	#4 (b)							
	π> κ .							
	医弗里弗德马德尔氏 医无骨折 网络	化曲丁同产	TBA	定自住同主	The	*****	FR 125	ALL AND 100 XE.
35.	我的最高级土官见伊孜应该使用又子处埋获	非希不问意	不同意	不足低问意	个靖正	有空间息	四恵	非革间意
	件							
	IT.						_	
36.	我的直接主管老板觉得我应该使用文字处理。	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	秋代.							
27	我的简言曾遇我应该抽图士令从理好地	化黄天同辛	不同车	て見但同辛	太庙中	右此同音	同辛	化合同辛
3/.	我的问章见得我应该使用关于处理私作.	非るか内息	小門島	不定俄門息	11 MB AE	有空門息	PT .8.	非帝问意
38	我的朋友们觉得我应该使用文字处理软件	非常不同音	不同音	不具得同音	不确定	右些同音	同音	非常固音
39.	信息管理部门觉得我应该使用文字处理软件。	非常不问意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
40	八司用的法律机会会管理具备得免亡法律国	非典工同主	TRA	丁月伯四 主	TRACT	七世同主	177 ±	
40.	公司主的计算机专家官理贝见侍我应该使用	非而不同意	不可思	小起很问意	小明正	치근미통	四.思	非希问意
	文字外理软件							
	A 1 A 4 10 10							
	业 动机器 标志的 / 会 自 he about 一 四 人 44 JR 人 14 00	**	TP+	7 B 40 CB 4	T # ~	****	同中	
41.	3代听说和时语息仪不时, 戎安汉机安试用。	非吊个凹意	不門意	や産低同恵	小晴疋	有空间意	민홍	志同意非
42	在我的同家中 我总悬靠一个庙田新信息坊坐	非常不同 辛	不同 辛	不具但同音	不痛空	有些同音	音音	非堂信音
74.		4F (B () (P) (B)	가가막 문.	小足民門志		ㅋ느ㅋ르	171 Z	-1F-101 (*17.5
	的人.							
	and was also and a state of the			~			—	
43.	一般米说,我在尝试便用新的信息技术时总有	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	木硯定	有些问意	回意	非常同意
	此投稿							
	- 14 15.							
44.	我喜欢尝试使用新的信息技术。	非常不同意	不同童	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	and an one way way way and the second s			· ····· (0.0.1 · 1.000				
45	易然文字外理教件在工作上可能有用外 伯左	非常不同音	不图音	不具得同音	不确定	右背同音	同音	非常同音
	and the standard standard and the standard standar	10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 1		1 Mar 1941 - 1466		- «يته () _م ين و ۲		1-14-1-1-624
	我们公司里开不要求便用它。							
AP	带的上级土壤处了营造中途回去变化网络体	化中工同类	T 🖪 🛥	工管保障车	下曲中	方此同主	同志	化曲槽室
40.	我们上级土官并不要求我使用关于处理软件。	非吊不问意	不同意	不足俄回恵	小明疋	11 알미로	민통	非吊问意
47	我使用文字外理教件具自愿的	非常不同 辛	不同音	不具间带	不确定	右些同音	同音	推凿開音
	~~~~	1F 14 11 FL &		小足派門志	T WEAC	n = 171.5.	1	

48.	我的上级主管希望我使用文字处理软件.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
49.	在我的工作中应用文字处理软件可能会:	非常不好	不好 有点	医不好 一般				
		还可以 1	艮好	非常好				
50.	在我的工作中应用文字处理软件可能会:	非常有害	有害 有点	怎害处 一般				
		有益 彳	使有益	非常有益				
51.	在我的工作中应用文字处理软件可能会:	非常无助	无助 有	时无助 一般				
		有帮助 征	<b>長有帮助</b>	非常有帮助	I			
52.	在我的工作中使用文字处理软件可能会:	非常没有价值	L 没有(	价值 不是	很没价值	一般		稍有价
		值 比	七较有价值	非常有价值				
53.	我可能会喜欢使用文字处理软件.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
54.	我觉得使用文字处理软件应该很有趣.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
55.	我觉得我不会喜欢使用文字处理软件.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
56.	我觉得文字处理软件应该能够帮助提供一个	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	吸引人的工作环境.							
57.	对我很重要的人认为我应该去使用文字处理	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	软件.							
<b>58</b> .	对我有影响的人认为我应该去使用文字处理	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	软件.						. –	
<b>59</b> .	我想在六个月内开始使用电子邮件	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
60.	我六个月内会开始使用电子邮件	非常不可能	不可能	不是很可能	不确定	有些可能	可能	非常可能
61.	我会尝试使用文字处理软件.	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
62.	如果我有条件的话,我想我会使用文字处理软	非常不同意	不同意	不是很同意	不确定	有些同意	同意	非常同意
	件.							
63.	迄今为止,您是否接受过培训?	有 没有						

## Appendix C List of Items in the Final Instrument - E-Mail User Section

- 1. Using E-Mail helps me to accomplish tasks more quickly.
- 2. Using E-Mail improves the quality of my work.
- 3. Using E-Mail enhances my effectiveness on the job.
- 4. Using E-Mail makes my job easier.
- 5. Using E-Mail in my job would increase my productivity.
- 6. I find E-Mail useful in my job.
- 7. Learning to use E-Mail was easy for me.
- 8. E-Mail is easy to use.
- 9. It is easy to get E-Mail to do what I want it to do.
- 10. My interaction with E-Mail is clear and understandable.
- 11. It is easy for me to become skillful at using E-Mail.
- 12. Using E-Mail is compatible with most aspects of my work.
- 13. Using E-Mail fits my work style.
- 14. Using E-Mail fits well with the way I like to work.
- 15. Using E-Mail is very compatible with the way I like to work.
- 16. Before I started using E-Mail, I was able to use it on a trial basis.
- 17. Before I started using E-Mail, I was able to properly try it out.
- 18. I was permitted to use E-Mail long enough to see what it can do.
- 19. I had E-Mail for a long enough period to try it out.
- 20. In my organization, one sees E-Mail on many computers.
- 21. In my organization, I have seen many people with E-Mail on their computers.
- 22. I have seen what other people do using E-Mail.
- 23. It is papy for me to observe others using E-Mail in my company.
- 24. I have had plenty of opportunity to see E-Mail being used.
- 25. I have not seen many others using E-Mail in my department.
- 26. The results of using E-Mail are apparent to me.
- 27. I could communicate to others the pros and cons of using E-Mail.
- 28. I have no difficulty telling others about the results of using E-Mail.
- 29. I would have difficulty explaining why using E-Mail may or may not be beneficial.
- 30. People who use E-Mail have high status in the organization.
- 31. People who use E-Mail have more prestige than those who do not.
- 32. Using E-Mail is a status symbol.
- 33. Using E-Mail improves my image within the organization.
- 34. Top management thinks I should use E-Mail.
- 35. My supervisor thinks I should use E-Mail.
- 36. Peers think I should use E-Mail.
- 37. Friends think I should use E-Mail.
- 38. MIS department thinks I should use E-Mail.

39.	Computer	<b>Specialists</b>	in the	company think	I should use E-Ma	il.
-----	----------	--------------------	--------	---------------	-------------------	-----

- 40. If I hear about a new information technology, I would look for a way to experiment with it.
- 41. Among my peers, I am usually the first to try out new information technologies.
- 42. In general, I am hesitant to try out new Information technologies.
- 43. I like to experiment with new technologies.
- 44. Although it might be helpful, using E-Mail is certainly not compulsory in my company.
- 45. My supervisor does not require me to use E-Mail.
- 46. My use of E-Mail is voluntary.
- 47. My supervisor expects me to use E-Mail.
- 48. Using E-Mail on my job is extremely good ... extremely bad.
- 49. Using E-Mail on my job is extremely harmful...extremely beneficial.
- 50. Using E-Mail on my job is useless ..... Useful.
- 51. Using E-Mail on my job is worthless ....valuable.
- 52. I like using E-Mail.
- 53. E-Mail is fun to use.
- 54. I dislike using E-Mail.
- 55. E-Mail provides an attractive working environment.
- 56. Most people who are important to me think I should use E-Mail.
- 57. Most people who influence my behavior think I should use E-Mail.
- 58. I intend to continue using E-Mail.
- 59. Assuming I had access to E-Mail, I intend to use it.
- 60. Given that I had access to E-Mail, I predict that I would use it.
- 61. When (month/year) did you start using E-Mail?
- 62. Frequency of E-Mail use: Not at all; less than once a week; about once a week; 2 or 3 times a week; 4 to 6 times a week; about once a day; more than once a day.
- 63. Time spent using E-Mail per day: Almost never; Less than an hour; Almost an hour; About two hours; About three hours; More than three hours
- 64. Number of E-Mails received per day ____
- 65. Number of E-Mails sent per day ____
- 66. Number of people you keep in contact using E-Mail ____
- 67. I use E-Mail a lot to do my work.
- 68. I use E-Mail whenever possible to do my work
- 69. I use E-Mail frequently to do my work
- 70. I use E-Mail whenever appropriate to do my work
- 71. Age: 18-22; 23-28; 29-34; 35-44; 45-55; 55+
- 72. Gender: Female
- 73. Education: Junior High; High School; Associated Degree; Bachelor's; Master's; Doctorate
- 74. Position: ____
- 75. Purposes of using E-Mail at work: _____

## Appendix D List of Items and Abbreviations used in the Final Analysis

	ltem	Description
	Perceived	Usefulness
1	PU1	Using E-Mail helps me to accomplish tasks more quickly.
2	PU2	Using E-Mail improves the quality of my work.
3	PU3	Using E-Mail enhances my effectiveness on the job.
4	PU4	Using E-Mail makes my job easier.
5	PU7	Using E-Mail in my job increases my productivity.
6	PU8	I find E-Mail useful in my job.
	Fase of U	se (FQU)
7	EGU1	Learning to use F-Mail was easy for me
8	EOU2	E-Mail is easy to use
à	EOU3	It is easy to get E-Mail to do what I want it to do
10	EOU3	N is easy to get L-Mail to do what I want it to do.
11	EOUE	It is easy for me to become skillful at using E-Mail
	ECOU	
	Compatib	ility (COM)
12	COM1	Using E-Mail is compatible with most aspects of my work.
13	COM2	Using E-Mail fits my work style.
14	COM3	Using E-Mail fits well with the way I like to work.
15	COM4	Using E-Mail is very compatible with the way I like to work.
	Trialabilit	y (TR)
16	TR1	Before I started using E-Mail, I was able to use it on a trial basis.
17	TR2	Before I started using E-Mail, I was able to properly try it out.
18	TR3	I was permitted to use E-Mail long enough to see what it can do.
19	TR5	I had E-Mail for a long enough period to try it out.
	Visibility	
20	VI1	In my organization, one sees E-Mail on many computers.
21	VI2	In my organization, I have seen many people with E-Mail on their computers.
22	VI3	I have seen what other people do using E-Mail.
23	VI4	It is easy for me to observe others using E-Mail in my company.
24	V15	I have had plenty of opportunity to see E-Mail being used.
	D	
~-	Result De	emonstrability (RU)
25	RD1	The results of using E-Mail are apparent to me.
26	RD2	I could communicate to others the pros and cons of using E-Mail.
27	RD3	I have no difficulty telling others about the results of using E-Mail.

	Item	Description
	Image (IM)	
28	IM1	People who use E-Mail have high status in the organization.
29	IM2	People who use E-Mail have more prestige than those who do not.
30	IM3	Using E-Mail is a status symbol.
31	IM4	Using E-Mail improves my image within the organization.
	Normativa	Poliofe (NP)
22	ND1	Ton management thinks I should use E-Mail
32	ND1	My supervisor thinks I should use E-Mail
24	ND2	Rears think I should use E-Mail
34		Fierd thick I should use E Mail
30	ND4	Priends mink i should use E-Mail.
30	NBO	MIS department thinks I should use E-Mail.
37	NBO	Computer Specialists in the company think I should use E-Mail.
	Individual	Innovativeness (II)
••		If I hear about a new information technology, I would look for a way to experiment
38	111	with it.
39	112	Among my peers, I am usually the first to try out new information technologies.
40	114	I like to experiment with new technologies.
	Voluntarir	ness (VOL)
		Although it might be helpful, using E-Mail is certainly not compulsory in my
41	VOL1	company.
42	VOL2	My supervisor does not require me to use E-Mail.
43	VOL4	My supervisor expects me to use E-Mail. (Reverse scale item)
	Attitude (/	4)
44	A1	Using E-Mail on my job is extremely good extremely bad.
45	A2	Using E-Mail on my job is extremely harmfulextremely beneficial.
46	A3	Using E-Mail on my job is useless Useful.
47	A4	Using E-Mail on my job is worthlessvaluable.
	Subjective	e norm (SN)
48	SN1	Most people who are important to me think I should use F-Mail
49	SN2	Most people who influence my behavior think I should use E-Mail.
	<b>-</b> · ·	
	Benaviora	al Intention (BI)
50	BI1	I intend to continue using E-Mail.
51	BI3	Assuming I had access to E-Mail, I intend to use it.
52	BI4	Given that I had access to E-Mail, I predict that I would use it.
	Usage (U)	
53	U1	I use E-Mail a lot to do my work.
54	U2	I use E-Mail whenever possible to do my work
55	U3	I use E-Mail frequently to do my work
56	U4	I use E-Mail whenever appropriate to do my work

				Ea	rlier Ad	lopter		
	<u>PU</u>	EOU	COM	TR	VI	RD	IM	A
PU	1.00							
EOU	0.52	1.00						
COM	0.60	0.48	1.00					
TR	0.22	0.25	0.27	1.00				
٧I	0.38	0.54	0.26	0.17	1.00			
RD	0.41	0.41	0.44	0.29	0.41	1.00		
IM	-0.03	-0.19	0.05	0.22	-0.25	-0.03	1.00	
Α	0.50	0.39	0.54	0.20	0.45	0.52	-0.04	1.0

## **Measurement Model SUB1**

				La	ter Ad	opter				
	PU	EOU	COM	TR	VI	RD	_IM	A		
PU	1.00									
EOU	0.42	1.00								
COM	0.61	0.43	1.00							
TR	0.11	0.27	0.31	1.00						
VI	0.40	0.42	0.30	0.19	1.00					
RD	0.32	0.45	0.38	0.32	0.38	1.00				
iM	-0.07	-0.13	0.15	0.20	-0.20	0.08	1.00			
A	0.57	0.35	0.46	0.10	0.34	0.40	0.00	1.00		

				Pote	ential A	dopte	٢	
	PU	EOU	COM	TR	VI	RD	IM	<u> </u>
PU	1.00							
EOU	0.67	1.00						
COM	0.64	0.61	1.00					
TR	0.40	0.51	0.51	1.00				
VI	0.32	0.24	0.29	0.40	1.00			
RD	0.48	0.56	0.59	0.43	0.22	1.00		
IM	0.19	0.09	0.38	0.36	0.08	0.39	1.00	
Α	0.43	0.34	0.42	0.47	0.33	0.36	0.26	1.0

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

## Measurement Model SUB2

				Ear	lier Ac	lopter	
	NB	. II	VOL	Α	SN	BI	U
NB	1.00						
H	0.31	1.00					
VOL	-0.24	-0.09	1.00				
A	0.28	0.36	-0.14	1.00			
SN	0.67	0.24	-0.02	0.31	1.00		
81	0.33	0.47	-0.25	0.59	0.35	1.00	
U	0.31	0.47	-0.12	0.55	0.26	0.51	1.00

				La	ter Ad	opter	
	NB	łI	VOL	Α	SN	<u></u>	<u> </u>
NB	1.00						
11	0.07	1.00					
VOL	-0.28	0.13	1.00				
Α	0.24	0.34	-0.11	1.00			
SN	0.59	0.16	-0.04	0.30	1.00		
BI	0.27	0.44	-0.08	0.44	0.28	1.00	
U	0.21	0.50	-0.15	0.50	0.26	0.47	1.00

				Pote	ential A	dopte
	NB	II _	VOL_	A	SN	81
NB	1.00					
11	0.51	1.00				
VOL	0.11	0.46	1.00			
A	0.42	0.41	0.03	1.00		
SN	0.74	0.51	0.19	0.43	1.00	
81	0.58	0.61	0.17	0.50	0.72	1.00

# Appendix F

	Factor Loading		
	Earlier	Later	Potential
	Adopter	Adopter	Adopter
Item		Perceived Usefulness (PU)	
PU1	.72	.66	1.08
PU2	.65	.77	.95
PU3	.79	.76	.99
PU4	.76	.79	.91
PU7	.70	.69	.93
PU8	.47	.60	.75
		Face of Lice (EOU)	
FOUR	69		96
EOUZ	80. 00	.71	.00
EUU4	.69	.75	.91
E006	00.	.75	.87
		Compatibility (COM)	
COM1	.75	.82	.86
COM2	.95	1.05	.95
COM4	.79	.88	.91
		Trialability (TR)	
TR2	1.27	1.36	.99
TR3	1.35	1.25	.94
TR5	1.41	1.24	.98
		Visibility (VI)	
VI1	.77	76	.99
V13	65	66	96
VI4	82	99	1.03
VI5	.80	.91	.98
		Result Demonstrability	
RD2	.89	.89	1.05
RD3	.87	1.00	1.06
18.84		Image (IM)	4.00
IMT	1.41	1.20	1.38
IM3	1.46	1.37	1.40
IM4	1.30	1.33	1.17
		Normative Beliefs (NB)	
NB1	1.24	1.14	.83
NB2	1.31	1.22	.80
	Factor Loading		
------	----------------	----------------------------------	-----------
	Earlier	Later	Potential
	Adopter	Adopter	Adopter
Item		Perceived Usefulness (PU)	
NB3	1.38	1.22	.92
NB4	1.33	1.05	.91
NB5	1.26	1.01	.89
NB6	1.27	.98	.95
		Individual Innovativeness	
		(11)	
1	.82	.83	.83
4	.86	.80	.90
		Voluntariness (VOL)	
VOL1	1.56	1.56	1.52
VOL2	1.47	1.36	1.24
		Attitude (A)	
A1	.74	.75	.75
A2	.82	.79	.72
A3	.80	.75	.70
		Subjective norm (SN)	
SN1	1.39	1.24	1.10
SN2	1.34	1.30	.94
		<b>Behavioral Intention (BI)</b>	
Bi1	.55	.47	.75
BI3	.75	.71	.57
BI4	.82	.74	.64
	1	Usage (U)	
U1	.98	1.05	-
U2	.85	.94	-
U3	.88	1.06	-
U4	.78	.83	-